
Cabinet 
Dear Member,

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Cabinet to be held as follows for the 
transaction of the business indicated.
Miranda Carruthers-Watt 
Proper Officer

DATE: Tuesday, 26 March 2019

TIME: 10.00 am

VENUE: Salford Suite, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 
2014,’ the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record 
this meeting. 

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence 

2  Declarations of interest 

3  Minutes of the previous meeting 

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on the 12 February 2019. 

(Pages 1 - 2)

4  Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan - Outline Business Case 

Lead Member for Planning and Sustainable Development 

https://www.salford.gov.uk/pests-nuisances-pollution-and-food-
hygiene/protecting-the-environment/air-quality-and-
monitoring/greater-manchester-clean-air-plan/

(Pages 3 - 32)

5  Fostering Allowances 

Deputy City Mayor

(Pages 33 - 42)

6  Salford's Housing Allocations Policy Review 2019 

Lead Member for Housing and Neighbourhoods

(Pages 43 - 106)

7  PART 2 - EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC: 

Officers consider that the following item contain exempt information 

Public Document Pack

https://www.salford.gov.uk/pests-nuisances-pollution-and-food-hygiene/protecting-the-environment/air-quality-and-monitoring/greater-manchester-clean-air-plan/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/pests-nuisances-pollution-and-food-hygiene/protecting-the-environment/air-quality-and-monitoring/greater-manchester-clean-air-plan/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/pests-nuisances-pollution-and-food-hygiene/protecting-the-environment/air-quality-and-monitoring/greater-manchester-clean-air-plan/


as provided for in the Local Government Access to Information Act 
and that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs 
the public interest in disclosing the information. Members are 
recommended to agree the necessary resolutions excluding the public 
from the meeting during consideration of this item.

8  Strategic investment opportunity - Manchester Airport 

Lead Member for Finance and Support Services

(Pages 107 - 118)

9  PART 1 - OPEN TO THE PUBLIC 

10  Minutes of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority - for 
information only 

(Pages 119 - 154)

11  Any other business 

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 3318
Karen Lucas Principal Democratic Services Officer E-Mail: karen.lucas@salford.gov.uk



1

CABINET

12 FEBRUARY 2019

Meeting commenced: 10.00 a.m.
“                  finished: 10.20 a.m.

PRESENT

John Merry CBE                Deputy City Mayor (In the Chair)
Paula Boshell                     Statutory Deputy City Mayor 

LEAD MEMBERS:
Bill Hinds                            Finance and Support Services
David Lancaster, MBE       Environment and Community Safety
John Ferguson                   Workforce and Industrial Relations
Gina Reynolds                   Adult Services, Health and Wellbeing
Derek Antrobus                  Planning and Sustainable Regeneration 

EXECUTIVE SUPPORT MEMBERS (AT THE INVITATION OF THE CITY MAYOR):
John Walsh                        Education and Learning
Jane Hamilton                    Social Care and mental Health 

OFFICERS:
Jim Taylor                          Chief Executive
Miranda Carruthers-Watts City Solicitor
Joanne Hardman               Chief Finance Officer
Ben Dolan                          Strategic Director, Place
Cathy Starbuck                  Assistant Director Education Work and Skills
Chris Mee                          Strategic Finance Manager
Paul Hutchings                  Strategic Finance Manager
Karen Lucas                      Principal Democratic Services Advisor

Mari Eccles from the Manchester Evening News was in attendance.

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Paul Dennett, Councillors Lisa 
Stone, Stephen Coen, Tracy Kelly, Roger Jones; from officer’s Debbie Brown, Sam 
Betts, Charlotte Ramsden and Gillian McLaughlin and from invitees Mike Taylor and 
Michael Sheehan.

  
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



2

3. MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS

The minutes of the meeting held on 22January 2019, were approved as a correct 
record.

4.      APPROVAL OF SCHOOLS BUDGETS 2019-20 (SCHOOLS BLOCK FUNDING)
 

Councillor John Merry, Deputy City Mayor introduced this report which outlines the 
Salford schools local funding formula (schools block funding) budgets for 2019/20.

There are thirty primary schools and one secondary school with a budget decrease 
in 2019/20 compared to 2018/19. For all these schools, this is due to a decrease in 
the pupil numbers.

Councillor Merry conveyed his concerns with regard to the ongoing debate and delay 
in the Government's new national funding formula.

In response to questions Cathy Starbuck, Assistant Director assured Members that 
the funding formula and is not solely based on pupil numbers. It was agreed to 
circulate details on what is included in the formula. 

RESOLVED: THAT, the Statutory Deputy City Mayor in consultation with Cabinet 
approved the school budget allocations for 2019/20.

5.    ANY OTHER BUSINESS.

      No items submitted.

Page 2



Page 1 of 30

ITEM NO.

REPORT OF STRATEGIC DIRECTOR PLACE

Cabinet

ON

26th March 2019

TITLE: Greater Manchester’s Clean Air Plan - Tackling Nitrogen Dioxide exceedances at the 
Roadside - Outline Business Case

RECOMMENDATIONS:  

That the City Mayor in consultation with the Cabinet:-

 Note that the Council is legally obliged to produce an Outline Business Case to 
reduce nitrogen dioxide exceedances following the Secretary of State issuing a 
direction under the Environment Act 1995;

 Adopt the feasibility study undertaken to date;
 Note that further stakeholder engagement and public consultation is an 

essential part of the process to help inform and refine ongoing work to produce 
a Full Business Case by the end of the calendar year;

 Require government to provide the financial support necessary to enable the 
Council to meet its legal limits for nitrogen dioxide;

 Note that despite this council being required to address nitrogen oxide 
exceedances the government has not yet addressed this issue for its own assets, 
including Highways England and the motorway network;

 Approve the OBC (for submission to the government's Joint Air Quality Unit);
 Approve the commencement of the public conversation and engagement 

activity from 15 May 2019;
 Note that further reports will be submitted to Cabinet on:
 the proposals for statutory consultation, informed by the outcome of the 

public conversation and engagement.
 formal approval of the Full Business Case.

 Agree that TfGM continue with the activity to produce the Full Business Case on 
the Council’s behalf under the direction of the Greater Manchester Clean Air 
Steering Group; and

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



 Delegate to the Strategic Director Place in consultation with the Lead Member 
for Strategic Planning, the Lead Member for Health and Adults and the Director 
of Public Health the approval of submission of supplementary information.

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

Taking action on air quality is not optional.  The severe and long lasting health implications 
of poor air quality as well as the legal obligations placed on Greater Manchester local 
authorities means that authorities need to act decisively and swiftly to reduce harmful air 
pollutants, and nitrogen oxides in particular. 

Greater Manchester authorities in deciding to work together to respond to this vital issue 
are demonstrating collective leadership, which is essential to help clean the air for Greater 
Manchester’s population of nearly three million residents.  Analysis reveals that locations of 
damaging roadside nitrogen dioxide concentrations can be found in every district. 

Given that air pollution does not respect boundaries, this coordinated approach is also the 
most effective way to deal with a problem that affects all parts of Greater Manchester, and 
cannot be remedied on a site by site or district by district basis. 

The ten authorities, supported by Transport for Greater Manchester, have now developed a 
draft package of co-ordinated and robust measures in a very short period of time that 
complies with the highly prescriptive Government guidance for tackling NOx emissions. 

However, much more work is required to flesh out some of the measures to ensure that 
they achieve their intended purpose, and to ensure that the measures proposed to support 
affected businesses and individuals are fair and effective, and that the socio-economic 
impacts of measures are understood and can be mitigated.  

This is why further engagement with stakeholders and affected parties to refine the 
measures, in addition to full public consultation, are vital next steps in the process toward 
developing the Full Business Case by the end of the year.

The Greater Manchester approach, set out below, will require significant government 
funding. Without full financial support, the package of measures which was devised in the 
context of guidance that identified Implementation Funding and Clean Air Plan funding is 
unlikely to deliver the intended results. In a scenario of inadequate government support, the 
most obvious outcomes are a failure to reduce exceedances as quickly as required, and 
economic damage, for example to local businesses who are left unsupported  but required 
to upgrade their vehicle fleet. 

By taking a combined approach, Greater Manchester’s bid for the substantial funding 
required to deal with this key public health priority can only be strengthened. 

Page 4



DETAIL:

INTRODUCTION

1.2 Previous reports as well as briefings to members have set out the health challenge 
presented by poor air quality, the legal context and the tightly specified approach 
that Government has directed local authorities to follow within very tight 
timescales in order to address predicted nitrogen dioxide (NO2) exceedances in the 
shortest possible time.

1.3 These are summarised below, followed by a description of the feasibility study and 
the resulting OBC that has been developed by the GM Steering Group, following 
government guidance.  

1.4 The OBC document itself is attached as an Annex to this report.

2. AIR QUALITY AND HEALTH

2.1 Poor air quality is the largest environmental risk to the public’s health. Taking action 
to improve air quality is crucial to improve population health.

2.2 Whilst air quality has been generally improving over time, particular pollutants 
remain a serious concern in many urban areas. These are oxides of nitrogen (NOx) 
and its harmful form nitrogen dioxide (NO2), and particulate matter (PM). 

2.3 In Greater Manchester road transport is responsible for approximately 80% of NO2 
concentrations at roadside, of which diesel vehicles are the largest source.

2.4 Long-term exposure to elevated levels of particulate matter (PM2.5, PM10) and NO2 
may contribute to the development of cardiovascular or respiratory disease, and 
may reduce life expectancy1. The youngest, the oldest, those living in areas of 
deprivation, and those with existing respiratory or cardiovascular disease are most 
likely to develop symptoms due to exposure to air pollution2,3. 

2.5 Public Health England estimate the health and social care costs across England due 
to exposure to air pollution will be £5.3 billion by 2035 for diseases where there is a 
strong association with air pollution, or £18.6 billion for all diseases with evidence 
of an association with air pollution4.

1 Air Quality – A Briefing for Directors of Public Health (2017), https://www.local.gov.uk/air-quality-
briefing-directors-public-health 
2 Air Quality – A Briefing for Directors of Public Health (2017), https://www.local.gov.uk/air-quality-
briefing-directors-public-health
3 RCP and RCPCH London, Every breath we take lifelong impact of air pollution (2016), 
https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/every-breath-we-take-lifelong-impact-air-pollution 
4 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-tool-calculates-nhs-and-social-care-costs-of-air-pollution 

Page 5

https://www.local.gov.uk/air-quality-briefing-directors-public-health
https://www.local.gov.uk/air-quality-briefing-directors-public-health
https://www.local.gov.uk/air-quality-briefing-directors-public-health
https://www.local.gov.uk/air-quality-briefing-directors-public-health
https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/every-breath-we-take-lifelong-impact-air-pollution
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-tool-calculates-nhs-and-social-care-costs-of-air-pollution


3. LEGAL BACKGROUND

3.1 Because of their harm to human health, legal Limit Values5 for concentrations of 
certain pollutants in ambient air have been established. The European Ambient Air 
Quality Directive (2008/50/EC) incorporates many of the World Health Organisation 
(WHO)’ air quality standards into European Law, which was transposed into English 
law by the 2010 Air Quality Standards Regulations (SI. 2010 No. 1001). 

3.2 The 2010 regulations set legally binding limits for concentrations of major air 
pollutants that affect human health, including NO2 and particulates. Regulation 26 
of the 2010 Regulations requires the Secretary of State to draw up and implement 
a national air quality plan so as to achieve the relevant limit or target value within 
the “shortest possible time”. 

3.3 Since 2010, the UK has been in breach of legal Limit Values for NO2 concentrations in 
major urban areas. 

3.4 The Greater Manchester Urban Area Zone is one of 37 reporting zones across the UK 
where the Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) 
modelling of annual mean NO2 concentrations predicts levels that exceed statutory 
Limit Values. 

3.5 Whilst Greater Manchester currently meets Limit Values for other pollutants, the 
2016 Greater Manchester Low Emission Strategy and Air Quality Action Plan set out 
a co-ordinated approach for reducing all air pollutants, including particulates,  as 
well as carbon dioxide. 

4. GOVERNMENT’S UK AIR QUALITY PLANS

4.1 Since 2010, Government has produced three successive Air Quality Plans to reduce 
NO2 emissions in line with Limit Values.  Environmental campaigning law 
organisation ClientEarth successfully challenged these Air Quality Plans in the High 
and Supreme Courts for failing to include actions necessary to achieve NO2 Limit 
Values “in the shortest possible time”.6 

4.2 Each successful legal challenge increased the number of local authorities directed by 
Government to take action.  Over 60 local authorities are now under Direction: 

 2015: Birmingham Derby, Leeds, Nottingham and Southampton.

 2017: 23 local authorities – including Bolton, Bury, Manchester, Salford, 
Stockport, Tameside and Trafford.

5 European Union Limit Value regarding levels of NO2 in major urban areas (40 micrograms per cubic 
metre (µg/m3)) set by the European Ambient Air Quality Directive (2008/50/EC) as implemented into 
UK law by the 2010 Air Quality Standards Regulations (SI. 2010 No. 1001)
6 R (on the application of ClientEarth) (Appellant) v. Secretary of State for Environment, Food and 
Rural Affairs [2015] UKSC 28.

Page 6



 2018: 33 further local authorities, including Oldham.

4.3 In July 2017 Government served a Direction7 on seven Greater Manchester local 
authorities requiring them to produce a feasibility study, in accordance with the 
HM Treasury’s Green Book, in which they must identify the option which will 
deliver compliance with legal limits for nitrogen dioxide in the area for which the 
authority is responsible in the “shortest possible time”. 

4.4 This Direction was supplemented by guidance issued by the Department for 
Transport (DfT), including the ‘Clean Air Zone Framework’8 and the ‘UK plan for 
tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide concentrations’9. 

4.5 Government also established the Joint Air Quality Unit (JAQU) to help deliver the 
National Plan by closely guiding local authorities. 

4.6 Government has allocated £255 million for Implementation Funding and £220 
million for a Clean Air Fund. Local authorities will be allocated Implementation 
Funding based on their Final Business Case. Local authorities will bid to the Clean 
Air Fund for support to help local people, businesses and other groups to switch to 
cleaner vehicles or make alternative travel choices.

4.7 The proposals put forward will therefore be conditional upon sufficient funding 
being provided by Government.

4.8 Oldham Council are under a separate Direction10 which they complied with by the 
production of their feasibility study submitted to JAQU in July 2018. No further 
Direction was issued to Oldham as Government acknowledged in its supplemental 
plan that the exceedance identified in Oldham was being considered as part of the 
Greater Manchester plan. 

4.9 Whilst Rochdale and Wigan Councils were not compelled to act through a ministerial 
Direction, they are participating in the Greater Manchester-wide approach as they 
are required to address the exceedances that have been identified within their 
boundaries during the Target Determination exercise (see further detail in Section 
7). This revealed 250 points of exceedance across 152 road links and all ten districts 
in 2021.

4.10 On this basis, Greater Manchester’s collective approach to develop a city-region 
wide Clean Air Plan has been accepted by government, and consequently no 
further ministerial Directions have been issued. A letter from the Minister in 
January 2019 requires GM’s OBC to be submitted by end of March 2019.

4.11 Government officials have subsequently confirmed the following:-

7 Environment Act 1995 (Feasibility Study for Nitrogen Dioxide Compliance) Air Quality Direction 2017
8 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/air-quality-clean-air-zone-framework-for-england.
9 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/air-quality-plan-for-nitrogen-dioxide-no2-in-uk-2017. 
10 Environment Act 1995 (Feasibility Study for Nitrogen Dioxide Compliance) Air Quality Direction 
2018)

Page 7

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/air-quality-plan-for-nitrogen-dioxide-no2-in-uk-2017


“We are content with the baseline modelling.  In line with our guidance, as 
your local model has identified NO2 exceedances on roads within the PCM 
network beyond those modelled nationally, these should be addressed in 
your air quality plan.  This means your plan should address the exceedances 
identified in all 10 authorities, in line with the approach you are already 
taking.  

Following submission of your Outline Business Case by 31 March we 
anticipate, subject to a review of the plan you submit, that Ministers will 
direct local authorities to proceed to continue to develop an FBC and to start 
implementing plans, together with appropriate funding.  It is likely this stage 
this would entail directing all 10 Greater Manchester authorities.”

4.12 If a local authority chose to not approve the OBC for submission to the government’s 
Joint Air Quality Unit, this could, without an alternative plan to reduce NO2 
emissions in the shortest possible time, lead to a potential legal challenge against 
the said local authority.

4.13 The government Directives referred to above relate only to the roads that local 
authorities are responsible for, and does not direct local authorities to assess or act 
to reduce NO2 concentrations on the Strategic Road Network (SRN, typically 
motorways) managed by Highways England (a government owned company). 

4.14 This is a significant issue in the context of the 120 km of SRN that stretches across 
the conurbation, often through urban areas. Motorway traffic, where the 
carriageway runs close to a local road can contribute up to 50% more pollution 
than local roads. Between 30 - 40% of east-west HGV traffic does not exit the SRN 
in Greater Manchester, but travels through it.  

4.15 In addition there are locations where high levels of pollution measured close to 
residential properties are the result of the flows of tens of thousands of vehicles 
per day, including approximately 13,000 HGV’s, on the SRN and not as a result of 
traffic on the local highway network.  

4.16 Greater Manchester is working with Highways England to ensure that they play a 
much more active role in developing measures which will effectively complement 
those set out below, and these will need to be clearly identified in the Full Business 
Case.

5. GREATER MANCHESTER FEASIBILITY STUDY

5.1 A Greater Manchester Senior Leadership Steering Group (Steering Group) is 
responsible for guiding the feasibility study. Members include Directors or Assistant 
Directors from each local authority and senior representatives from Highways 
England, Public Health England, AGMA, Local Partnerships and Transport for 
Greater Manchester (TfGM) and JAQU.

Page 8



5.2 The purpose of taking a Greater Manchester-wide approach is to avoid introducing 
measures in one part of the conurbation that simply displace pollution to other 
locations, and to ensure that (as far as possible) the eventual agreed package of 
measures complements other Greater Manchester strategies.

5.3 TfGM has been coordinating the GM feasibility study on behalf of the ten Greater 
Manchester local authorities, who remain legally responsible for reducing NO2 to 
legal Limit Values.

5.4 The feasibility study process comprises a series of steps and processes, namely: 
Strategic Outline Case, Initial Evidence and Target Determination, Outline Business 
Case and Full Business Case.  These are outlined below.

6. INITIAL EVIDENCE AND TARGET DETERMINATION 

6.1 In their National Plan, Government identified eleven areas of road, within seven 
Greater Manchester local authorities, where the national Pollution Climate 
Mapping (PCM) model predicted NO2 concentrations are likely to exceed the 
statutory NO2 annual mean EU Limit Value beyond 2020. Oldham was added in a 
later supplement to the National Plan (March 2018).

6.2 The predictions in the national model were based on national scale assumptions and 
datasets, and were required to be verified against local evidence. 

6.3 More informed local analysis revealed a bigger problem than that identified by 
Government. It predicts a greater spatial distribution of NO2 exceedances across 
roads in all Greater Manchester districts and typically higher concentrations of NO2 
in specific locations.

6.4 Local modelling identified 152 stretches of road (road links) where concentrations of 
NO2 are forecast to exceed the legal Limit Value (40 µg/m3) beyond 2020. 112 of 
these road links are on the national PCM model, which have the highest car use and 
heavy freight flows. 40 of these are shorter stretches of local roads, often around 
town centres across Greater Manchester where there is greater bus, taxi and van 
usage. 

6.5 Local modelling also predicts higher concentrations of NO2 in locations across 
Greater Manchester. This means the concentration of NO2 in the air at roadside is 
worse than originally predicted by Government.11

11 Modelling of air quality can be presented in two different ways: a point along a road which has a 
certain concentration of NO2 or the stretch of road which has a certain concentration of NO2. 
Presenting point data provides more specific and detailed information on the air quality problem, as it 
allows an understanding of how concentrations of NO2 vary at different locations on the road.  The 
OBC modelling presents emissions information on the basis of point data.

Page 9



6.6 Some of the reasons for this are that vehicles using Greater Manchester’s roads are 
typically older than the national average (especially buses and taxis); that local 
traffic data showed that in some areas vehicles are moving more slowly than the 
national modelling anticipated; and because local modelling also showed higher 
background concentrations of NO2 than the national modelling.

6.7 The outcome of the local modelling is an agreement, referred to as Target 
Determination, of the NO2 exceedances that Greater Manchester must resolve 
when developing possible solutions. The Greater Manchester modelling has now 
been agreed by Government, meaning that all the illegal exceedances in all ten GM 
local authority areas need to be addressed.

7. STRATEGIC OUTLINE CASE

7.1 The Strategic Outline Case (SOC) was submitted to Government in March 2018. This 
document identified a long-list of 96 measures, which was then sifted to a shortlist 
of 14, based on Government’s Primary Success Criteria (defined as reduction of NO2 
concentrations in the “shortest possible time”). 

7.2 The SOC recognised that as locations of exceedances identified by Government 
covered areas across Greater Manchester, no single measure was likely to deliver 
legal compliance on its own.

7.3 Table 1. Shortlisted Measures in the Strategic Outline Case

Shortlisted measure Details
Retrofit/upgrade 
public transport fleet

Retrofit or upgrade vehicles to a higher Euro standard.

Retrofit/upgrade local 
authority fleets

Retrofit or upgrade to a higher Euro standard 
(procurement).

Increase public 
transport capacity

Identify specific routes where most impact will be made, 
with a particular focus on the role that an attractive bus 
system would need to play in achieving significant 
additional modal shift in the near term.

Switch 
Bus/HGV/LGV/GM 
fleet to GtL

Using cleaner alternative fuels, e.g. Gas-to-Liquid (GtL).

Electric vehicle (EV) 
incentivisation

Increase EV uptake through expanding the charging 
network or financial incentives.

Differential parking 
charges

E.g. different charges for times of day, vehicle type, car-
sharers and could include a workplace parking levy.

Congestion Deal – 
increase capacity

Review existing junction improvement plans – assess 
impact and identify opportunities to accelerate.

Congestion Deal – 
encouraging 
alternatives

Encouraging alternative travel choices through road 
space reallocation.

Page 10



Shortlisted measure Details
Congestion Deal – 
network management

Changing traffic signal timing to optimise flows, reducing 
congestion.

Private hire and taxi 
alternative fuels

Incentivise change to EV/Ultra-Low-Emission vehicles, 
increase EV infrastructure for taxis, retrofitting and 
increasing LPG refuelling infrastructure for taxis.

Communications 
campaigns

Increase awareness of health and cost benefits for 
public and of different modes of transport or around 
particular communities/schools.

Sustainable travel 
engagement

Work with employers and individuals to encourage 
sustainable travel choices.

Active travel 
programme – 
infrastructure

Expand and improve cycling and walking infrastructure.

Clean Air Zones – 
Class B, C or D

Different classifications/time restriction and 
geographical areas to be modelled for their impact on 
NO2 and timescale of any impact.

7.4 Government guidance sets out charging Clean Air Zones (CAZ) as the measure most 
likely to achieve legal Limit Values for NO2 in the shortest possible time. A charging 
CAZ places a penalty on the most polluting vehicles moving within a designated 
area. Government guidance specifies that local authorities must consider charging 
CAZ as their benchmark measure.

7.5 Government specifies four classes of charging CAZ that apply penalties to different 
types of vehicle that are classified as non-compliant because they fall below 
particular European Commission emission standards. Cleaner, compliant vehicles 
are not charged.

 Class A: Buses, coaches, taxis and private hire vehicles.

 Class B: Buses, coaches, heavy goods vehicles (HGVs) taxis and private hire 
vehicles.

 Class C: Buses, coaches, HGVs, large vans, minibuses, small vans/ light 
commercials, taxis and private hire vehicles. 

7.6 Class D: Buses, coaches, HGVs, large vans, minibuses, small vans/ light commercials, 
taxis and private hire, cars, motorcycles/mopeds.

Page 11



The associated emissions standards are as follows:

 Euro 3 for motorcycles, mopeds, motorised tricycles and quadricycles.

 Euro 4 for petrol cars, vans, minibuses and other specialist vehicles.

 Euro 6 for diesel cars, vans and minibuses and other specialist vehicles.

 Euro VI for lorries, buses and coaches and other specialist heavy vehicles.

7.7 It is important to recognise the clear differences between Clean Air Zones and 
Congestion Charging systems, not least in terms of their very different objectives 
and time-spans. The objective of any penalty in a CAZ is for all vehicles which drive 
within the area in a Clean Air Zone to have engines which comply with emissions 
standards. Unlike Congestion Charging, a CAZ does not seek to reduce the number 
of vehicles on roads. This means that over time and as vehicles are upgraded, the 
number of penalties levied reduces.  CAZs are therefore relatively short-term, only 
apply to non-compliant vehicles and will operate at a loss once vehicles become 
cleaner. Under a Congestion Charge however, the requirement to pay applies to all 
vehicles, is enduring, and creates a long-term revenue stream. In contrast a CAZ in 
its later years should not generate surpluses as vehicles become cleaner.

7.8 GMCA has ruled out congestion charging.

8. ASSESSING THE OPTIONS FOR GREATER MANCHESTER

8.1 Following the issue of the SOC in March 2018, a process of refining the shortlisted 
measures and developing a range of options that combine the measures in 
different ways has been undertaken. This was overseen by the GM Steering Group, 
to understand the type and scale of intervention needed to reduce NO2 to within 
legal Limit Values in the “shortest possible time” across Greater Manchester.

8.2 A best performing option is recommended within the OBC for further consideration 
and discussion with stakeholders and the public to aid the development of the Full 
Business Case.

8.3 The core goal of the GM Clean Air Plan is to address the legal requirement to remove 
ALL exceedances of concentrations of NO2 that have been forecasted to exceed the 
legal Limit Value (40 µg/m3) identified through the target determination process in 
the “shortest possible time” in line with with Government guidance and legal 
rulings. 

Page 12



8.4 Options have been assessed against the UK Government’s Primary Critical Success 
Factors:

 Reduction in NO2 emissions: likelihood that the measure/option will contribute 
significantly to a reduction in NO₂ concentrations to achieve compliance with 
the EU Limit Values

 Feasibility: likelihood of measure being implemented in time to deliver desired 
NO₂ reduction and achieve compliance. 

8.5 Where modelled options deliver compliance in the same year they have been further 
assessed against Government’s Secondary Critical Success Factors, as set out in the 
SOC:

 Strategic fit with local strategies and plans: ensuring the alignment of the 
option with longer term economic, social and environmental goals and that the 
risk of unintended consequences is minimised.

 Value for money: a high-level indication of the costs and benefits of each 
option.

 Distributional impact: in order to understand the potential impacts, both 
positive and negative on different groups within society, with a particular focus 
on the most vulnerable. It is of vital importance that the plan does not result in 
disproportionately negative economic or social impacts for the region or those 
living, working or doing business within it.

 Deliverability of the options, in terms of the affordability of the cost of 
implementation, the supply-side capacity and capability to deliver the measures 
outlined in the options, and the achievability of delivering the option.

8.6 The SOC identified that the fundamental causes of the exceedances were variable in 
terms of the source of emissions and that these sites were interconnected in 
complex ways.  Therefore, any effective proposals would need to comprise of a 
package of measures, able to tackle the overall problem holistically. 

8.7 A series of six options comprising of different packages of measures was developed 
initially in response to the problem as revealed by local modelling. These measures 
have been assessed and refined further from the shortlist in Table 1.

8.8 The assessment process involved further modelling and analysis of the effectiveness 
of measures, both individually and as a package; this included engagement with 
stakeholders and professional experts, and the use of a Multi-Criteria Analysis 
(MCA) tool to assess the performance of each option against the success factors 
and relative to each other.  In this way, the measures and packages of options have 
been assessed and refined into a preferred option that best secures the required 
objectives.

Page 13



8.9 Figure 1.  Summary of six options for initial appraisal 

 

8.10 Following the initial appraisal of the six options, three were discounted (see section 
9) and three developed as the ‘best performing’ options to be subject to a more 
detailed appraisal process. 

8.11 These three options were derived from options 4 and 5 above and have been 
adapted to reflect a deeper level of understanding of the issues that emerged 
throughout the options appraisal process.  As such, they are considered more likely 
to deliver effective reductions in NOx emissions and greater compliance than the 
options initially specified. 

8.12 In particular, the following changes have been made:

 Various incentives measures were judged to be ineffective for the specific 
requirements set by Government for a NOx plan (e.g.: public transport 
improvements beyond the existing programme and GTL conversion for HGVs) or 
undeliverable in the timescale/ with existing powers and have been excluded.

 Vehicle Renewal Schemes to help businesses and residents upgrade their vehicle 
have been included.

 The initial assessment suggested that the second-hand van market would not be 
sufficiently mature by 2021 to support a large-scale CAZ for vans – a lack of 
available, affordable and compliant vehicles could result in a higher than 
predicted proportion of vehicles ‘staying and paying’ rather than upgrading and 
create substantial risk of economic damage. Therefore, implementation of the 
city region scheme has been divided into two phases: Phase 1 would involve a 
CAZ B encompassing buses, hackney cabs and PHVs, HGVs and coaches; and 
Phase 2 would extend to a CAZ C including vans and minibuses at a later date.

Page 14



 Finally, and related to the point above, the M60 boundary in Option 5 has been 
dropped, with the schemes only reviewed for possible application within the 
Inner Relief Route or at GM-wide instead. Applying an additional boundary adds 
cost and complexity to the scheme, and risks customer confusion. Further 
analysis showed that the M60 boundary does not reflect where the outstanding 
locations of non-compliance remain post-2021, many of which are outside this 
zone. Therefore, it does not make sense in terms of delivering compliance in the 
shortest possible time to implement a second phase solely in this zone. 

 Two variants of option 5 were explored, one including a CAZ D within the IRR 
(Option 5(i)) and one where the CAZ D was enhanced so that all diesel cars and 
PHVs were considered non-compliant (Option 5(ii)).

8.13 Figure 2 – Summary of three best performing options for detailed appraisal

8.14 Discussions with the local authorities raised two significant concerns: that the risk of 
unintended socio-economic consequences is not sufficiently understood; and that 
other options had not been explored in sufficient depth to be ruled out.

8.15 As a result, further work was undertaken to address these concerns. This involved 
additional analysis of the socio-economic impacts, and assessment of two new 
options, following the same process as utilised to date.

Page 15



8.16 Figure 3 – Further options assessed

8.17 Modelling has indicated that:

 Option 4 is predicted to deliver compliance (so that all sites have 
concentrations below the Limit Value) by 2025,

 Options; 5(i), 5(ii) and 8 are all predicted to deliver compliance one year earlier, 
in 2024. 

 Option 7 was not likely to be sufficient, delivering lower emissions benefits in 
each year, than Option 8 and reaching compliance two years later, in 2026 

8.18 Options 4 and 7 were therefore ruled out of further consideration, because options 
5(i), 5(/ii) and 8 deliver compliance earliest.

8.19 Further information on how each option performs in terms of the compliance date is 
set out in Annex 1.

Page 16



8.20 Figure 4 – Assessment of compliance of options 

8.21 Options 5(i), 5(ii) and 8, as the most promising options, have been considered in 
terms of their performance against the Primary and Secondary Success Factors. A 
table summarising this assessment are included in Annex 2.

9. WHY OPTIONS 2, 3 AND 6 WERE DISCOUNTED

9.1 Options 2, 3 and 6 were ruled out as they did not deliver compliance in the shortest 
possible time: 

9.2 Option 2 – Parking measures have a limited effect on the heaviest and dirtiest 
vehicles, such as HGVs and buses.  They only affect those cars or vans that need to 
park in an area and not those passing through, or those with uncontrolled or off-
street parking available. A Workplace Parking Levy has been shown to be effective 
in deterring car travel and supporting investment in more sustainable modes in the 
only UK example (in Nottingham), but the implementation timeframe is slow and 
the measure is poorly targeted in terms of its effect on the dirtiest vehicles. There 
are very few controlled parking zones or residents’ parking permit schemes in place 
across the city-region and thus it would be difficult and expensive to deliver 
differential parking on-street. Off street public parking is managed through 
contracts owned by the ten districts, running to different timescales and with 
limited flexibility in the short term. In summary, using parking as the constraint 
measure was deemed challenging to implement, poorly targeted and not likely to 
deliver compliance in the shortest possible time. 

9.3 Option 3 – A city centre penalty for high polluting vehicles would have effect in the 
city centre and on the key radial routes into to the city centre.  However, air quality 
modelling has shown that a city centre CAZ D, with no further CAZ measures across 

Page 17



the remainder of GM, would leave around 200 sites non-compliant within the wider 
region in 2021, including some sites of non-compliance within the city centre itself.  
It has therefore been demonstrated that the option does not deliver compliance in 
the shortest possible time and has been rejected.

9.4 Option 6 – A GM-wide CAZ D was developed to understand whether compliance 
could be achieved under any scenario by 2021. The ‘all or nothing’ nature of this 
proposal presented a risk that no real improvements to air quality would be 
achieved for quite some time, and the time to compliance would be highly 
uncertain.

9.5 Specifically, with regard to option 6;

 The assessment assumed that all of the options can be delivered by 2021. It is 
very unlikely that all aspects of the scheme, from the technical work required to 
design the scheme, to the scale of the infrastructure provision and customer 
service offer required to deliver it, could be delivered in that timescale.

 The scale of the intervention across the whole of GM is considered to be 
potentially undeliverable in physical terms. 

 The modelling also forecasts substantial mode shift from car to public transport, 
but for many of the diverse trips across the wider city-region there is simply not 
a viable public transport alternative available (at this time) and this mode shift is 
not likely to materialise and it would not be possible in the required timescales 
to deliver transformative public transport improvements to facilitate this mode 
shift. This would therefore significantly delay compliance.

 A scheme on this scale would raise very significant issues in terms of the 
economic and social impact on the region, and widespread mitigation measures 
would be required that are not likely to be feasible.

9.6 In summary, Option 6 would not deliver compliance in the shortest possible time, 
and would not perform effectively in terms of reducing human exposure due to 
long periods where non-compliant vehicles continue to be used.

10. DETERMINING THE PREFERRED OPTION

10.1 Options 5(i), 5(ii) and 8, include a package of Measures, designed to ensure local 
people and businesses are fully informed about clean air and know how they can 
reduce their contribution to poor air quality; to encourage the uptake of the 
cleanest vehicles; and most significantly, to support local businesses to upgrade 
their fleets as quickly as possible.

10.2 In addition, all three options propose a region-wide CAZ, starting at Category B from 
2021 and expanding to a Category C in a later phase, assumed to be 2023. This 
large scale scheme is challenging to implement, in terms of: the need for 
substantial funding and support from Government; as well as the need for 
considerable collaboration between the ten districts; and the demand generated 

Page 18



for compliant vehicles from a range of suppliers. Nevertheless, it is clear from the 
analysis carried out to date that a smaller scale scheme would not be sufficient to 
deliver compliance in the shortest possible time. 

10.3 The full implementation of a CAZ C is proposed for 2023 rather than 2021 due to the 
assessment which suggested that the second-hand compliant van market would 
not be sufficiently mature by 2021 to provide compliant upgrade options and 
support the implementation of large-scale CAZ for vans. Crucially, this does not 
delay the year of achieving compliance and reduces the risk of socio-economic 
damage. Modelling indicates that a GM-wide CAZ C cannot deliver compliance in 
2021 or earlier than 2024 regardless of when it is implemented.

10.4 It is however vital to support local businesses, residents and operators to upgrade 
their vehicles, not least as Greater Manchester has an older than average fleet and 
an economy dominated by small businesses. There is a risk that without these 
supporting measures, the CAZ will be ineffective because businesses cannot afford 
to upgrade or the effect of the scheme will cause unacceptable economic damage. 

10.5 Furthermore, there is a risk that a CAZ implemented without financial support could 
damage the public and accessible transport offer in the region. At present, most 
buses and nearly all hackney cabs and many private hire vehicles in the region are 
non-compliant, with the oldest vehicles typically owned by small local businesses or 
sole traders. There is a risk that without support, bus operators may choose to 
reduce bus services rather than upgrade their fleets, that hackney cab drivers 
switch to driving compliant but less accessible private hire vehicles, and that the 
private hire trade is potentially impacted by the financial cost of upgrading a non-
compliant vehicles.

10.6 Therefore, the Clean Vehicle Funds to be demanded of Government, are an essential 
and common component to achieve compliance.  They add to the cost and 
complexity of delivery, and there is concern over the ability to supply sufficient 
compliant vehicles to meet demand. 

10.7 Options 5(i) and 5(ii) would require further and additional financial support to help 
private car drivers upgrade their vehicle. Such an approach could be considered 
high risk, as a viable and value-for-money private car scrappage-type model has not 
been identified that would satisfy HM Treasury, and none have been developed 
and tested in the UK to date. Further, the analysis indicates that a city centre 
penalty for private cars, a feature shared by options 5(i) and 5(ii), does not bring 
forward compliance any earlier when compared to option 8, primarily as the city 
centre zone is relatively compact and therefore its effects are modest in terms of 
stimulating compliance. 

10.8 Option 8 carries less risk in this regard, can be delivered at a lower cost (to 
Government), and is thus more affordable. 

Page 19



10.9 As the option that delivers compliance in the shortest possible time, and at the 
lowest cost, option 8 is also considered the ‘benchmark CAZ’ for the purposes of 
comparison.

10.10 Whilst option 8 presents many delivery challenges, it is more feasible and achievable 
than options 5(i) and 5(ii) and thus offers greater confidence that compliance can 
be achieved in the shortest possible time.  

10.11 Further, it is considered that options 5(i) and 5(ii) may cause unacceptable and 
significant unintended consequences to distributional impacts, particularly in terms 
of the impact on the affordability for residents, the impact on the local economy, 
and the impact on health and the quality of life of local residents. There are 
particular concerns in terms of the potential impacts on low income car-dependent 
workers, small businesses, and city centre retail. Option 8 delivers compliance in 
the same year without the same potential risk of damaging economic impacts.

10.12 On balance, therefore, it is considered that option 8, whilst remaining a substantial 
and complex undertaking, is the surest way of delivering compliance in the shortest 
possible time; providing considerable health benefits at the lowest cost to society 
and the economy of the three options.

10.13 Option 8 delivers considerable health benefits between 2021 and 2023, as the chart 
below indicates.

 Significant reductions in NO2 concentrations in early years bring real health 
benefits

 Compliance achieved 3 years earlier than Do Minimum

10.14 Option 8 is recommended as the option that delivers compliance in the shortest 
possible time, at the lowest cost, least risk and with the least negative impacts. 

Page 20



10.15 Modelling shows that with the collective action outlined above GM’s authorities 
gradually achieve compliance between 2021 and 2024.

 Wigan and Trafford in 2021

 Bolton, Bury, Oldham, Rochdale, Salford, Stockport and Tameside by 2023

 Manchester in 2024

Modelled sites of non-compliance by authority, 2021, 2023, 2025

2021 2023 2025
Do min Option 8 Do min Option 8 Do min Option 8

Bolton 19 6 3 0 0 0
Bury 23 9 12 0 4 0
Manchester 88 28 29 3 2 0
Oldham 15 4 3 0 1 0
Rochdale 10 2 2 0 0 0
Salford 36 11 10 0 1 0
Stockport 30 5 5 0 0 0
Tameside 16 6 4 0 0 0
Trafford 10 0 0 0 0 0
Wigan 3 0 0 0 0 0
GM Total 250 71 68 3 8 0

10.16 However, concerns remain about the socio-economic impacts, therefore more work 
is required for the Full Business Case to ensure that proposed mitigations are 
effective.

10.17 An indicative Equality Impact Assessment (EQIA) has also been completed and will 
form part of the OBC. However it is noted that further and fuller assessment of 
economic and equalities impacts will be required at FBC stage. 

10.18 There remains much we do not know about the possible impacts of the proposals, 
for example on low income workers, key business sectors such as retail and leisure, 
transport and distribution and on small local businesses. A programme of research, 
analysis, public and stakeholder engagement and a thorough integrated impact 
assessment has commenced and will be continued throughout 2019.

11. MODELLING ASSUMPTIONS AND UNCERTAINTIES

11.1 The analysis underpinning the GM Clean Air Plan has been produced in line with 
JAQU guidance using the best data and tools available, and localised to Greater 
Manchester where possible.

Page 21



11.2 However, the nature of the air quality challenge means that there are many sources 
of uncertainty in the modelling, and further sensitivity testing is underway.  

11.3 In addition, it is important to acknowledge that there are some key assumptions that 
will need testing at the Full Business Case stage.  This will include bus/taxi/PHV 
compliance, the behavioural responses of drivers, and the impact of measures such 
as vehicle renewal funds. 

11.4 Assumptions made in the context of advice from JAQU includes that by 2021 that the 
majority of vehicles in scope will be compliant or upgrade to a compliant vehicle 
(for example buses and taxis) and the remaining non-compliant:

 HGVs are assumed to stay and pay, upgrade or cancel their trip;
 PHVs are assumed to stay and pay or upgrade;
 LGVs are assumed to stay and pay, change mode or cancel their trip.

11.5 The regional scale of the options also means that assumptions should continue to be 
tested.

12. Engagement to date, for example with bus operators, the local taxi and private hire 
trade and the freight industry has been invaluable in helping develop the measures, 
and further engagement at local level will be undertaken as part of the process to 
develop a Full Business Case.

13. COMMERCIAL, FINANCIAL AND MANAGEMENT ASSUMPTIONS

Commercial assumptions

13.1 The procurement of all goods and services will use TfGM’s established procurement 
processes.

Financial assumptions

13.2 In developing the OBC, it has been assumed that JAQU Implementation and Clean Air 
Funds will provide funding for all costs relating to scheme’s implementation, and 
that DEFRA/JAQU will underwrite any net operational deficit, as may be necessary, 
over the life of the scheme until compliance is achieved.

13.3 If scheme operations generate any net surplus, this would be re-invested back into 
achieving Local Transport Plan (2040 Greater Manchester Transport Strategy) 
objectives, as required by the Transport Act 2000.

13.4 There is a considerable amount of uncertainty in the assumptions around revenue 
generation, since there is no CAZ currently in operation in the UK.  Therefore, the 
forecasts included in the financial model are indicative at this stage. 

13.5 Greater Manchester will be submitting the OBC as an application to the 
Implementation Fund on the assumption that all the measures outlined in the case 
are required to bring forward compliance in the shortest possible time frame.

Page 22



13.6 In the financial business case, it is assumed that: 

 The CAZ penalties are a daily charge and set at different levels for different 
vehicle types, to reflect their emissions. The aim is that non-compliant vehicles 
with the highest emissions are incentivised to respond to comply with the 
standard. 

 the CAZ daily charges remain constant in nominal prices, and therefore they 
reduce in real terms.

 any GM CAZ will operate on a daily basis and, therefore, non-compliant vehicles 
that enter or move within the area of the CAZ will only pay once each day. 

13.7 Table 2 – CAZ Penalties as assumed for modelling purposes

Vehicle Type CAZ Penalty
Taxi / PHV £7.50

LGV £7.50
HGV £100

Bus/Coach £100

Management Assumptions

13.8 TfGM will continue to co-ordinate delivery from OBC to FBC.  Decisions with regard 
to which organisation will operate any CAZ will be developed between OBC and 
FBC.

14. CLEAN VEHICLE FUNDS

14.1 An essential component of the OBC is a package of support for businesses affected 
by the best performing option.  This comprises a number of schemes that will be 
further refined through ongoing engagement with businesses and stakeholders and 
inform the FBC.  Current proposals include the following:

Clean Freight Fund - covering LGVs, Minibuses, HGVs, Coaches (£59 million)

14.2 Support for local small businesses, sole traders and the voluntary sector, registered 
in GM in the form of a discount on the purchase of a compliant commercial vehicle 
when scrapping a non-compliant vehicle or retrofitting to make compliant.

14.3 Priority for funding will be based primarily on air quality impact such that the most 
polluting vehicles can be targeted.

Clean Taxi Fund – covering Taxis and Private Hire Vehicles (£28 million)

Page 23



14.4 Support to upgrade non-compliant taxi and private hire vehicles by offering a 
contribution towards the purchase of a compliant vehicle from an approved 
supplier when trading in a non-compliant vehicle.

14.5 It will also provide part funding for the retrofitting of taxis. 

14.6 This funding opportunity also recognises the work currently being undertaken to 
develop some common minimum licensing standards for Taxis and Private Hire 
across Greater Manchester.  This work will ensure that there is clarity for the trade 
and drivers about vehicle standards that meet both proposed CAZ requirements 
and any Greater Manchester minimum standards that will be consulted on later in 
the year.  

Clean Bus Fund (£29 million)

14.7 Provide support to retrofit the majority of existing Euro IV and V buses with flexibility 
for the move to an EV bus network, via financial assistance towards charging 
infrastructure, prioritised on Air Quality benefits and commercial contribution.

14.8 Across all the Clean Vehicle Funds, further work is required between OBC and FBC to 
develop the assumption on the value per vehicle, criteria for access to the funding 
by vehicle owners, and the impact on specific groups of businesses affected by the 
introduction of the CAZ.

14.9 Through the 2040 Transport Strategy and the 2014 Devolution Agreement, the 
Combined Authority is progressing its reform programme utilising the provisions 
within the Bus Services Act, and as with other modes care is being taken to ensure 
complementarity in policy development. 

Loan Finance (£TBC)

14.10 Work is also underway to explore the possibility of defining and providing a 
supporting measure to provide loans at preferential rates for those who are taking 
advantage of the Clean Vehicle Funding.  The exact design and criteria would have 
to be determined at FBC stage following further engagement and consultation.

14.11 So far there have been three key groups for engagement – taxis & PHVs, bus 
operators and freight/ local business – to understand their concerns, obtain  
information about their fleets and seek their early feedback on proposals

14.12 The taxi and PHV trade highlighted that subsidies and low interest rate loans would 
be beneficial as would other incentives through licensing and traffic flow. EV 
charging infrastructure was key to take up of electric vehicles, but they noted a 
limited choice for electric taxis, and that timescales for implementation were tight.

14.13 Business groups and freight representative bodies provided information about their 
fleets, to inform the development of the Clean Vehicle Fund measure. They have 
also advised that certainty around compliant vehicles and timescales for 
implementing the plan are essential to business planning.

Page 24



14.14 Bus operators raised concerns around the capacity to retrofit vehicles and timescales 
for implementation.

14.15 Stakeholder dialogue will continue throughout development of the GM CAP to 
support the detailed design of the packages of measures.

15. CONSISTENCY WITH OTHER GM POLICIES, PLANS AND STRATEGIES 

15.1 Greater Manchester has a longstanding track record in taking a balanced approach 
to policy development to promote sustainability, inclusion and growth. 

15.2 The GM approach is unique insofar as it utilises existing governance and 
administrative arrangements to bring together ten local authorities and their 
highway networks, permitting the development and the implementation of a co-
ordinated plan to reduce roadside NO2 concentrations that will benefit nearly three 
million people. Such a joined-up approach provides the potential for the most 
effective and swift reduction in emissions in areas across the whole of the city 
region.  

15.3 Improving air quality is a key policy priority for Greater Manchester. The Greater 
Manchester Strategy12 states that Greater Manchester should be ‘a place at the 
forefront of action on climate change with clean air and a flourishing natural 
environment’ including by ‘reducing congestion and improving air quality’.

15.4 Air Quality is also a key focus of the Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 
(“2040 Strategy”), which is Greater Manchester’s current statutory Local Transport 
Plan, prepared by TfGM on behalf of the GMCA and the Greater Manchester Local 
Enterprise Partnership (GMLEP).  

15.5 The 2040 Strategy is accompanied by 5-year delivery plans, which set out the city-
region’s short term delivery priorities.  A draft updated 5-year Delivery Plan for 
2020 to 202513 was published in January 2019, and includes a range of 
recommendations for delivering Greater Manchester’s clean air and carbon 
reduction ambitions, building on from the Air Quality Action Plan 2016-2021 and 
Low Emission Strategy (GMCA, 2016). These include investment in the Greater 
Manchester Electric Vehicle (EV) charging network; ambitions to deliver a zero-
emission bus fleet by 2040; transformation of cycling and walking infrastructure 
(including £160m investment in the next few years); and measures to reduce 
freight emissions.

15.6 In common with longstanding policy, further work continues on improving the public 
transport network and in particular its closer integration across modes.  Greater 
Manchester has consistently used its available transport funding to improve public 
transport and enhance active travel options, thereby encouraging people to leave 

12 https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/ourpeopleourplace 2017
13 Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 Draft Delivery Plan (2020-2025) (2019), TfGM

Page 25

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/ourpeopleourplace
https://assets.ctfassets.net/nv7y93idf4jq/2GBbEBM4hm68q9qqvdaI1T/97f7b3d51ef9b312b756cd15bd0b008c/190128_Delivery_Plan_2020-2025_Draft_MASTER_final.pdf


their car at home or at park and rides and travel more sustainably.  Greater 
Manchester works to maximise all opportunities to access funding for the region to 
make it easier to travel by public transport, bike or on foot. 

15.7 This Plan will ensure that Greater Manchester can address the nearer term issue of 
NO2 exceedances in existing urban areas. Members will recognise that this is a 
crucial component in safeguarding our urban areas as the strategic focus for future 
development, as set out in the revised draft Greater Manchester Spatial 
Framework. Without this continued focus, Greater Manchester would risk 
excessive dispersed development that would undermine both the existing air 
pollution challenge and longer-term carbon reduction objectives.

16. NEXT STEPS 

16.1 Subject to the governance approval of each of the ten GM local authorities, the OBC 
will be submitted to Government within the required deadline of 31 March 2019.  
Government’s response is expected 6 – 8 weeks after submission.

16.2 A public ‘conversation’ is proposed to run between early May and mid-June (for six 
weeks) to help further inform the work, and this will supplement  the more 
targeted stakeholder engagement that is ongoing with affected businesses.  In 
addition, further deliberative research is proposed to take place during March and 
April.  These forms of engagement and dialogue will all inform the further 
development and detailed design of the measures identified in the OBC, to refine 
the proposals that will comprise the Full Business Case.

16.3 As required by Transport Act 2000, a statutory consultation relating to the proposed 
introduction of a charging Clean Air Zone is proposed to run between August and 
October 2019. 

16.4 Further work to refine the assumptions and look in detail at 2023 exceedances, 
including further socio-economic work will be undertaken.  

16.5 This will enable the development of a Full Business Case for further consideration by 
GMCA and constituent local authorities prior to submission to Government by the 
end of 2019.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

 11 January 2019, report to GMCA/AGMA: Clean Air Update

 14 December 2018, report to GMCA: Clean Air Update

 30 November 2018, report to GMCA: Clean Air Plan Update

 26 October 2018, report to GMCA: GM Clean Air Plan Update on Local Air Quality 
Monitoring

Page 26



 15 November 2018, report to HPEOS Committee: Clean Air Update

 16 August 2018, report to HPEOS Committee: GM Clean Air Plan Update

 UK plan for tackling roadside nitrogen dioxide concentrations, Defra and DfT, July 2017

KEY DECISION: Yes

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  Greater Manchester Low Emission Strategy and Air Quality Action 
Plan 2016

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:  supplied by Magda Sachs 793 3525

An initial screening Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken as part of the OBC 
which has identified that there are certain groups within our communities who will be 
impacted greater than others, some in a positive way.  The most impact is the ability for 
certain groups to be able to afford the introduction of the measures and the uncertainty on 
how the proposals will affect public transport, adversely impacting on those who are 
dependent upon it.  

A full impact assessment will be undertaken whilst developing the Full Business Case after 
completing a fuller stakeholder engagement and public consultation which will inform a 
better understanding of how the proposals will impact upon certain target groups.

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  
At this stage in the process of producing the feasibility study, the risk is viewed as low to 
medium.  The report identifies that the Council is legally obliged to produce an Outline 
Business Case to reduce nitrogen dioxide exceedances following the Secretary of State 
issuing a direction under the Environment Act 1995.  In addition the report identifies risks in 
relation to public health if the air quality is not improved, the risk of unintended socio-
economic damage from the different options that have been considered and the need for 
external funding from central government.  The preferred option 8 caries less risk than 
other options that have been assessed. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:  Barbara Gora - Manchester Legal Services

Part IV of the Environment Act 1995 places a duty on all Local Authorities to review and 
assess air quality in their area.  If any air quality standards and objectives are not being 
achieved the Local Authority must designate as an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) 
any part of its area where the standards are not being achieved or are not likely to be 
achieved within the relevant period. The Local Authority must also put in place an air quality 
action plan and to consult locally on the action plan. 

Page 27



Notwithstanding Brexit, the Local Authorities obligations and duties will remain the same as 
the European Union (Withdrawal) Bill 2018 will ensure existing European environmental law 
continues to have effect and therefore the UK will still be subject to the Air Quality Directive 
200-8/50/EC. The Air Quality Directive, imposes the duty to provide the necessary data and 
assessment regimes no later than 31st December of each calendar year.

The Council is subject to a direction by the Supreme Court by way of delegation from the 
Government as a result of action brought by Environmental Lawyers ClientEarth. Any breach 
of such a direction may result in a financial penalty against the Council.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Joanne Hardman Chief Finance Officer ext 3156

It is assumed that JAQU Implementation and Clean Air Funds will provide funding for all 
costs relating to the scheme’s implementation, and that DEFRA/JAQU will underwrite any 
net operational deficit, as may be necessary, over the life of the scheme until compliance is 
achieved.  There is no budget provision within the council to cover these costs.

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Supplied by: Deborah Derbyshire x 6244

If delegation is approved for GMCA to undertake any procurement activity the Authority is 
bound by the same EU/Public Procurement Contract Regulations, therefore this will comply 
with the City Contractual Standing Orders.

HR IMPLICATIONS:  Supplied by: Steve Hulme 607 8631

There are no HR implications.

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: Public Health

CONTACT OFFICER:    Lynda Stefek 0161 686 6201
                                    

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: All

Page 28



Annex 1 – More detailed assessment of options by compliance date

Compliant sites Non-compliant sitesRoad 
Classification

Very 
compliant
(below 35 
µg/m3)

Compliant 
but close
(35 to 
40µg/m3)

Non-
compliant
(40 to 
45µg/m3)

Very non-
compliant
(45 to 
50µg/m3)

Extremely 
non-
compliant
(> 
50µg/m3)

Total 
non-
compliant
(> 
40µg/m3)

2021

Do minimum 16,281 603 175 62 13 250

Option 4 16,820 250 56 8 0 34

Option 5(i) 16,879 200 50 5 0 55

Option 5(ii) 16,892 193 44 5 0 49

Option 7 16,830 233 61 10 0 71

Option 8 16,836 227 62 9 0 71

2023

Do minimum 16,856 210 58 10 0 68

Option 4 17,056 69 9 0 0 9

Option 5(i) 17,081 51 2 0 0 2

Option 5(ii) 17,087 46 1 0 0 1

Option 7 17,037 85 12 0 0 12

Option 8 17,072 59 3 0 0 3

2025

Do minimum 17,068 58 8 0 0 8

Do Something 8 Options 5(i), 5(ii) and 8 are fully compliant by 2024, Option 4 by 2025 
and Option 7 by 2026.

Page 29



Page 30



Page 29 of 30

Annex 2 – Assessment of options by success criteria

Success Factor Option 
5(i)

2021: CAZ 
B GM-wide, 

CAZ D in 
IRR

2023: CAZ 
C GM-wide

Option 
5(ii)

2021: CAZ 
B GM-wide, 
CAZ D & all 
diesel cars 
charged in 

IRR
2023: CAZ 
C GM-wide

Option 
8

2021: CAZ B 
GM-wide, 
2023: CAZ 
C GM-wide

Summary

Compliance in the shortest possible time
Which option reduces to zero the number of 
locations predicted to be in exceedance of the 
legal limits of NO2 concentrations in the 
shortest time?

Yes Yes Yes All Options deliver compliance in 2024, considered to be the 
shortest possible time for achieving compliance in GM.

Reduction in NO2 emissions
Which option delivers…
The greatest reduction in the number of 
locations in exceedance (presumed to 
represent human exposure) in each year?

All Options deliver significant reductions in the number of 
locations in exceedance of 70-80% in 2021, with Option 5(ii) 
predicted to marginally deliver the greatest reductions in each 
year prior to compliance being achieved.

The greatest reduction in NO2 concentrations 
at the roadside in each year prior to 
compliance being achieved?

All Options deliver reductions in mass emissions across GM of 
between 20-30% in 2021, with the greatest reductions forecast 
to be delivered by Option 5(ii).

Compliance without putting other sites closer 
to exceedance (defined as concentrations of 
38-40µg/m3) than without action?

All Options are forecast to deliver compliance without putting 
other sites closer to exceedance, risk that Option 5(ii) leads to 
more re-routing than forecast.

Feasibility
Are the measures proposed within the legal 
powers of the Greater Manchester Local 
Authorities?

The measures proposed in all Options are within the legal 
powers of the authorities.

Can a governance route be developed to 
enable timely local government joint working 
as required for delivery?

GM has proposed a governance route that facilitates the local 
government co-operation required for delivery. The complex 
vehicle change requirements nature of Option 5(ii) is likely to 
make approvals more difficult.

What is the likelihood of the measures being 
effective?

Clean Air Zones are presumed to be effective, but there is 
considerable uncertainty about how drivers will respond within 
the local context and to a scheme on a region-wide scale. 
Option 5(ii) is more complex and thus more uncertain.

Is delivery of the option subject to significant 
risks that make achieving compliance in the 
shortest possible time less likely?

If the full CAP cannot be delivered or funded, compliance may 
be delayed e.g. if there is not sufficient time or funds to achieve 
a clean hackney cab or bus fleet. The Plan is subject to risks in 
terms of the need for multiple approvals from different bodies; 
the political sensitivity of the proposals; and the need to run 
activities in parallel. Option 8 involves one rather than two CAZ 
schemes so is subject to less risk.

Strategic fit with local strategies and plans
Air quality and climate change

All Options deliver improvements in NO2 concentrations, and 
also reduce PM and greenhouse gas emissions.

Transport All options act to promote sustainable travel and will deliver a 
cleaner, newer bus and taxi fleet for GM passengers.

Growth Risk that the city centre CAZ schemes deter housing and 
employment development; which could impact on the delivery of 
the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework. Option 8 delivers 
clean air without this risk.

Economy Risk that the city centre CAZ schemes affect economic 
performance. Option 8 delivers clean air without this risk 
In all Options, CAZs will impose costs on local businesses.

Value for money
Estimated value for money of the option 
compared to the risk of inaction

It would be more cost effective to deliver the changes more 
slowly; however this is a public health emergency so action is 
vital. Option 8 delivers compliance at the lowest imposed cost.

Distributional impact
Health benefits

All groups will experience health benefits. Those living in areas 
with the worst air quality and those most vulnerable to the 
effects of poor air quality will benefit the most.

Accessibility (in terms of journey time and 
connectivity to opportunities and services)

The scheme brings improved accessibility in terms of small 
reductions in journey times for road traffic. Option 8 does not 
impose costs on private cars.

Affordability (for users) Options 5(i/ii) impose costs affecting low income car drivers, 
with more vehicles in scope for charges in Option 5(ii). Option 8 
delivers clean air without this risk but still imposes costs on 
small businesses and sole traders.

Impact on the local economy – considering low 
income workers, small businesses, town 
centres and key sectors

All Options impose costs on small businesses and low income 
professional drivers; proposals to support fleet upgrade mitigate 
this somewhat. Options 5(i/ii) risk impacts on the city centre 
economy avoided in Option 8.

Impact on the quality of life of local residents 
and on equalities

Options 5(i/ii) may affect the quality of life of low income car 
drivers. Option 8 delivers clean air without this risk. Low income 
professional drivers may be affected by all Options.

Deliverability
The Affordability of the cost of implementation 
(for the public sector)

Option 8 is the lowest cost option and is thus the most 
affordable for the public sector.

The Supply-side capacity and capability to 
deliver the measures outlined in the option

There are concerns about supply side capacity e.g. the 
availability of specialist compliant vehicles such as hackney 
cabs, and retrofitting capacity and risks of delays.

The Achievability of delivering the option, 
considering issues such as difficulty with scale 
or obtaining resources to implement and 
operate a measure/option

The scale of the region-wide CAZ, supporting programme and 
associated cost, and the need for cross-district collaboration, 
creates delivery risk.  This risk is even greater for a city centre 
CAZ D scheme.  

Page 31



Appendices: 

Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan Outline Business Case (OBC)

 Executive summary (Adobe PDF format, 1.2mb)
 Commercial case (Adobe PDF format, 798kb)
 Economic case (Adobe PDF format, 2.2mb)
 Financial case (Adobe PDF format, 861kb)
 Individual authority compliance summary (Adobe PDF format, 1.2mb)
 Management case (Adobe PDF format, 787)
 Strategic case (Adobe PDF format, 3.5mb)

OBC appendices

 Glossary (Adobe PDF format, 393kb)
 Options appraisal report (Adobe PDF format, 2.5mb)
 Project and work package summary sheets (Adobe PDF format, 668kb)
 Analysis of distributional impacts (Adobe PDF format, 3.1mb)
 Analysis of distributional impacts, Appendix A map book (Adobe PDF format, 34.8mb)
 Analysis of distributional impacts, Appendix B recommendations for further work (Adobe PDF format, 197kb)
 E1 economic appraisal methodology report (Adobe PDF format, 787kb)
 E1 organisation E1.1 – programme governance model (Adobe PDF format, 132kb)
 E1 organisation E1.2 – programme structure (Adobe PDF format, 168kb)
 E1 organisation E1.3 – steering group terms of reference (Adobe PDF format, 244kb)
 E2 modelling report (Adobe PDF format, 3.8mb)
 E2 programme and project procedures E2.1 – overview of TfGM’s programme and project lifecycle stages (Adobe PDF format, 314kb)
 E2 programme and project procedures E2.2 - TfGM’s four lines of defence model (Adobe PDF format, 197kb)
 E3 equality impact assessment (Adobe PDF format, 247kb)
 E3 programme and delivery schedule E3.1 – plan on a page (Adobe PDF format, 169b)
 E4 plans E4.1 - stakeholder management plan (Adobe PDF format, 319kb)
 E4 plans E4.2 - risk management plan (Adobe PDF format, 480kb)
 E4 Plans E4.3 - monitoring and evaluation plan (Adobe PDF format, 266kb)
 E5 Registers E5.1 – programme risk register (Adobe PDF format, 582kb)
 E5 Registers E5.2 – project risk register (Adobe PDF format, 437kb)

Strategic Outline Case (SOC)

 Strategic outline case, page 1 to 18 (Adobe PDF format, 7.2mb)
 Strategic outline case, page 19 to 38 (Adobe PDF format, 8mb)
 Strategic outline case, appendices A to C (Adobe PDF format, 8mb)
 Strategic outline case, appendices D to M (Adobe PDF format, 10mb)

Page 32

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393727/executive_summary.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393732/commercial_case.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393726/economic_case.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393728/financial_case.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393731/individual_authority_compliance_summary_salford_city_council.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393729/management_case.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393730/strategic_case.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393742/glossary.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393741/e5_registers_e52_project_risk_register.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393744/06_project_and_work_package_summary_sheets.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393745/analysis_of_distributional_impacts.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393752/analysis_of_distributional_impacts_appendix_a_compressed.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393746/analysis_of_distributional_impacts_appendix_b.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393747/e1_economic_appraisal_methodology_report.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393748/e1_organisation_e11_programme_governance_model.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393749/e1_organisation_e12_programme_structure.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393750/e1_organisation_e13_steering_group_terms_of_reference.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393751/e2_modelling_report.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393733/e2_programme_and_project_procedures_e21_overview_of_tfgms_programme_and_project_lifecycle_stages.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393734/e2_programme_and_project_procedures_e22_tfgms_four_lines_of_defence_model.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393735/e3_equality_impact_assessment__eqia__.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393736/e3_programme_and_delivery_schedule_e31_plan_on_a_page.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393737/e4_plans_e41_stakeholder_management_plan_.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393738/e4_plans_e42_risk_management_plan.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393739/e4_plans_e43_monitoring_and_evaluation_plan_.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393740/e5_registers_e51_programme_risk_register.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393741/e5_registers_e52_project_risk_register.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393723/soc-page-1-to-18.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393724/soc-page-19-to-38.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393725/soc-appendices-a-to-c.pdf
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393722/soc-appendices-d-to-m.pdf


                                       Part 1 – ITEM NO.

REPORT OF 
 LEAD MEMBER FOR CHILDREN’S AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S SERVICES

TO

CABINET 

ON
26TH MARCH 2019

TITLE:  
FOSTERING STRATEGY AND THE REVIEW OF ALLOWANCES

RECOMMENDATION

 The City Mayor is asked to agree an increase in foster carer allowances; 40% on the 
Skills element and 2% for carers on the Focus scheme.  

 The City Mayor is asked to support the use of a proportion of the one-off funding 
allocated by government in December to fund the first year of the cost. 

EXECTIVE SUMMARY

Salford foster carers care for the majority of Salford’s LAC population. They are provided 
with a weekly allowance to meet the costs of caring for the children in placement. This has 
not been increased for over 10 years and Salford are one of the lowest paying local 
authorities. This at a time when other LAs have increased payments to assist with 
recruitment and retention, and when Independent Fostering Agencies (IFAs) have increased 
in numbers in a competitive market. This paper makes a case for a 40% increase to the 
skills reward element of the allowance and a 2% rise for foster carers on the Focus 
Scheme. This will address Salford’s position in relation to other LAs, aid recruitment through 
offering a more attractive rate and evidence Salford’s commitment to support and retaining 
foster carers.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

Key Decision – YES 

Page 33

Agenda Item 5



Current Situation

There are 226 fostering households approved by Salford. They care for 336 of the 574 
looked after children (at 31/03/18). 

In 2016/17 we approved 15 new households and 2017/18 we approved 10 households. This 
year we are on track to approve around 11 (There have been 8 to date and 3 are in 
assessment, likely to be approved before 31/03/19). In 2017/18 18 households left fostering, 
for a number of reasons. This pattern results in a diminishing number of foster carers and 
potential placements. We have 11 households where the main carer is between 65 and 78 
years of age. It is important that we are able to replace these as they make decisions about 
retiring from fostering. The majority of our carers (56%) are between 45 and 54 years old. It 
is imperative that we do all we can to retain the vast majority of these as well as our 
younger carers.

As referrals come through to the Fostering Service we are struggling to identify placements 
and therefore matching considerations are frequently compromised in order to identify an in 
house placement. The costs of children being placed with outside residential placements 
and Independent Fostering Agencies (IFAs) are well known, with the average cost of an IFA 
placement of £766 per week and residential of £3791 per week. In house carers are 
currently paid between £187 and £316 per child per week. In house foster carer recruitment 
and retention must therefore be a high priority for the council. 

Recruitment Plans

All authorities are struggling to recruit new foster carers. There are many reasons for this, 
including the rising costs of housing and living resulting in 2 people in the household often 
needing to work outside the home to provide an adequate household income. (Whilst we 
don’t require foster carers to stay at home we do need them to be able to meet the needs of 
children placed, including school runs and attending meetings which will limit employment 
options outside the home).

A recent Mosaic profiling of our current foster carers and the demographics of Salford’s 
population and housing profile has demonstrated that as an authority Salford faces 
particular challenges, unlike some of our neighbouring authorities, such as Stockport and 
Trafford who are faring better with recruitment. Initial profiling has given some indicators of 
who, where and how to target advertising campaigns but further work is currently being 
undertaken on this new way of approaching more targeted recruitment. This is being utilised 
in our recruitment plans.

We are looking at innovative ways to recruit and retain foster carers. We would welcome 
discussions with members and other council departments about the ways in which the 
council and other partner agencies can support this. For example other councils have 
introduced an exemption from council tax for foster carers; there is the potential to consider 
many offers from the council or partner agencies for foster carers. We are keen to offer 
additional privileges and recognition to those who choose to foster for Salford.

Page 34



Not all the children in residential placement or IFA placements would be suitable for in 
house foster families, however we know that many of those placements are made because 
of lack of capacity in house rather than by placement need. Children placed in IFAs have 
been identified as follows:

Short Term Placements 22
Short break care 1
Long Term Placements 26
Plans of adoption 5

Those with a long term plan have been linked with their carers and will remain, however 
they will have been placed initially on a short term basis, which with enough carer choice 
would not have been required. 

There are currently 42 children in outside residential placements. The ages of children 
placed in these and with IFAs (short term) is as follows (although this doesn’t give the full 
picture of the age or need of the children at the time of initial placement):

AGE GROUP Residential IFA (short term)
Under 10s 8 4
11-13 12 7
14-15 14 6
16+ 8 5

We also know that there are children waiting for long term placements to be identified. We 
are actively family finding for 23 children. Being able to recruit long term carers would free 
up short term carers for new referrals or short term placement requirements.

A recruitment plan has been drawn up which includes the following:
 Long term
 Older children
 Siblings

More foster carers will lead to more vacancies, better matching, improving outcomes for 
children, and aid retention of foster carers.

Retention of Foster Carers

The Fostering Services recognises that the foster carers are its greatest asset. Retention is 
a high priority; our fostering social workers work closely with foster carers, having a good 
understanding of their needs and concerns. 

In addition to the continued support we have also introduced some initiatives to help carers 
in their role as follows:

 developed a comprehensive training programme
 introduced 24 hours telephone support for all foster carers

Page 35



 bought in to the Max scheme which offers discounts to foster families for days out 
and trips

 expanding foster carer support groups
 increased the categories for the long service awards
 monthly newsletter to the fostering family starting in January

Fostering Allowances – Current Position

Foster carers are paid between £187 and £316 per week per child depending upon their 
level of experience (see Table 1). Current payments to foster carers are made up of a 
boarding allowance (the minimum rate set by government) and an additional skills payment. 
The table below sets out the figures. Family and Friends carers who have not undertaken 
training receive the minimum amount. Approved foster carers will receive skills 2 at 
approval. If they complete the relevant training they will move onto skills 3 after around a 
year and skills 4 after approximately another year. Foster carers are not paid for their hourly 
rate. The maximum skills payment of £125 that carers can receive as a reward for caring for 
a child equates to 74 pence per hour. While foster carers are not in paid employment in the 
role it takes huge commitment and skills to care for a looked after child, alongside all the 
other requirements such as meeting attendance, appointments, school and contact 
transport, record keeping, etc. Foster carers accept they don’t receive a living wage for their 
role but low fees widen the gap.

In comparison with other NW Local Authorities Salford are paying between the second and 
fourth lowest rates (of 20 authorities submitting reliable figures, dependent on age bands); 
one or 3 LAs are paying lower (depending on age bands).

TABLE 1
Current payments

Age Range

Boarding 
allowance 
Weekly new rate

including 
skills 2 
payment of 
£60

including 
skills 3 
payment of 
£90

including 
skills 4 
payment of 
£125

Under 1 127 187 217 252
1 to 4 130 190 220 255
5 to 10 143 203 233 268
11 to 15 164 224 254 289
16 to 17 191 251 281 316

Fostering Allowances Review

In order to be comparable with other local authorities, be a realistic alternative to IFAs and 
to aid retention Salford need to complete the process of review that begun with the 
consultation last year.

Following preparation and internal consideration in October 2017 a consultation took place 
with the foster carers which proposed moving to a flat fee from the current allowance and 3 
Skills payments. The current system was seen as over complicated, incurring excessive 
administration processes and not being attractive in a competitive recruitment market. The 
cost of the proposal would have been an additional £750,000 per year. During the 
consultation the foster carers were overwhelmingly rejecting of the proposal, primarily 

Page 36



because they felt that experienced carers who have trained and developed their skills 
needed to be recognised and rewarded differently from other types of carers. The benefits 
of a tiered system were reconsidered and it was then decided that this would be retained. 

This would be in line with most local authorities and as recommended by Sir Martin Narey 
and Mark Owers Fostering Stocktake; Foster Care in England. This review for the 
Department for Education, which was published in February 2018, warmly endorsed tiered 
financial support to reward the skills of foster carers. 

Salford foster carers were informed that we would no longer be seeking a flat fee and that a 
new proposal would be put forward. Over the past year there have been several discussions 
and tentative agreements of proposals with senior managers and lead member. 

In addition since the consultation last year the Focus carers have formally requested that 
their fees are reviewed. The Focus scheme is a specialist fostering scheme of 25 carers 
who take children with complex emotional and behavioural needs who require long term 
foster placement and might otherwise move placements frequently or be in residential 
homes. Focus carers have a high level of support and at least one carer is required to be 
home based. During the consultation the Focus carers had been informed that their 
payments would be reviewed once the general carers had been reviewed and any agreed 
changes implemented. It now seems timely to review all fees at this time, rather than 
coming back in a few months time with further proposals. Therefore there is now a new 
proposal for the council to consider in relation to all foster carers and their payments.
 
Proposal to Increase Fostering Allowances

This section outlines the proposal to be considered in relation to 2 areas of foster carer 
allowances and fees – weekly Skills payments and Focus Skills payments.

Weekly Skills Payments - 
This new proposal aims to address the concerns raised during the consultation period and 
seek to secure a rise in Skills payments which would allow rates to be more in line with 
other local authorities. Due consideration has been given to all the points raised by both 
foster carers and staff and a thorough examination of all the various allowances currently 
paid. The new proposal is to continue with a skills based payment system. This recognises 
the experience of foster carers and rewards them for remaining with the local authority. The 
skills payments are also able to be used as retainers for example, when children are in 
hospital, for specific solo placements, when there are allegations, etc. This also allows 
some leverage for engagement with training. (Attendance at training is also being 
addressed through the new training programme and the link with foster carer annual 
reviews). 

It is proposed to increase the skills payment made to carers by 40%, bringing the current 
range of £187 - £316 up to £211 - £366. This would make for a dramatic headline figure for 
current and prospective carers. The actual cost would be significantly less than the 
previously proposed flat fee as it would be an additional £460,000 from last year’s total 
payments, rather than the £750,000 which was previously proposed and agreed. The 

Page 37



additional cost is based on the current numbers of looked after children placed with in house 
foster carers. As the numbers of children being placed in house increases the annual 
budget of foster allowances will increase however the savings will be £39,832 per year (for 
IFA placements) and £197,132 (for residential) for each child who can be brought back or 
placed in house initially. 

Table 2 

40% increase

Boarding 
allowance 
weekly rate 2018

including 
skills 2 
payment of 
£84

including 
skills 3 
payment of 
£126

including 
skills 4 
payment of 
£175

Under 1 127 £211 £253 £302
1 to 4 130 £214 £256 £305
5 to 10 143 £227 £269 £318
11 to 15 164 £248 £290 £339
16 to 17 191 £275 £317 £366

The benefits of retaining the skills payment have already been explained. The increase of 
40% to the skills payment will indicate to current carers that the long awaited rise to 
payment has been addressed. The actual increase will be between £24 and £50 per week 
per placement. In comparison with the 20 other LAs this would place us as between the 8th 
and 13th best paying authorities (depending on age bands); between 7 and 12 LAs will still 
be paying a higher rate. Oldham pay their highest payment of £556 for 16+ and £518 for 11 
– 15 yrs with Bury paying a similar figure.

The investment of £460,000 to up lift the skills payments will show current foster carers that 
their service is valued, assisting with retention. A headline figure of a 40% increase will be 
attractive when recruiting new carers. With the large costs of IFA and outside residential 
placements, it is a council priority to increase our numbers of in house foster carers. Being 
able to retain our current carers and increasing the pool of foster carers, even in small 
numbers, will have a significant impact. The savings will be £39,832 per year (for IFA 
placements) and £197,132 (for residential) for each child who can be brought back or 
placed in house initially. 

DfE has awarded local authorities within Greater Manchester money to scale and spread 
across GM innovation projects delivered by Rochdale, Stockport, Wigan and Salford in 
2014-16 which focused on vulnerable adolescents, preventative help, edge of care work as 
well as complex families.  These projects have been evaluated by DfE partners and have 
demonstrated better outcomes for children and families, reduced demand and promoted 
cost savings and cost avoidance.

Salford Children Services has agreed to adopt and adapt North Yorks ‘No Wrong Door’ 
model. 

No Wrong Door is an integrated service and approach to supporting adolescents with 
complex needs. The model combines a defined culture and practice with a range of 
services, support and accommodation options and a team of specialists working together 
through a shared practice framework. At the heart of the model is a residential Hub, which 
provides short-term placements and outreach support.  No Wrong Door is one part of a 
larger system-change programme across North Yorkshire’s children’s services. The council 
identified high-needs adolescents as having particularly poor long-term outcomes, with the 

Page 38



system not coping well with these young people, segmenting support across professional 
specialisms and being too slow to respond to the needs of young people and families. 

Salford wish to adopt and adapt this model of care because:
 We intend to develop our workforce and create a ‘why can’t we’ culture rather than a 

‘permissions’ culture.
 We have seen from our residential review that increasing numbers of in-house 

residential admissions are short term and we want to build on this and see residential 
as a stepping stone to permanence and not a long term solution.

 Our vision is for better outcomes for Young people and families, the community, 
value for money, greater aspirations, improved education, training and employment 
engagement.

 We want every young person or carer to know they have someone/place to go at the 
first sign of need.

 Manage our resources more effectively 
 Ensure families stay together where possible 

Salford is very much in its infancy stages with NWD model and potential cost savings are 
currently being reviewed. However an independent evaluation of NY undertaken by 
Loughborough University has shown:

 No Independent Fostering Agency placements used since April 2015 for the young 
people in the No Wrong Door model

 Only one out-of-area placement used in 2016/17
 Savings of £850,000 from reduction in IFA placements

*Figures above from internal North Yorkshire County Council data. 

One of the benefits of the previous proposal of moving to a flat fee was to reduce the 
number of individual claims made for discretionary payments. The Foster Carer Fees and 
Allowances Handbook has been updated in draft form to make the criteria for discretionary 
payments clearer and streamlined which should reduce the electronic traffic in processing 
these. There will be some small savings to be made through this, for example the cessation 
of the 10+ premium, will save £14,000 per year. The clothing, birthday, holiday and other 
allowances are being reviewed currently as part of this. The new allowances handbook will 
be implemented at the same time as the 40% increase to skills payments coming into force.

Focus – 16 of the 25 Focus foster carers have written to senior managers to outline their 
view that there has been no review or rise to the allowance paid since at least 2010. They 
point out the Consumers Price Index has risen by 14% in that period. Many employed 
people, including public sector workers have not seen a rise during this time as the austerity 
measures have affected so many. To award the Focus carers 2% would cost the council an 
additional £9200 per year. This seems an equitable way to address their request whilst 
acknowledging the budget constraints the council are under. It would be sensible to address 
this request within this proposal rather than submit it separately at a later date.

Future Considerations – The foster care allowances haven’t been increased for 10 years. 
Rather than wait until they fall below other authorities and reach a point of another review 
and request such as this it would be prudent to also consider an annual 1 or 2% increase to 
be built in.

Page 39



Assessment of risk

Salford is dependent upon its foster carers to offer high quality care to those children the 
council looks after. We need to ensure we recruit more foster carers in order to replace 
those who are likely to retire over the next few years and to ensure we have enough carers 
to place children in house where possible. The aim would be to have enough carers that 
IFAs or residential placements are not used purely because of a lack of resources available. 
Salford already faces challenges with recruitment due to the demographics of the city. 
Salford is on the geographical boundary of 6 other local authorities. Foster carers living near 
those boundaries may see there is little other difference between Salford and another LA 
apart from the financial support. The non-competitive allowances paid to carers will have an 
impact on both our recruitment and retention. As a service we are addressing all other areas 
of recruitment and retention that are within our control using the resources, innovation and 
other council supports that we are able to. A decision about the financial support required 
for foster carers needs to be made.

Resource Implications

The service is very aware of the current budget pressure in the council and in Children’s 
Services in particular and that this investment request is an additional pressure. Without the 
investment, high expenditure will continue to be necessary as outlined above. With the 
investment it is hoped that our fostering capacity can be increased and savings can be 
made in the current areas of pressure. Additional one-off investment for children and adult 
service provision was announced in December which amounts to approximately £2m for 
Salford. It has been provisionally agreed that this should be used for the pressure in 
Children’s Services. It is therefore proposed that the uplift in fostering payments be funded 
for the first year from that funding, with the collective work to recruit additional carers and 
deliver the transformation approach of No Wrong Door assisting with future funding 
arrangements.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:  Chris Mee Strategic Finance Manager, 0161 778 
0434. 
This proposed increase to rates paid to in-house foster carers has in the medium to long 
term the potential to reduce the overall costs of Looked After Children, by improvements in 
the retention and recruitment of foster carers and a reduction in the use of more expensive 
Independent Foster Agency and Outside Placements. This increased investment should 
therefore be seen as an invest to save proposal that will sit alongside the planned 
introduction of the No Wrong Door model within Salford. However, in the short term this 
increase is likely to cause further pressure within the Childrens Services budget whilst these 
changes take effect. This short term pressure could be addressed by the use of the one off 
grant to fund it in 2019/20, but this use should be considered within the wider context of the 
pooling / risk share arrangements with the CCG also to be introduced in 2019/20

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

Page 40



LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Lorraine Ashton Deputy Head of Children and 
Families (Legal) Group - The proposals are within the legal and statutory guidance 
framework

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED:   

CONTACT OFFICER: Sharon Hubber Assistant Director Specialist Services 603 4311
Patsy Molloy Fostering Service Manager 779 7959
Mike Kelly Head of Service 779 7914

Wards to which this relates:  All

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 

 
 

REPORT OF 
 

REPORT OF BEN DOLAN, STRATEGIC DIRECTOR PLACE and  
CHARLOTTE RAMSDEN, STRATEGIC DIRECTOR PEOPLE 

To 
THE CITY MAYOR IN CONSULTATION WITH CABINET  

On 26th March 2019 

 
 
TITLE: Salford’s Housing Allocations Policy Review 2019 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 
It is recommended that the City Mayor in consultation with Cabinet: 
 

a) Approve the revised Allocations Policy and recommended changes to the Policy as 
detailed in this report ‘Salford’s Housing Allocation Policy Review 2019’ 

 

 
 
Executive Summary: 
 
As 2 years have now passed since the introduction of the most recent Housing Allocations 
Policy (2016) and in order to respond to new statutory duties resulting from the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 it was agreed by the City Mayor in August 2018 to 
conduct a review of and update the Policy. The outcomes of the consultation have informed 
recommendations for changes to the Policy. 

 
 
1. Process 

 
1.1 The Housing Act 1996 requires a local housing authority to have a scheme, which sets 

out how housing is allocated within their area and how applicants on the housing 
register are prioritised. 

 
1.2 Salford City Council is the local housing authority and the most recent Allocations 

Policy was initially developed in 2015 following a full consultation process: 

 Working group meetings and briefings with Elected Members  

 Consideration of other local authorities’ allocations policies  

 Public consultation  

 Dedicated briefing sessions with partners 
 
1.3 As at April 2018 there were 5818 (not including those currently under offer) active 

applications registered on Salford Home Search of which more than half were in need 
of 1 bedroom accommodation: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Part 1 - Open to the Public 
 

ITEM NO. 

Housing Waiting List – April 2018 

No. households on waiting list (including those under offer) 5,867 

No. of households requiring 1 room 3,534 

No. of households requiring 2 rooms 1,420 

No. of households requiring 3 rooms 698 

No. of households requiring more than 3 rooms 215 

Page 43

Agenda Item 6



 2 

 
 
 

1.4 As applications are prioritised for housing depending on the actual bids they choose to 
make, it is not possible to estimate how long it will take for any particular case to be re-
housed because this is dependent on who else bids for a particular property, when they 
registered and how many priority points they have (if they are eligible for these). 
However, the number of properties that were advertised on Salford Homesearch in 
April 2018 provides an example of the availability of properties, although offers will vary 
from month to month depending upon turnover. 

 

Number of Properties Offered – April 2018 

bedsits 1 beds 2 beds 3 beds 4 beds 

3 51 64 23 1 

 
Overall trends show a significant decrease in the number of properties becoming 

available and advertised on Salford Home Search generally over time.  The number of 

properties that were let dropped from 1616 in 2016, 1369 in 2017 to 1312 in 2018. 
 

1.5 In light of the implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 and 
accompanying new statutory duties it is considered good practice to review the existing 
Policy with a view to updating it to reflect the new requirements of the Act and to 
support statutory services in delivering their new duties.  

 
1.6 In summary, the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 requires: 

 A more  focussed housing advice and information service 

 An assessment process which informs a personal housing plan  

 An earlier opportunity for those threatened with homelessness to approach the 
authority for assistance extended from 28 to 56 days 

 The provision of a 56 day prevention duty to eligible applicants who are threatened 
with homelessness. 

 The provision of a 56 day relief duty to eligible applicants who are homeless. 
 
1.7 In August 2017 a consultant was secured to review the Allocations Policy and 

recommendations were made for improving the document. 
 

1.8 In addition, the Authority’s legal service provided further advice about the document 
and its legal status. 

 
1.9 City Mayor gave approval for a public consultation on the Allocations Policy, which 

commenced on 15th August 2018. The consultation was delivered via Survey Monkey a 
link to which was widely circulated to: 

 Elected Members,  

 Registered Providers 

 3rd sector voluntary organisations,  

 Equality groups  
 

This was also made available: on the Council’s website and advertised across the 
website, as well as Facebook and Twitter pages. In addition paper copies were 
provided to community groups who requested them. 

 
1.10 The consultation ended on the 12th October and the outcomes of the consultation were  

reported to the Community and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel on 22ndOctober 2018   
and Lead Member for Housing and Neighbourhoods. 

 
1.11 Additionally, a workshop was held and additional conversations took place with 

Registered Housing Providers to obtain their feedback on the policy and 
recommendations. 

 
 
 

Page 44



 3 

72.12% of respondents either 

agreed or strongly agreed with 

the current local connection 

criteria. 

 

17.7% disagreed or strongly 

disagreed with the current local 

connection criteria. 

 

In addition, 1 paper response 

was received which disagreed 

with the local connection criteria 

overall. 

 
 
 
2.0 Consultation responses, recommendations and implications: 
 
2.1   Local Connection   
 
2.1.1 Respondents were asked to comment on the local connection criteria which currently 

stipulates that only the following applicants are allowed to register on Salford Home 
Search: 

 Who have lived in Salford for at least 2 years  

 Permanent employees who work in the city - continuous employment for a period of 

at least 6 months. 

 With family associations: parent, adult sibling or adult child living in Salford in settled 

accommodation for a minimum of five years. 

 Former asylum seekers granted the right to remain and whose application for asylum 

was determined whilst living in Salford provided under section 95 of the Asylum 

and Immigration Act 1996. 

 With other special circumstances: 

i. Fleeing violence and owed a Local Authority homelessness duty  

ii. Needing to move to Salford to give or receive care and support 

iii. Members or former members of the Armed Forces who are: 

a.  in housing need 

b. who left the service within five years of their application or who suffer from 

a serious injury or disability which is attributable in whole or part to that 

service;, 

iv. A spouse or civil partner who is or was living in accommodation provided by 

the Ministry of Defence and whose former spouse or civil partner was a 

serviceman whose death was attributable in whole or in part to their service. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45



 4 

Recommendation: 
 
2.1.3  In line with respondents who were over-whelmingly in support of the existing local connection 

criteria no changes are proposed to this aspect of the Policy.  
 
2.1.4  It is not considered that the various ad hoc suggestions could be justified given the above and 

the fact that those suggestions were made individually. The existing local connection criteria fits 
in line with existing legislation, guidance and common practice – also taking into consideration 
the short supply of available social housing in Salford. 
  

2.1.5 From the feedback received officers did recognise the need for more clarity in the policy around 
those who work full-time, part-time or zero hour contracts to which the policy already applies 
and amendments will be made to clarify this. 

 

 

 

 

 

2.1.2 There were 81 comments from respondents including in particular: 

 Armed forces criteria which was raised by 8 respondents 

o 4 respondents suggested extending the 5 year connection to the armed forces 

prior to application (for former members) to 10 years or omitting any deadline 

at all.  

o 2 felt that the armed forces should not be prioritised at all. 

 Employment local connection was raised by 10 respondents 

o 2 respondents suggested extending the scheme in some way either to those 

with temporary contracts, not guaranteed regular work, or part-time work 

o 5 respondents suggested a reduction in the time spent employed in Salford 

from 6 months including: if a job is recently secured in Salford or no time limit 

at all. 

o 1 respondent suggested increasing the local connection to 5 years. 

Employment 

 Domestic Violence was raised by 4 respondents 

o 2 respondents were generally in support of widening the criteria slightly, 

including: all people fleeing violence and violence of any kind not just 

domestic violence. 

 Street homelessness was raised by 1 respondent  

 Friends providing a local connection was raised by 2 respondents 

 2 respondents suggested extending the local connection from 2 years to 5 

 

 

2.2   Unacceptable Behaviour  
 
2.2.1 Respondents were asked to comment on the existing policy which restricts access to 

the housing register if they are considered to be unsuitable to be a tenant of the council 
due to their previous behaviour, i.e. 

 Significant current or former rent arrears amounting to more than £200.   

 Owing rechargeable repairs on a current or former tenancy  

 Owing significant (equivalent of more than one months) mortgage repayment   

 Serious nuisance/annoyance to neighbours - an offence of serious ASB 

 Unspent criminal convictions which makes the applicant/household unsuitable to be a 
tenant due to the threat they would pose to neighbours/the community. 

 Convicted of allowing current/former accommodation to be used for illegal and/or 
immoral purposes such as drug dealing. 

 Serious neglect, damage or abandonment of a previous property. 
 
 

Page 46



 5 

 
 
 

 Allowing landlords furniture, fittings and other installations to deteriorate due to ill 
treatment. 

 Abusive or threatening behaviour towards staff or partners providing accommodation 
under this policy. 

 Obtaining a tenancy by deception  

 Having lost previous employment linked accommodation due to misconduct 
 
 
 

71.07% of resondents agreed or 
strongly agreed with the policy of 
restricting entry onto the register to 
those demonstrating unacceptable 
behaviour. 

 
 Only 22.84% disagreed or 
strongly disagreed with this policy. 

 
 In addition, 1 paper form 

was received which disagreed with the 
policy. 

 
 
 
 
 
2.2.2 There were 87 comments by respondents including specifically: 

 25 respondents raised the issue that a blanket policy about arrears ruled out any 
consideration of issues such as: impact of welfare reform, redundancy, loss of job, 
rent increases etc – in other words arrears accrued as a result of no fault of their 
own  

 17 respondents thought the £200 arrears cap was too low and could all to easily be 
achieved over a couple of weeks. 3 respondents thought this should be £500 
arrears instead 

 Unacceptable behaviour was commented on by 32 respondents 
o 7 respondents felt more clarity was needed on this exception including: 

consideration of when people have moved on turning their lives around and 
consideration of how historic incidents are considered.  

o 16 respondents commented positively (in agreement) on the behaviour 
restrictions. 

o 7 respondents commented about the particular needs of young people, 
vulnerable people, people with mental health and leaning difficulties, how this 
can impact on behaviour and the need to take this into consideration. 

 
2.2.3 While, respondents were over-whelmingly in favour of the existing registration 

restrictions, officers did note the significant number of repeated comments about the 
level of the arrears limit, agreeing that £200 arrears can now be accrued extremely 
quickly. Officers agreed that housing market changes over time mean that a £200 
arrears limit is now too low and does not reflect current housing market rent/mortgage 
values.  

 
2.2.4 Further consultation with Registered Providers and the Council’s Welfare Rights 

Officers elicited the fact that the move over to Universal Credit is evidencing higher 
incidences of arrears as a result of the 5 week wait for benefit payments. More-over, 
many Registered Landlords are more interested in individuals’ circumstances and the 
fact that they can demonstrate their good tenancy commitment by engaging with 
repayment plans when arrears have been established. 

 
 

Page 47



 6 

 
 

 
 

Recommendation: 
 
2.2.3 Taking into consideration the outcomes of the consultation including Registered Providers and 

the Welfare Rights Service, officers recommend that there should be a focus on positive 
tenancy behaviour which demonstrates an applicant’s ability to be a good tenant.  

 
2.2.4    It should be noted that the disqualification criteria (unacceptable behaviour) influences who 

can and cannot register on Salford’s housing register. However, Registered Providers have 
their own allocations policies. Therefore, even if Salford City Council accepted applicants with 
higher levels of rent arrears onto the housing register, if they are not complying with a rent 
repayment plan many Registered Providers are likely to bypass these cases. 

 
2.2.5 In order to focus on positive tenancy behaviour the following changes to the rent arrears 

qualification criteria are recommended: 

 Applicants with arrears will be able to register on Salford Home Search if: 
o They have rent arrears of less than £500 and are able to demonstrate13 weeks 

engagement with an arrears repayment plan (or engagement from the 
commencement of the arrears if this is less than 13 weeks), or 

o They have rent arrears of between £500 and £750 and are able to demonstrate 
at least 19 weeks engagement with an arrears repayment plan (or engagement 
from the commencement of the arrears if this is less than 19 weeks). 

 
2.2.6 The anticipated impact of increasing the arrears limit and focussing on good tenancy behaviour 

is that those with a repeated history of failing to pay their rent (and not engaging with a 
repayment plan) and who are therefore considered to be unsuitable future tenants will be 
appropriately restricted from the register, while those who have experienced temporary/short 
term financial difficulties and/or have tried to engage with their landlord to try to pay the arrears 
off will more appropriately be able to apply for a more affordable home. This is in line with the 
‘Allocation of Accommodation: Guidance for Local Authorities in England’ in that this would 
‘allow for greater priority to be given to applicants who have been model tenants’.  

 
2.2.7  Officers did take note of the various comments about peoples extenuating circumstances 

impacting on the fairness of this aspect of the policy i.e. redundancy, loss of employment due 
to no fault of their own, impact of welfare reforms, engagement with repayment plans, historical 
behaviour followed by a subsequent good tenancy history and the impact of mental health 
problems and learning difficulties. It is noted that landlords (both private and social) endeavour 
to work with tenants when arrears start to accrue in order to remedy these and try to support 
tenants. It is in the best interests of landlords to do so as the eviction and re-letting process 
can be costly and timely. 

 
2.2.8 Officers consider that the existing review process does enable each case to be assessed on its 

own merits meaning that applicants do have the opportunity to put forward their case for 
consideration when they feel that there are extenuating circumstances of this kind and 
therefore no changes are recommended to this aspect of the policy. 

 
2.2.9 Application reviews will be considered on a case by case basis and if they are able to 

demonstrate their ability to be a suitable tenant/extenuating circumstances, then they will be 
considered for the register, this might include for example: 

 Having very significant rent arrears (above £750)  but engaging/complying with an 
arrears repayment plan for a reasonable period of time (i.e. 6 months) 

 Able to demonstrate a period (i.e. 6 months) of settled accommodation (post eviction), 
with compliant rent payments and good landlord references. 

Page 48



 7 

 
 

 
2.3 Bands 
 
2.3.1 Respondents were asked to comment on the current banding system applied  
         to Salford Homesearch and the proposed removal of Band A described below: 

 Band A: Applicants need to move due to regeneration taking place and the future 
demolition of their home – currently 10% of adverts are targeted here 

 Band B: Statutory homeless applicants  - currently 30% of adverts are targeted here 

 Band M: Applicants who need to move due to a disability and who require mobility 
accessible accommodation (i.e. wheelchair accessible, level access or a property 
with no more than a few steps) – all mobility accessible adverts are targeted here 

 Band C: All other housing need applications – currently 60% of all adverts are 
targeted here 

 
2.3.2 The banding system is not a prioritising system in itself: Applicants are prioritised for 

properties that they bid for dependent upon the number of priority points their 
application has been awarded and/or the length of time they have actively been 
registered on Salford Home Search, depending upon the band the application falls 
within. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
  
 
 
  
 
 
 

2.3.3 Respondents were also 
asked to comment on the proposed removal of Band A in order to develop a Direct  

 
 
 

 

 Able to demonstrate consistent engagement (over a period of time) with relevant 
services capable of supporting the applicant to maintain their own tenancy. 

 An inability to afford a previous tenancy due to no fault of the applicant (i.e. as a 
result of welfare changes or redundancy) and where the applicant can evidence 
engagement with their landlord. 

 A family member subject to/fleeing Domestic Abuse, where the home was lost due 
to the actions of a partner. 

 
2.2.11 This aspect of the Policy will be included as a particular focus in any future review of the 

Policy supported through regular data monitoring. 
 
2.2.12 Officers do recognise the need for more clarity on the review process and consideration of 

those extenuating circumstances and this will be incorporated into the revised policy and 
within Salford Home Search 

 

Page 49



 8 

Lettings Policy for the re-housing of households affected by regeneration, meaning that 
suitable properties would be directly let to those affected by regeneration outside of 
Salford Home Search. 

 
 
 
60.58% of respondents either agreed 
or strongly agreed with the removal 
of Band A replaced by a direct 
lettings policy. 
 
11.18% of respondents either 
disagreed or strongly disagreed with 
the proposal. 
 
In addition, 1 paper form was 
received which neither agreed nor 
disagreed. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
2.3.4 There was overall agreement (60.58%) that Band A regeneration applications should 

be removed and replaced by a Direct Lettings Policy. There were 80 comments about 
the existing banding system and proposed removal of Band A replaced by a direct 
lettings policy, in particular: 

 17 comments were broadly in agreement with the Policy 

 9 comments broadly disagreed with the Policy 

 11 different individual suggestions were made for changing the banding system  

 A significant number of comments demonstrated there is a lot of confusion and / or 
misunderstanding about how the banding system works. 
 

2.3.5 Currently, households affected by regeneration are rehoused in accommodation that 
they are assessed as requiring (i.e. the size of property required by their household) 
rather than like for like properties (i.e. they may be currently under occupying and have 
one bedroom more than they actually require). This means that someone could be re-
accommodated in a smaller property than the one they currently live in. Respondents 
were asked to comment on the current policy of rehousing regeneration applicants in 
homes they require rather than like for like homes: 

 39 respondents were generally in favour of this policy  

 9 respondents were generally in disagreement with this policy 

 The majority of responses felt that applicants individual circumstances needed to be 
taken into consideration i.e. disabilities affecting space needs or overnight carers, 
when assessing the size of property required. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 50



 9 

Recommendations: 
 

2.3.8 Acknowledging the outcomes of the consultation, officers considered that the existing system 
(with the exception of Band A) worked well. Officers consider that the existing banding system 
is effective and no clear amendments present themselves to effectively improve on the current 
arrangement. 

 
2.3.9   The existing Band A will be removed and replaced by a Direct Lettings Policy, which will better 

enable suitable properties to be let to residents in a timely manner, when they are subject to 
regeneration activity where possession of the existing property is required. 
 

2.3.10 Officers are of the view that with the removal of Band A (replaced by a Direct Lettings Policy) 
the bands will need to be more clearly renamed to avoid any confusion: 

 Band C will be known as = General Housing Needs category 

 Band B will be known as = Full Statutory Homeless Duty (s.193) category 

 Band M will be known as = Accessible Accommodation category 
 
Many members of the public assume/believe that the banding system prioritises applications. 
Some Authorities do use bands in this way. However, this is not the case in Salford. 
As a result there is an element of ‘band chasing’. It is hoped that by renaming the bands in this 
way, band chasing will reduce, it also helps provide clarity around what the categories are for. 
 

2.3.11 In line with the 39 respondents who broadly agreed (compared to 9 respondents who 
disagreed), the Direct Lettings Policy will offer those residents subject to possession due to 
regeneration an offer based on the residents housing needs rather than like for like 
replacement based on their existing property, enabling best use of these limited resources. 

 
2.3.12 The Direct Lettings Policy will incorporate the ability to consider individuals extenuating 

circumstances such as those based on health grounds, need for an overnight carer, shared 
child caring arrangements etc. 

 
 
 

 

 

2.4 Priority Points 
 
2.4.1 Respondents were asked to comment on the current allocation of points to Bands C 

and M:  

 The current tenure is insecure (1 point) 

 A need to move due to none physical medical needs (1 point) 

 Overcrowding (1 point) 

 Under occupying, social tenants only  (1 point) 

 The applicant needs to move to receive or give care and support (1 point) 

 A child leaving care where Salford are the corporate parent (2 points)  

 Threatened with homelessness (2 points  - time limited for 6 months)  

 Ready to move from supported housing to independent housing (2 points) 

 The applicant is an approved Foster Carer  (2 points) 

 A previous member of the armed forces (½ point per full year of service) 

 Exceptional circumstances management points (1 point - time limited for 6 months) 

 

2.4.2 Applications are prioritised for properties that they bid for by: the priority points awarded 
and then by the length of time that their application has been registered and active on 
Salford Homesearch.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



 10 

Recommendation: 
 

2.4.8   While 69 comments were received on this aspect of the policy. The suggestions were  
            ad hoc suggestions from individual respondents. 

 
2.4.9    In line with the majority of respondents who agreed with the existing system of awarding   

priority points there is no proposed change to this aspect of the policy. 
 

2.4.10 The award of priority points enables those cases in General Housing Need/Accessible 
Housing Need with numerous needs to be prioritised over those with singular needs, thus 
ensuring that those in greatest need are prioritised for this extremely scarce resource. 

 
2.4.11 The risks associated with introducing more classifications/client groups for priority points is 

that that by doing so no-one is effectively prioritised for what is an extremely scarce resource. 

 
 

 
69.28% of respondents 
either strongly agreed or 
agreed with the current 
system for awarding priority 
points. 

 
10.45% either disagreed or 
strongly disagreed with the 
current priority points 
system. 

 
In addition, 1 paper form was 
received which disagreed 
with the award of priority 
points. 

 
 
2.4.3 At Cabinet briefing members enquired about the priority given to under occupying 

households and whether this sufficiently reflects the appropriate priority that should be 
given to these cases. Currently households are awarded 1 priority point for each room 
that they under occupy. Officers are of the view that this appropriately prioritises under 
occupied households in line with and when compared to other reasons why households 
may need to move home. Depending upon the level of under occupation this can 
potentially give the household greater priority than a range of other applicants in 
housing need. 

 
2.4.4 The Authority also needs to be mindful of statutory requirements and the need to 

ensure that ‘Reasonable Preference’ groups (as defined by the law) are given 

reasonable preference. It should be noted that under occupation is not a defined 

Reasonable Preference group.  

 

2.4.5 Some Registered Providers do support their customers to downsize where they are in 

hardship (i.e. affected by the under occupancy charge) or when there is a need to free 

up high demand properties through downsizing. Mutual exchange is also often 

available to these households. 

 

2.4.6 Taking all the above into consideration Officers are of the view that the appropriate 

level of priority is already awarded to those households who are under-occupying.  

 

 

 

 

Page 52



 11 

 
 
2.5 Advertisement Targets 
 
2.5.1 Respondents were asked to comment on the targets for advertisements in each Band  

and the proposed changes if Band A were to be removed and replaced by a direct 
lettings policy: (*As at June 2018) 

 
 From                                              To 
 
10% Band A   (*21 applicants)        Replaced with a direct lettings policy 
30% Band B   (*50 applicants)        35% band B 

   60% Band C   (*4302 applicants)    65% band C 
   All mobility accessible properties being advertised in band M (*1324 applicants) 
 

2.5.2 There were 40 comments in response to this question. 

 9 respondents were broadly in agreement with the proposal 

 6 respondents were broadly in disagreement with the proposal 

 A range of other comments unrelated to this question were raised in this section. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Recommendations: 
 
2.5.3 In line with the majority of respondents who agreed overall, officers propose to amend the 

property advertisement targets as detailed above. 
 
2.5.4 This enables the largest proportion of lets to be advertised to the largest proportion  

of applicants in housing need, while ensuring that Statutory Homeless applicants are sufficiently 
prioritised to enable the Authority to appropriately discharge its housing duty, while trying to keep 
the cost to the Council of temporary accommodation at a minimum. This approach also ensures 
that scarce accessible accommodation is also prioritised for those who need it. 

Page 53



 12 

 
 
 
2.6 One offer rule 
 
2.6.1 Respondents were asked to comment on the current one offer rule, where applicants 

who refuse an offer of suitable accommodation, without good reason, will be removed 
from the housing register, and are able to reapply 12 months later. 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
2.6.2 This aspect of the policy was the most contentious with equal numbers of respondents  

agreeing and disagreeing. There were 87 comments received about this policy, in 
particular: 

 18 respondents made new proposals mainly focussing on: 
o More (2 or 3) opportunities for offers being made available before    

suspension 
o The suspension period being reduced to 6 months 

 17 comments were largely in agreement with this policy. 

 33 comments were largely in disagreement with this policy. 
 

2.6.3 The rationale for the one suitable offer approach is: 

 The need and demand for social (affordable) housing in Salford is incredibly high, 
while its availability is extremely low, being a scarce resource with minimal 
turnover.  

 Statutory homeless applicants only receive one suitable offer by law 

 Applicants should only be bidding on suitable properties appropriate for their housing 
needs.  

 Applicants have 5 days from the date of advertisement to the final bidding date within 
which to consider the property and visit its location before bidding on it. 

 There is a review process which enables applicants to explain why they feel that the 
offer of accommodation was not suitable for their needs and if upheld enables the 
applicant to be made a further offer of accommodation. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 54



 13 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Recommendations: 
 
2.6.4 Officers considered the implications of increasing the number of offers made including: 

 Longer waiting times for rehousing across all categories of applicants 

 Increased costs for IT development and staff resources resulting from additional systems 
required to monitor the number of offers made  

 Increased costs to housing providers: 
o Increased void and rental loss to housing providers 
o Impacts on staffing resources in terms of duplicate administration process, viewings and 

sign ups etc 
 

2.6.5 However, Officers were aware of the strong political drive and public feedback for an increase 
in the number of offers and therefore, sought additional comment from the City’s Registered 
Provider partners on the potential to increase the number of offers to applicants. Of the 8 
Registered Providers who responded only 1 was fundamentally against the proposal citing an 
anticipated impact on resources for allocating, viewing & sign up of properties.  This 
organisation believed that it was highly likely that an increase in offer numbers could also 
increase re-let times, reduce performance and increase rent loss (due to void properties) with a 
negative impact on neighbourhoods, as properties lay empty for a longer. The potential 
consequential increases in costs to the business from removal of fly-tipping, potential higher 
anti-social behaviour and costs of securing properties was also noted. 

 
2.6.6   The issues were discussed with the Lead Member for Housing and despite the above potential 

implications a decision was made to recommend an increase in the number of offers that could 
be made to an applicant from 1 to 2. 

 
2.6.7 The reasons for this were:  

 2 offers constitutes better ‘choice’ for customers 

 Supporting the development of sustainable neighbourhoods – if applicants are satisfied with 
their accommodation they are more likely to remain, set down roots and engage with the 
community in a positive way. 

 Housing has a massive impact on health and well-being and satisfaction with housing will 
contribute to improved feelings of satisfaction overall and promote mental health and wellbeing 
generally. 

 This is not considered unreasonable despite the very short supply of available social housing in 
Salford. 

 
2.6.8 There will need to be special provision made for statutory homelessness cases as follows: 

 Full duty statutory homeless (s.193) cases will still only receive one offer of suitable 
accommodation which will bring the homelessness duty and any temporary accommodation 
provided as part of that duty to an end – in line with homelessness law/guidance. 

 All such cases will then be moved to the equivalent Band C – General Housing Needs category 
(and allocated the relevant points to represent their new housing needs) within Salford Home 
Search and where they can receive a further offer of accommodation in line with the 2 offer 
rule.   

 
2.6.9. However, in a small number of cases (less than 10 annually are estimated) there may be 

privately renting applicants who (after having gone through the Prevention Duty) are still 
pending legal action from their landlord to end their tenancy, a situation which can potentially 
continue into the ‘long term’. In these cases management credits will be awarded for a further 
period of 6 months. After 6 months the points will be removed. This may effectively remove any 
further qualification on the housing register if no other housing needs exist. These applicants 
will be provided with advice and information about the private rented sector including the Rental 
Bond Scheme 
 

 

Page 55



 14 

 
 
 
 
 
2.6.10 It is noted that members are eager to support applicants when they wish to live in a 

particular area of Salford to be close to social networks and non-statutory homeless 
applicants are free to bid on offers of their choosing, while the introduction of 2 offers 
helps to support this choice. 

 
2.7.10 Applicants who are owed a statutory housing duty (including Prevention, Relief and 

Main housing duties) do have bids placed on their behalf and there are occasions 
when these may not be as close to existing social networks as individuals may wish.  
Officers have to balance an applicant’s desire to be close to existing social networks 
and the limited availability of social housing in the city, but always take into 
consideration the statutory requirements detailed within the ‘Homelessness Code 
Guidance for Local Authorities’. 

 
 
2.7 Homelessness Reduction Act 

 
2.7.1 Respondents were asked to comment about proposed changes in response to the 

introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017: 
a. The award of homelessness prevention points x 2 for those who qualify for a 

statutory homelessness ‘prevention duty’ 

b. The additional award of homelessness relief points x 1 for those who qualify 

for a statutory ‘relief duty’ 

c. Removal of the prevention points and relief points at the end of the relief duty 

and: 

i. Those cases who qualify for a ‘full’ statutory homelessness duty will be 

placed in Band B 

ii. Those cases who do not qualify for a ‘full’ statutory homelessness duty 

will be placed in Band C 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2.7.2 There were 41 comments from respondents on these proposals, in particular: 

 8 respondents were broadly in agreement with this policy 

 6 respondents were broadly in disagreement with this policy 

 A range of other comments unrelated to this question were raised in this section. 

Page 56



 15 

 
 
 

 
 
2.8 Changes in Circumstances and Priority 
 
2.8.1 During the course of analysing the consultation it became clear that there was 

disparity in how some full statutory homeless duty (s.193) cases were being dealt 
with on Salford Home Search. 
 

2.8.2 Previously when General Housing Needs applicants’ circumstances changed 
resulting in their homelessness and a move to Band B (full housing statutory 
homeless duty) they would ordinarily have retained their original housing registration 
date. 
 

2.8.3 This would mean that they could have greater priority for re-housing than other full 
statutory homeless duty cases, who had actually been homeless for longer, 
regardless of the fact that their original housing need may have had nothing to do 
with their new homeless status. 
 

2.8.4 Officer’s felt that this delivered an inequitable service to homeless applicants and that 
the homelessness decision date would be a much fairer approach to awarding priority 
for rehousing in this band, in line with all other statutory homeless cases. 
 

2.8.5 Legal advice was sought on the need to consult further on any proposed change to 
this and the legal advice obtained was that Section 166A (13) Housing Act 1996 
states that:-  

 
 
 

 
Recommendations: 
 
2.7.1 Officers recommend the introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act changes: 

o 2 x prevention points to s.195 Prevention Duty cases 
o an additional 1 point to s.189 Relief Duty cases 
o Removal of all prevention and relief points on discharge of the relief duty 
o Applications retained in the General Housing Needs category or moved to the Full 

Housing Statutory Homelessness Duty Category, dependent upon individual’s 
homelessness status under Part VII, Housing Act 1996. 

 
2.7.2 The implications of these proposals are; 

 Applicants with a Prevention Duty (and threatened with homelessness) will have a greater 
opportunity to be rehoused sooner and thus reduce the potential for them to become 
homeless, including all the associated costs that accompany homelessness. 

 Applicants with a Relief Duty (who are homeless) will have a greater opportunity to be 
rehoused sooner and thus reduce the length of time that they are homeless, along with the 
associated costs that accompany homelessness. 

 A reduction in the number of Section 193 Full Statutory Homelessness Duty cases with 
associated reduction in: the use of B&B and housing benefit subsidy costs to the Council. 

 Those owed a full section 193 Statutory Homelessness Duty at the end of the Prevention 
and Relief Duties will be prioritised in line with all other full statutory homeless cases – 
ensuring equity. 

 If the Prevention and Relief duties come to an end and the applicant is not owed a full 
statutory homelessness duty (if they are not in priority need, as defined by the law, or are 
intentionally homeless) they will be able to bid on suitable properties along with all other 
General Housing Needs applicants, as appropriate. 

 This supports the Local Authority to deliver and discharge its statutory duties. 

Page 57



 16 

 
Recommendations: 
 
2.8.7   Officers recommend that when a Band C/General Housing Needs category applicant  

experiences a change in their circumstances and becomes a full statutory homeless duty 
case, requiring a move to Band B/ Full Statutory Homeless category in Salford Home  
Search, then the date giving their application housing priority should be changed from 
the original housing registration date to the homelessness decision date, in line with all 
other statutory homeless cases. 

 
2.8.8 This will provide a more equitable and transparent service for all full duty statutory  

homeless (s.193) cases, ensuring those who have been homeless the longest (from the 
point of duty award) are given priority for rehousing. 

 
 
 
 

‘Before adopting an allocation scheme, or proposed alteration, to their scheme 
reflecting a major change of policy, a local housing authority in England must-- 

 
(a) send a copy of the draft scheme, or proposed alteration, to every private 
registered provider of social housing and registered social landlord with which they 
have nomination arrangements, and 
(b) afford those persons a reasonable opportunity to comment on the proposals.’ 

 
2.8.6 Therefore, all Registered Providers were contacted and asked to comment on the 

issues, the potential positive/negative impacts, benefits and disadvantages to both 
their own organisations and applicants of the proposed change. 8 Registered 
Housing Providers responded and all were in agreement that the proposal was a 
fairer and more transparent approach to prioritising homeless cases for rehousing. No 
adverse implications were identified for Registered Housing Providers or applicants, 
particularly in view of their change in circumstances which necessitated a re-
assessment of their priority. 

 

 
 

2.9 Financial implications 
 
2.9.1  The recommended changes will result in some direct ICT costs for  

development of the Salford Home Search system to enable these changes including: 

 Capacity to monitor and implement the 2 offer policy 

 Capacity to monitor and implement the change of date for general housing 
needs category applications if moved to the statutory homeless category 

 Capacity to monitor and implement Relief points as appropriate. 
 
2.9.2 The digital and business solutions team advise that this work will take in the  

region of 3 weeks at £390 per day, at a total of approximately £5,850. 
 

2.9.3 Officers and partners recognise that any allocations policy will have wider impacts 
such as those on staffing, resources, letting/void times etc. However, it is extremely 
difficult to quantify these wider impacts in more detail, in relation to the 
recommendations other than the estimates provided. It is suggested therefore that a 
review of this amended Allocations Policy is completed within 3 years of its 
implementation which is recommended as soon as the IT changes can be 
implemented which is estimated to be June 2019. 

 

 
 

Page 58



 17 

 
 
 
 
KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:  
Homelessness Strategy 
Housing Strategy 

 
 
EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 
Yes 

 
 
ASSESSMENT OF RISK:  
 
Medium.  
 
Failure to adopt the policy recommendations within this paper will not mean that the 
existing Allocations Scheme is unlawful. However, the changes proposed are 
intended to make the current policy sustainable given the enormous challenges of 
increasing demand and reduced supply of accommodation in the city, including new 
statutory duties brought about by new homelessness legislation. 
 
The proposals are a response to the need, demand and availability of social housing 
in the City. 
 
It is considered inevitable that changes to the Allocations Policy must be made in the 
immediate future if the Council’s scheme is to remain fit for purpose given the 
challenges which are faced by the city.  
 

 
 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Anthony Clarke (0161 234 4219) advises that  
there are no legal considerations. The policy appears to be well drafted and appears 
to cover all necessary aspects. 

 

 
 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:  Paul Hutchings Strategic Finance 
Manager (x2574) 
 
As identified in the main body of the report there is a direct cost in terms of the 
development and implementation of the Salford Home Search system estimated to 
cost in the region of £5,850.  Further work is required to identify the wider financial 
implications of implementing the proposed Allocations Policy.  Whilst there is a wider 
understanding that the proposed changes to the Allocations Policy will have financial 
implications it is extremely difficult to quantify these at this time.  The relevant budget 
areas will continue to be closely monitored following the implementation of the 
Allocations Policy.

 
 
PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 
 

 
HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 

Page 59



 18 

 
 
 
 
 
OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: People and Place  

 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Julie Craik X 2143 

 
 
WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: All 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 60



Salford City Council’s Allocation Scheme 2019

Page 61



Contents

1. Introduction
1.1 Policy aims and objectives
1.2 Legal Framework
1.3 Related Strategies
1.4 Statement on choice
1.5 Equality of opportunity

2. Eligibility and Qualification
2.1 Eligibility criteria
2.2 Qualifying criteria
2.3 Who is not a qualifying person?
2.4 Local connection
2.5 Unacceptable behaviour
2.6 Deliberate worsening of circumstances

3. How Applicants are Assessed
3.1 Initial assessment
3.2 Verification of information 
3.3 Stage two – banding of applicants
3.4 The Points system
3.5 Transfers for existing tenants
3.6 Data protection
3.7 False statements

4. How the Housing Register Will Work
4.1 Definition of an allocation
4.2 How properties are allocated
4.3 Bids and Offers: How many bids can an applicant make and how many 

offers of suitable accommodation can an applicant refuse?
4.4 Nominations from registered providers not partners in Salford Home 

Search
4.5 How the size of property required will be decided
4.6 Property types

Page 62



4.7 Joint applicants
4.8 Direct allocations (Discretionary allocations)
4.9 Local lettings policies

5. Administration of the scheme 
5.1 Applicants who are ineligible or who do not qualify
5.2 Decision making
5.3 Requests for information 
5.4 Changes in circumstances
5.5 Cancellation of applications
5.6  Reviews
5.7 Complaints

6. Monitoring and Review

Page 63



1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Policy aims and objectives

The Housing Act 1996 requires a local housing authority to have a scheme 
which sets out how housing is allocated within the area, how applicants on the 
housing register are prioritised and to publish a summary of that scheme.

Salford City Council (“the council”) is the local housing authority and this 
scheme was initially developed in 2015 following a full consultation process 
including:

 Working group meetings with Elected Members 
 Consideration of other local authorities’ allocations policies 
 Public consultation 
 Dedicated briefing sessions with partners
 A briefing to Elected Members

On 8th September 2015 the Assistant Mayor for Housing and Environment 
approved eleven of twelve proposed options, delaying the introduction of a 
final option for a period of 12 months, subject to an assessment of its impact.

In 2018 a decision was taken to review the Allocations Policy and update this 
to reflect the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 in order to support delivery of 
the Authorities new statutory duties to homeless applicants. As part of this 
process a public consultation was conducted (including a focus group with 
Registered Providers).

This Allocations Policy has been approved by the City Mayor in consultation 
with Cabinet on 26th March 2019.

As a minimum the Policy will be reviewed every 5 years, but this will be 
expedited in response to changes in legislation, statutory guidance or 
significant changes in local housing markets.

This policy applies only to residential lettings. Commercial lettings and sales of 
low cost homeownership products are beyond the scope of this policy.

Page 64



The council retains full responsibility for the scheme delivered through Salford 
Home Search and will be responsible for amendments and consultation 
processes. 

The policy is based on the following principles:

 To have a fair system for the allocation of housing accommodation, 
which is transparent and easy to understand

 To make best use of increasingly scarce social1 housing stock
 To prevent homelessness
 To give priority to applicants with the greatest housing need
 To manage customer expectations by supporting people to make 

realistic and informed choices about where they live
 To create sustainable tenancies in the light of welfare reform
 To create balanced and stable communities

The scheme seeks to achieve these aims by:

 Ensuring housing accommodation is allocated to the most appropriate 
person

 Supporting under-occupiers to downsize into accommodation more 
suitable for their needs

 Ensuring adapted and accessible properties are allocated to the person 
in greatest need of that accommodation

 Ensuring people move from supported accommodation to independent 
living in a timely way

 Encouraging partners to undertake affordability assessments for 
prospective tenants to ensure they can meet their housing costs prior to 
being successful for a tenancy

 Creating communities which support the local economy
 Reducing the risk of anti-social behaviour

The council will deliver the scheme as part of a housing options approach that 
will identify those people in greatest need and provide advice on a range of 
options to access suitable accommodation.  The option used will be dependent 

1 Homes available for rent below market rate to households who’s needs cannot be met by the commercial 
housing market (Housing and Regeneration Act 2008)

Page 65



upon individual circumstances, level of need and the choices people express 
with regard to receiving support from the council and other agencies.  Options 
may include:

 Help and support to remain in current accommodation
 Advice on securing alternative private rented accommodation
 Advice on mobility schemes that may help a household move out of the 

area
 Advice to current social housing tenants on mutual exchange
 Advice on low cost home ownership options

The allocation of Extra Care housing sits outside the scope of this Allocations 
Policy. Extra Care Housing provides a combination of supported housing and 
Care Quality Commission regulated Adult Social Care services on site. This 
provision includes self-contained accommodation located within an Extra Care 
Housing scheme which has access to a range of shared facilities. 

The Care Act requires Local Authorities to carry out an assessment where there 
is the appearance of need for care and support. If eligible care needs are 
identified then the Authority is required to meet those needs. Extra Care 
Housing is a means of meeting care needs.

As Extra Care Housing is an approach to meeting individuals care and housing 
needs, applications for/referrals to Extra Care Housing are restricted to Adult 
Social Care Services for a person with eligible needs, and therefore 
advertisements and lettings to Extra Care are not included in Salford’s choice 
based lettings scheme delivered by Salford Home search. As such there is also 
an exception to the Allocation Scheme residency criteria in that the applicant 
must be resident in Salford at the time of the referral for Extra Care Housing 
and must have eligible assessed care and support needs.

The Authority reserves the right to place people with assessed social care 
needs into those Extra Care Housing schemes that are located within the local 
authority boundary of Salford.

Page 66



1.2 Legal Framework

The Housing Act 1996, part 6 (“the Act”) requires the council to make all 
allocations of housing accommodation in accordance with a published scheme.  
This document is the full scheme, a summary of this scheme is available free of 
charge to anyone who asks for a copy, and can be found on the council’s web 
site at https://www.salford.gov.uk/housing/strategies-policies-and-
partnerships/strategies/.

The Act provides the framework for allocating housing accommodation, and 
defines categories of people who must be given Reasonable Preference when 
allocating accommodation.  These categories are called the ‘Reasonable 
Preference categories’, (see section 3.3 below).  

The Act also requires the council to outline its position with regard to giving 
applicants choice on the housing offer or to allow households to make a 
statement of preference on the area in which they wish to live.

The provisions of the Localism Act 2011 allow the council the freedom to 
determine who qualifies for housing accommodation in its area, and develop 
solutions, which make best use of its social housing stock.  

Although the Localism Act maintained the Reasonable Preference categories, 
which ensures priority for social housing is given to those in greatest need, it 
also creates opportunities for the council to better manage its housing register 
to meet local need and prevent people without a housing need from joining 
the register.  

‘Guidance for Local Authorities in England on the Allocation of 
Accommodation’ was published by the Department for Communities and Local 
Government in June 2012.  Local authorities are required to have regard to this 
guidance when exercising their functions under Part 6 of the 1996 Act.  

‘Providing social housing for local people: statutory guidance on social housing 
allocations for local authorities in England’ was published by the Department 
for Communities and Local Government in December 2013.  Local authorities 
are required to have regard to this guidance when exercising their functions 
under Part 6 of the 1996 Act.  

Page 67



‘Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Right to Move)(England) 
Regulations’ 2015 and the ‘Right to Move: statutory guidance on social housing 
allocations for local housing authorities in England’ 2015 provides for an 
exclusion from local connection qualification requirements where there is a 
work-related ‘right to move’.

More-over, the ‘Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Armed 
Forces)(England) Regulations 2012’ and the ‘Housing Act 1996 (Additional 
Preference for Armed Forces) (England) Regulations 2012 require that Local 
Housing Authorities do not apply a local connection but do apply a Reasonable 
Preference to: persons who have served in the armed forces (or have done so 
in the 5 years preceding their application), bereaved spouses or civil partners 
where the death of their partner was (in part or whole) attributable to their 
service and they are  no longer entitled to reside in ministry of defence 
accommodation and certain (former) reservists who are serious injured, ill or 
disabled as a result of (or in part due to) their service.

The ‘Allocation of Housing (Procedure) Regulations 1997’, prescribes that an 
Elected Member shall not, at the time the allocation decision is made, be 
included in the decision-making body where the housing accommodation in 
question is in his electoral division or ward, or the person to whom the housing 
may be allocated resides in that division or ward.

Furthermore, this policy has been informed by the

 ‘Allocation of Housing (England) Regulations 2002’,
 ‘Immigration (European Economic Area) Regulations 2006’ 
 Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) 

Regulations 2006  
 Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Miscellaneous Provisions) 

(England) Regulations 2006
which provide advice on those who are eligible and ineligible for an 
allocation of housing accommodation.
 Improving access to social housing for victims of domestic abuse 

guidance 2018

Page 68



1.3 Related Strategies

In developing this policy the following local strategies have been taken into 
account:

 Housing Strategy
 Tenancy Strategy
 Homelessness Strategy 

1.4 Statement on Choice 

This policy recognises the importance of allowing applicants to express a 
preference for the area that they would like to live in and the type of property.  
However this policy also recognises that social housing is a scarce resource and 
that it will not be possible to offer applicants unlimited choice.

Section 176A of the Act requires the allocation scheme to describe the 
council’s policy about offering applicants choice over where to live.  This 
should not be confused with applicants having a ‘right’ to choose or express 
preferences on where to live, for which there is no legal requirement.

Applicants must satisfy both the qualification and the eligibility criteria in order 
to be registered.

The Allocation Scheme allows customers to express a preference for both area 
and property type.  Salford Home Search is a choice based lettings scheme. 
Partner landlords advertise properties on a weekly basis and applicants 
registered with the scheme are able to express an interest in and bid for up to 
three properties each week. However, this does not mean that applicants can 
refuse up to 3 properties. Applicants are expected to accept any reasonable 
offer of accommodation suitable for their households needs.  Two refusal’s of 
suitable offer’s without good reason will result in removal from the housing 
register for a period of 12 months.  Applicants will have the right to request a 
review of the decision to remove their application from the register.  (See 
Reviews section 5.6).

Information about the profile and availability of social housing stock will be 
made available on a 12 monthly basis on the Council’s website at 

https://www.salford.gov.uk/housing/find-a-home-including-social-
housing/renting-a-home/renting-from-a-council-or-housing-association/

Page 69



1.5 Equality of Opportunity

Statement

Salford City Council is committed to providing quality housing and services to 
our customers.  The council recognises its statutory duties under the Equalities 
Act 2010 to ensure that no person will receive less favourable treatment than 
others because of age, disability, race, religion or belief, sex, marriage or civil 
partnership, pregnancy or maternity, sexual orientation or gender 
reassignment. 

In addition, Salford City Council has also taken into consideration the 
provisions of the Disability Discrimination Act 2005. This policy seeks to ensure 
that all disabled people are allocated housing in a fair and equitable way. 
Furthermore, to this end the categories system (explained in more detail in 
Section 3.3) and the advertisements of all accessible homes within the 
Accessible Accommodation Category ensures that those with physical 
disabilities who require specific mobility accessible homes are properly 
assessed and this scarce resource is properly allocated to those who need it.

It is the aim of Salford City Council to ensure that our services are fair and 
equitable for all our customers who may utilise them and we want our services 
to be accessible to everyone. The council will not tolerate any unfair or 
unlawful discrimination that provides a lower standard of service to any group 
or individual.

This Policy enables the delivery of a consistent and equitable approach to the 
allocation of social housing in Salford, ensuring that cases are dealt with in a 
consistent and fair approach, in line with national guidance.

In addition, officers administrating the policy will monitor offer bypasses 
(when landlords do not offer accommodation to the winning bidder because of 
concerns about {for example} references, behaviour, criminal convictions, 
arrears or the suitability of the property) to ensure that applicants cases are 
being dealt with in an equitable way and that landlords are not discriminating 
against individuals unfairly. Any concerns will be addressed either directly with 
the landlord or through the monthly Choice Based Lettings Partnership 
Meeting.

Page 70



In line with the ‘Allocation of Housing (Procedure) Regulations 1997’ Elected 
Members are restricted from becoming involved with individual housing 
allocations. Furthermore, to ensure that consistent and equitable approach 
officers of the Council (outside of those administering the policy) are also 
restricted from becoming involved with housing allocations.

Housing advice and information can be obtained free of charge from the 
Housing Options Service, 7 Wesley Street, Swinton, M27 6AD. Telephone 
interpreter services are available for those who need this and the service will 
take into account any special needs making special arrangements for the 
delivery of advice/information as appropriate i.e. use of sign interpreters, large 
font and tailored advice for specific client groups.

An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed to ensure that this policy: 
does not discriminate against any equality groups, but does enhance equality 
of opportunity. The Equality Impact Assessment can be found at: 
https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/corporate-information/equality-and-
cohesion/community-impact-assessments/

2. ELIGIBILITY AND QUALIFICATION 

2.1 Eligibility Criteria

The Act and associated legislation states that some applicants are not eligible 
for an allocation of social housing (except for certain existing social housing 
tenants including those seeking a transfer who are to be given Reasonable 
Preference).  

Eligible households are currently those who:
 Have no restrictions on their right to enter and/or remain in the UK (e.g. 

British citizens), and
 Who are also habitually resident in the Common Travel Area.

Page 71

https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/corporate-information/equality-and-cohesion/community-impact-assessments/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/corporate-information/equality-and-cohesion/community-impact-assessments/


EEA nationals

To be eligible for housing, EEA nationals must have a right to reside in the UK:

 A right to reside can be gained by EEA workers and self-employed 
people.

 In some cases, people who are temporarily unable to work are also 
eligible: see EEA workers and self-employed people.

 Other EEA nationals who are studying or self-sufficient may also be 
eligible in some circumstances but will have to pass the habitual 
residence test.

 Family members of eligible EEA nationals are usually eligible to be 
included on an application, even when they are not themselves EEA 
nationals.

Some rights to reside, such as those for people looking for work who have 
never worked, or who have previously left the labour market, do not make 
people eligible.

People from outside the EEA

Citizens of countries from outside the EEA are generally subject to immigration 
control and need permission to enter or remain in the UK. The eligibility rules 
for England say that only some people subject to immigration control are 
eligible:

 Refugees, people with discretionary leave, humanitarian protection or 
exceptional leave following an application for asylum, and people 
brought to the UK on the special settlement programme for Afghan 
interpreters are eligible provided their leave does not include a public 
funds restriction.

 People with indefinite leave to remain are eligible (with some 
exceptions) but have to pass the habitual residence test.

Generally, people with other forms of limited leave to remain are not eligible.

Ineligible households currently are:

 People from abroad who are subject to immigration control (and who 
have a restriction on them to enter and/or remain in the UK) within the 
meaning of the Asylum and Immigration Act 1996 unless they fall into 

Page 72

https://www.housing-rights.info/EEA-nationals.php
https://www.housing-rights.info/02_4_EEA_workers.php
https://www.housing-rights.info/02_4_EEA_workers.php
https://www.housing-rights.info/02_4_EEA_workers.php
https://www.housing-rights.info/02_5_Other_EEA_nationals.php
https://www.housing-rights.info/02_6_EEA_family_members.php
https://www.housing-rights.info/02_2_Refugees.php
https://www.housing-rights.info/02_2_Refugees.php
https://www.housing-rights.info/02_3_ILR.php
https://www.housing-rights.info/habitual-residence-test.php
https://www.housing-rights.info/02_9_Work_permit_holders.php


one of the categories of people set out in regulations who are allowed to 
apply.

 Other classes of people from abroad  whom the Secretary of State has 
prescribed as being ineligible for the allocation of social housing by local 
authorities in England. 

Eligibility for an allocation may change over time therefore acceptance on to 
the register does not guarantee that the person will be allocated 
accommodation.  Eligibility will be confirmed again at the point of 
consideration of making an offer of accommodation.  Where a person’s 
circumstances have changed and they are no longer eligible, their application 
will be removed from the housing register.  

2.2 Qualifying Criteria 

Applicants aged under 16 years of age do not qualify.

Applicants aged 16 or 17 years will be able to register an application with 
Salford Home Search but it will be suspended until they reach their 18th 
birthday.  Exceptions may be made for example, young people leaving care, 
however this will only apply where appropriate support is in place to assist the 
young person with sustaining a tenancy and the young person agrees to accept 
the support.

People (regardless of their existing tenure)2 are qualifying people if they are 
not excluded by statute or another part of this policy and fall into one of the 
following categories:

 People who have been assessed as being in housing need and who 
belong to one of the statutory Reasonable Preference groups

 People who are under-occupying social housing
 People who are living in temporary or supported accommodation in the 

city.  This will usually be accommodation provided where the person is 
homeless and has no other accommodation available to them and the 
intention of the accommodation provider and of the person is that they 
will be resettled to alternative accommodation when any support needs 

2 This policy applies to existing tenants of social housing, privately renting tenants and owner occupiers, where 
they meet eligibility and qualifying criteria.

Page 73



have been met.  It includes move-on supported accommodation funded 
by Mental Health Services.

 People who have served in the Armed Forces
 Care leavers  who have been the responsibility of Salford City Council
 Households where the addition of some priority to their application will 

prevent them from becoming homeless
 Foster carers approved by the local authority
 Households where a child/children are assessed as being in need or on a 

Child Protection Plan and alternative accommodation is required to 
safeguard the child/children

 Applicants who can demonstrate a community connection by 
volunteering for a minimum of 16 hours per month for a registered 
charity, a recognised community group or a not for profit organisation. 

2.3 Who is not a qualifying person?

In addition to being in housing need the council has decided that criteria 
relating to local connection and unacceptable behaviour will also be taken into 
account before a person can register with Salford Home Search.

2.4 Local Connection

In order to ensure that the needs of the local community are met, a person 
who does not have a local connection to Salford is not a qualifying person 
under this scheme.

The local connection requirement does not apply to certain existing social 
housing tenants who are to be given Reasonable Preference because of a need 
to move to a particular locality in the authority’s district, where failure to meet 
that need would cause hardship; and has a need to move for work-related 
reasons , as set out in regulations.  Applicants should seek detailed advice if 
this might apply to them.

For the purposes of this Allocations scheme a local connection is defined 
below.  

Residence: the applicant must have lived in Salford in settled accommodation 
for a period of 2 years.  

Page 74



Employment: the applicant must have a contract of permanent employment 
and work within the city.  It is not sufficient that the employers’ head office is 
located within the city or that the applicant is seeking work.  The applicant 
must have been in continuous employment for a period of 6 months. The 
employment can be full-time, part-time, zero hour contract or self-employed.

Family association: the applicant must have an active established relationship 
with a parent, adult sibling or adult child living in Salford in settled 
accommodation for a minimum of five years.

Former asylum seekers: the applicant will have a local connection to Salford if 
their application for asylum was determined whilst living in accommodation in 
Salford provided under section 95 of the Asylum and Immigration Act 1996 and 
they have been granted the right to remain.

Other special circumstances: there may be circumstances (raised by an 
applicant) that do not meet any of the above criteria but on consideration the 
applicant is deemed to have a local connection.  These cases will be considered 
on a case by case basis and the decision will be made by the Service Manager.  
Such circumstances might include, but are not limited to:

 Applicants fleeing violence and to whom the local authority owe a duty 
because they are homeless

 Applicants who are not currently resident in Salford but who need to 
move in order to give or receive care and support

 Members or former members of the Armed Forces who do not meet the 
criteria below but who might be in housing need

Armed Forces (the army, marines, naval, and air forces): the following 
applicants will be exempt from the local connection criteria – 

 Currently serving or former members of the armed forces who left the 
service within five years of their application for an allocation.

 Persons who are serving or who have served in the armed forces and 
who suffer from a serious injury or disability which is attributable in 
whole or part to that service; and,

 A spouse or civil partner who is or was living in accommodation provided 
by the Ministry of Defence and whose former spouse or civil partner was 

Page 75



a serviceman whose death was attributable in whole or in part to their 
service.

This local connection criteria definition should not be confused with the 
definition that is used for the purposes of a homelessness application as 
defined in section 199 of the Housing Act 1996 part 7, which is used for 
determining local connection where the full housing duty is owed and which is 
defined in homelessness guidance. The local connection used in this 
Allocations Policy complies with Allocations Policy guidance and the powers 
made available to the housing authority.

2.5 Unacceptable Behaviour

A person does not qualify under this scheme if they or a member of their 
household has been guilty of unacceptable behaviour serious enough to make 
them unsuitable to be a tenant of the council; and in the circumstances at the 
time the application is considered, they are  unsuitable to be a tenant of the 
council by reason of that behaviour.

The following list, although not exhaustive, provides examples of unacceptable 
behaviour.  

 Owing significant rent arrears, either current or former, to any council, 
registered provider or private landlord. Applicants with arrears will only 
be able to register on Salford Home Search if:

o They have rent arrears of less than £500 and are able to 
demonstrate at least 13 weeks engagement with an arrears 
repayment plan (or engagement from the commencement of the 
arrears if this is less than 13 weeks), or

o They have rent arrears of between £500 and £750 and are able to 
demonstrate at least 19 weeks engagement with an arrears 
repayment plan (or engagement from the commencement of the 
arrears if this is less than 19 weeks).

Applicants will otherwise be asked to provide evidence of clear rent 
accounts, current and previous.  Where evidence comes to light 
following acceptance onto the housing register that significant rent 
arrears are owed, the application may be removed from the housing 
register. However, any arrears that are statue barred will be disregarded.

Page 76



 Owing rechargeable repairs on a current or former tenancy with any 
council, registered provider or private landlord.

 Owing significant mortgage repayments amounting to more than one 
month’s repayment.

 Serious nuisance/annoyance to neighbours where there is evidence that 
a member of the household and/or visitors to the property have 
committed serious anti-social behaviour and are the subject of an ASBO, 
injunction or other legal proceedings (including being awarded an order 
made in a civic court linked to a property or the locality of a property) 
due to a breach of tenancy conditions or anti-social behaviour order.

 Having unspent criminal convictions which the council considers makes 
the applicant or a member of their household unsuitable to be a tenant 
due to the threat they would pose to neighbours and/or the community, 
including perpetrators of domestic abuse or hate crime who are subject 
to a non-molestation order, an injunction order, an occupation order or 
a restraining order. Being convicted of using current or former 
accommodation (or allowing it to be used) for illegal and/or immoral 
purposes such as drug dealing.

 Serious neglect, damage or abandonment of a previous property.
 Allowing furniture, fittings and other installations provided by the 

landlord to deteriorate due to ill treatment.
 Abusive or threatening behaviour towards members of staff at the 

council or any partner providing accommodation under this policy.
 Having committed an act of fraud, withheld, falsified or misrepresented 

any information pertaining to access to public funds and/or services 
including obtaining a tenancy by deception..

 Having lost previous accommodation provided in connection with 
employment due to misconduct that meant the applicant could no 
longer live there.

 Having been evicted for any other breach of tenancy conditions, 
regardless of tenure including: sub-letting some or the whole of the 
property without permission, failure to report repairs, failing to allow 
contractors to enter the property to carry out maintenance and running 
a business from the property.

Page 77



Any applicant who does not qualify due to unacceptable behaviour will be 
notified of the decision and the grounds for it in writing, and will be informed 
of their right to request a review of the decision.  Exceptional/extenuating 
circumstances will be taken into consideration and the review process 
(detailed in section 5.6.) should be followed when seeking a review of the 
decision to cancel or suspend an application.

Application reviews will be considered on a case by case basis and if they are 
able to demonstrate their ability to be a suitable tenant/extenuating 
circumstances, then they will be considered for the register, this might include 
for example:

 Having very significant rent arrears in excess of £750 but having signed 
up to an arrears repayment plan and able to evidence compliance with 
that plan for a reasonable period of time (i.e. 6 months)

 Able to demonstrate a period (i.e. 6 months) of settled accommodation 
(post eviction), with compliant rent payments and good landlord 
references.

 Able to demonstrate consistent engagement (over a period of time) with 
relevant services capable of supporting the applicant to maintain their 
own tenancy.

 An inability to afford a previous tenancy due to no fault of the applicant 
(i.e. as a result of welfare changes or redundancy) and where the 
applicant can evidence engagement with their landlord.

 A family member subject to/fleeing Domestic Abuse, where the home 
was lost due to the actions of a partner.

2.6 Deliberate Worsening of Circumstances

Any applicant who has deliberately made their situation worse to increase 
their housing need and consequently improve their chances of rehousing is 
guilty of unacceptable behaviour and is therefore ineligible for an allocation of 
housing accommodation.  

Page 78



Examples of deliberately worsening circumstances include, but are not limited 
to:

 Vacating a property in the private rented sector without good reason 
then moving in with family resulting in overcrowding

 Selling or transferring a property that is affordable and suitable for the 
applicant’s needs without good reason

 Moving additional household members into a property

The onus will be on the Local Authority to prove the applicant has deliberately 
worsened their circumstances. However, applicants are expected not to 
withhold information and to provide signed consent to enable the Authority to 
make reasonable enquiries into their application. 

The Authority has the right to seek prosecution of applicants for fraud (Fraud 
Act 2006 and/or the Forgery and Counterfeiting Act 1981) if they deliberately 
withhold information, provide misleading information or fail to provide 
notification of any change in circumstances (e.g. change in household 
information or eligibility status).

3. HOW APPLICANTS ARE ASSESSED

3.1 Initial Assessment

Individuals are able to make and are able to be included in only one application 
on Salford Home Search. Repeat applications will be cancelled. 
An application on Salford Home Search can only be made by a sole individual. 
Anyone who might usually reside with an applicant, who might reasonably be 
expected to reside with an applicant, can feature as part of the application. A 
usual household member is defined as: any other person who normally resides 
with the applicant as a member of the family; or, any other person who might 
reasonably be expected to reside with them. 

It is a question of fact as to who is living with the applicant, and housing 
authorities are not required to satisfy themselves that it is reasonable for this 
member of the family to normally reside with them. The phrase ‘as a member 
of the family’, although not defined for these purposes in legislation, will 

Page 79



include those with close blood or marital relationships and cohabiting partners, 
and, where such a person is an established member of the household.

The second group relates to any other person, and includes those who may not 
have been living as part of the household at the time of the application but 
whom it would be reasonable to expect to live with the applicant as part of 
their household. People in this group might include a companion for an elderly 
or disabled person, or children who are being fostered by the applicant or a 
member of their family. This group will also include those members of the 
family who were not living as part of the household at the time of the 
application but who nonetheless might reasonably be expected to form part of 
it. 

The housing authority will assess whether any other person might reasonably 
be expected to live with the applicant and there will be a range of situations 
that the authority will need to consider. Persons who would normally live with 
the applicant but who are unable to do so because there is no accommodation 
in which they can all live together should be included in the application. When 
dealing with a family which has split up, the housing authority will take a 
decision as to which members of the family normally reside, or might be 
expected to reside, with the applicant. A court may have made a residence 
order indicating with whom the children are to live, but in many cases it will be 
a matter of agreement between the parents and a court will not have been 
involved. 

Every application received will be considered according to its facts.  Because 
every applicant’s situation is different, applications will be considered on an 
individual basis and individual circumstances will be taken into account.  
Accepted applications will be placed in a housing need category following 
application and any further assessment of the applicant’s household’s needs as 
required.

The initial assessment can be completed on-line (where frequently asked 
questions can be found) by the applicant or by a Housing Options Advisor as 
part of an overall housing options assessment. Similarly, those who require 
support to complete the application may access that support via the Housing 
Options Service at 7 Wesley Street, Swinton, M27 6AD.

Page 80



The purpose of the initial assessment is to determine firstly is the applicant 
eligible as defined within this policy.  If the applicant is eligible the second 
stage of the initial assessment will determine if the applicant is a qualifying 
person as defined within this policy.  

Where an applicant is found to ineligible/does not qualify and therefore unable 
to proceed to the second stage of the assessment they will be notified in 
writing of the decision and the reasons why.  The applicant will have the right 
to request a review of that decision, (see Reviews, section 5.6).
Those who have been declared as not eligible or disqualified, can make a 
further application when there has been a material change in their 
circumstances.

Applications may trigger other statutory (legal) duties e.g. an application for 
homelessness assistance, and in this instance the Housing Options will contact 
you directly to discuss this further.

3.2 Verification of Information 

Information provided by the applicant on their application will be verified.  
Applicants will be required to provide the following:

 Two forms of identification  one of which must include a photograph
 Proof of residence at current address
 Identification and proof of address for all household members included 

on the application
 A reference from current or previous landlord or mortgage company
 Proof of eligibility
 Confirmation of employment where applicable

A home visit may be carried out to verify information given about current 
accommodation and household members.

Enquiries may be made of third parties, for example, previous landlords or 
health professionals.

Applications will remain at initial assessment stage until all the required 
documentation has been provided and any further verification has been 
completed.

Page 81



3.3 Stage Two – Categorising Applications

If an applicant is both eligible and qualifying a full assessment will be 
completed to determine what category the application will be placed in.  Full 
details of the procedure for carrying out an assessment are contained in the 
procedure manual that accompanies this policy.

Applicants who are not eligible and/or qualifying for the housing register will 
still be entitled to receive advice and assistance with regard to their housing 
options.

Applicants will be placed into one of three categories on the housing register 
as follows:

General Housing Needs Category

This category will be for the ‘majority’ of applicants who according to 
the Housing Act 1996, part 6, section 167(2), fall within a Reasonable 
Preference group, Including:

 People who are homeless (within the meaning of Part 7 of the 
Housing Act 1996, as amended by the Homelessness Act 2002) 
and who have:
o An accepted s.195 (Prevention) duty
o An accepted s.189 (Relief) duty
o Had their s.189 Relief duty discharged but they are intentionally 

homeless or do not have a priority need as defined by law for 
accommodation

o Previously made a homeless application (prior to the 
introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act) and were 
found not to have a priority need or were found to be 
intentionally homeless (s.190{2})

o Residents of temporary accommodation provided by the Local 
Authority under the homelessness legislation – pending 
assessment

Page 82



 People who are owed a duty by any local authority under section 
65(2) or 68(2) of the Housing Act (1985) or who are occupying 
insanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise living in 
unsatisfactory housing conditions

 People who need to move on health, medical or welfare grounds, 
including grounds relating to a disability

 People who need to move to a particular locality in the district of 
the local authority, where failure to meet that need would cause 
hardship (to themselves or others). 

In addition the following groups will be placed in the General Housing
Needs Category:

 Social housing tenants under-occupying their current 
accommodation

 Those needing to move to smaller accommodation on grounds of 
affordability, (any move must not create overcrowding)

 Members and former members of the Armed Forces who are 
exempt from the local connection criteria including:
o Former members of the Armed Forces
o Serving members of the Armed Forces who need to move 

because of a serious injury, medical condition or disability 
sustained as a result of their service

o Bereaved spouses and civil partners of members of the Armed 
Forces leaving Services Family Accommodation following the 
death of their spouse or partner

o Serving or former members of the Reserve Forces who need to 
move because of a serious injury, medical condition or disability 
sustained as a result of their service

 Households where the awarding of priority on the housing register 
will prevent them from becoming homeless

 Foster carers approved by the local authority
 Households where a child/children are assessed as being a 

child/children in need or on a Child Protection Plan and 
alternative accommodation is required in order to safeguard the 
child/children

Page 83



 Applicants who can demonstrate a community connection by 
volunteering for a minimum of 16 hours per month for a 
registered charity, a recognised community group or a not for 
profit organisation

 Residents of supported accommodation who are deemed ready to 
move on to independent living and who have completed a 
tailored support package

 Care leavers

Full Duty Statutory Homeless Category - (section 193, Housing Act 
1996)

This category will be for all applicants who have been assessed by 
Salford Housing Options Point (SHOP), and who are owed the main 
housing statutory homelessness duty under the Housing Act 1996, 
Section 193, Part 7 (as amended).  

Priority for housing within this category will be based on the Section 193 
full statutory homelessness duty decision date in all cases.

Those applicants who were initially registered under the General 
Housing Needs category and then become a full statutory homeless duty 
(s.193) case (due to a change in circumstances) will move to the Full 
Duty Statutory Homeless category and their registration date will change 
to the date of their homelessness decision.

Accessible Accommodation Category

This category is for those applicants (or household members) who, due 
to a physical disability, require an accessible property. All accessible 
properties will be advertised in this category enabling the Authority to 
ensure that this very scarce resource is reserved for those families with 
physical disabilities who require it.

Applicants must complete the medical questionnaire on Salford Home 
Search. The applicant (or household member) will need to have an 
assessed need for either level access, ground floor or wheelchair 
accessible accommodation.  

Page 84



A panel made up of Principal Officers from the Housing Options Service 
and the Integrated Care Organisation will assess and allocate all cases 
into one of three 3 mobility categories:
  SN1 - Property suitable for a permanent wheelchair user 

(Customers with a severe disability who are unable to stand or 
walk unassisted i.e. permanent wheelchair users who need to 
use a wheelchair for all activities of daily living).

 SN3 - Ground floor property with level access (customers who do 
not use a wheelchair indoors, but walk with difficulty and have 
difficulty climbing stairs. People who use a wheelchair outdoors). 

 SN4 - Ground floor property (Customers that do not use a 
wheelchair indoors, walk with difficulty but can manage one or 
two steps)Applicants registered in the Accessible Housing 
Category might also fall into a Reasonable Preference category.  
Where this is the case the applicant will be awarded points in line 
with those applicants in a Reasonable Preference category in the 
General Housing Needs Category.  Priority will be determined by 
those with the highest need followed by waiting time since 
registration.

3.4 The Points System

Applicants in the General Housing Needs and Accessible Accommodation 
categories can receive points for the following reasons:

 The current tenure is insecure (1 point)
 The applicant needs to move due to none physical health needs (1 point)
 The applicant needs to move to receive or give care and support(1 point)
 Overcrowding (1 point)
 Under occupying (1 point per room under-occupied)
 A child leaving care where Salford are the corporate parent (2 points) 
 The applicant is threatened with homelessness and owed a 

Homelessness Prevention Duty under the Homelessness Reduction Act 
(2 points  - time limited for up to 112 days) 

 The applicant is currently homeless and is owed a Relief Duty under the 
Homelessness Reduction Act (1 point – time limited for 56 days)

Page 85



 The applicant is ready to move on from supported accommodation to 
their own settled accommodation (2 points)

 The applicant is an approved Foster Carer and needs to move to 
facilitate the foster caring role (2 points)

 The applicant is a previous member of the armed forces (½ point per full 
year of service)

 Management points awarded in exceptional circumstances (1 point - 
time limited for 6 months). In exceptional circumstances additional 
preference may be awarded to applications in order to meet housing 
need within a reasonable timescale.  Such cases will be agreed by the 
Allocations Review Panel and a record kept.  This might include, but is 
not limited to, those who need to move urgently because of a life 
threatening illness or sudden life changing disability, families in very 
severe overcrowding where that overcrowding poses a serious and 
evidenced health hazard, those who are homeless and require urgent 
rehousing as a result of immediate and high risk violence or threats of 
violence, including intimidated witnesses, and those escaping very 
serious anti-social behaviour.

Applicants who have a ‘Reasonable Preference’ will have points added to their 
application according to the criteria met above. However this will not 
necessarily exceed the level of need awarded to those applicants with an 
Additional Preference.  This is purely dependent upon the level of housing 
needs experienced. 

It should be noted that homeless prevention and relief points will only be 
awarded to those applicants who have been assessed by the Housing Options 
Service and have been formally accepted as being owed a homelessness 
Prevention Duty (section 195) or Relief duty (section 189) under the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017. These cases will be dealt with under the 
General Housing Needs category and the points will be awarded for a time 
limited period only while the duty applies. Once the Homelessness Relief Duty 
has been discharged the homelessness prevention and relief points will be 
removed.

Page 86



3.4 How will housing bids be prioritised? 

Applicants will be prioritised for housing in the following ways:
General Housing Needs category applicants will be prioritised for a bid that 
they make by the number of priority points awarded and then by the date of 
their application.

The bidder who has the highest number of points will be prioritised for the bid. 
If more than one bidder has the same number of points then the date they 
have been registered on Salford Home Search will be used to prioritise the 
bidders (in other words the bidder registered for longest being prioritised).    

The same applies for people in the Accessible Accommodation category. Only 
accessible homes will be advertised in this category. The property will be 
provisionally offered to the bidder who:

 Has been assessed as requiring that type of accommodation
 Has the greatest number of points
 then if more than 2 bidders have the same points priority will be given to 

the bidder who has been registered on the housing register the longest

Full Duty Statutory Homeless category bids will be prioritised by the date of 
their statutory homeless decision only. The person who has the earliest 
decision date and has been registered in this category the longest will be 
prioritised for the offer.

3.5 Mutual Exchange Register for Social Homes

The council is committed to making best use of social housing stock in the city 
and therefore actively promotes mutual exchange as a means of achieving this.  
Where social housing tenants would otherwise be unable to register with 
Salford Home Search as they do not qualify for the register, use of this 
category enables those tenants to secure alternative accommodation while 
supporting the council’s strategic aim.

Mutual exchanges do not fall within the definition of an allocation within Part 6 
of the Act but have been included here as in order to register for an exchange 
applicable tenants must register with Salford Home Search.

Applicants registered with Salford Home Search will automatically be 
registered for mutual exchanges as part of the registration process.

Page 87



Applicants who are eligible but do not qualify to go on the housing register 
may still register with Salford Home Search on the Mutual Exchange Register.
Applicants will require the consent of their landlord before being permitted to 
enter into a mutual exchange.

3.6 Transfers for existing social tenants

Transfers for existing social tenants who do not fall within a Reasonable 
Preference group are not defined as an allocation within Part 6 of the Act.  

Individual social landlords have existing transfer policies which will  administer 
lettings for those residents who do not qualify for a housing allocation under 
this policy. 

Residents are advised to contact their landlord directly if they do not qualify 
for an allocation of housing under this policy but they would still like to move 
home.

3.7 Data Protection  

Please refer to Salford City Councils website: 
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393070/choice-based-lettings-privacy-
notice.pdfdocument  
for a copy of the Choice Based Lettings Scheme Privacy Notice.

3.6 False Statements

It is an offence for anyone to knowingly or recklessly make a statement that is 
materially false, or to deliberately withhold information which is reasonably 
required, or to fail to notify SHOP of any changes in their housing 
circumstances.  If the applicant has been allocated a property under these 
circumstances the relevant partner of Salford Home Search may take court 
action to evict the applicant.

Note should also be made of the action taken when it is deemed that a 
household has deliberately worsened their circumstances – see section 2.7.

Page 88



3.7 Wider Statutory Duties 

All organisations in England that work with or provide services for children and 
families have a duty to protect their welfare. Working Together to Safeguard 
Children (2013) sets out the legal requirements that health and social services, 
police, schools and all other organisations that work with children must follow. 
There is a responsibility to protect children when concerns are raised through 
alerting the appropriate agencies so they can then make inquiries and take any 
necessary action to protect the child. 

Similarly, Officers within the City Council also have a responsibility to safeguard 
adults. All adults who are or may be in need of community and health care 
services, are or may be unable to take care of themselves, or unable to protect 
themselves should be able to retain independence, well-being and choice and 
must be able to access their human right to live a life that is free from abuse 
and neglect.

Council Officers who administer Salford’s Allocation Policy must have regard to 
these requirements during the course of their work and are required to follow 
the Authorities processes for raising concerns about a child or vulnerable adult. 
More information can be found on:

o https://www.salford.gov.uk/children-and-families/safeguarding-
children/, and on;

o https://www.salford.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/safeguarding-adults/

In addition, the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 also requires public services 
to refer those who are homeless or threatened with homelessness (with the 
applicants consent). More information can be found on:

o https://www.salford.gov.uk/housing/homelessness/public-duty-to-
refer-homelessness/

Council Officers who administer the Authorities Allocations Policy may have to 
act on any information which raises concerns about a child, vulnerable adult or 
someone who is homeless/threatened with homelessness, in line with Council 
policy. 

Page 89

https://www.salford.gov.uk/children-and-families/safeguarding-children/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/children-and-families/safeguarding-children/


4. HOW THE HOUSING REGISTER WILL WORK 

4.1 Definition of an Allocation 

Under the terms of the Housing Act 1996 part 6 the allocation of 
accommodation by housing authorities is defined in section 159 as:

 Selecting a person to be a secure or introductory tenant of housing 
accommodation held by a local authority (it should be noted that all 
social housing owned by the local authority is managed directly by 
Pendleton Together),

 Nominating a person to be a secure or introductory tenant of housing 
accommodation held by another person (i.e. one of the authorities or 
bodies fulfilling the landlord condition mentioned in section 80 of the 
Housing Act 1985) or

 Nominating a person to be an assured tenant (including of an assured 
shorthold) of housing accommodation held by a registered provider.

4.2 How Properties will be allocated 

A number of Registered Housing Providers advertise properties on Salford 
Home Search. A list can be found in document Appendix A which will be live 
document amended as required.

Landlords who are a partner in Salford Home Search advertise properties each 
week on the Salford Home Search website.  

All accessible properties that can meet the needs of applicants in the 
Accessible Accommodation category, for example properties with adaptations 
for wheelchair users, ground floor or properties that have level access to and 
throughout the property, will be placed in the Accessible Accommodation 
category. This prioritises accessible properties for those who most need it.

The remainder of the property advertisements will be placed in one of the 
categories using a target system based on the numbers in each category 
registered with Salford Home Search.  Partner landlords will be provided with 
data on a monthly basis giving the number of applicants registered within each 
category further sub-divided by the number of one, two, three and four 
bedrooms required within each category.

Page 90



The targets will be determined by the CBL Partners Group and any change to 
the targets will be agreed by that group.  The CBL Partners Group meets on a 
monthly basis and this meeting is used to address any issues which arise in 
relation to the advertisement or allocation of housing via Salford Home Search 
including for example repeat bypassing of individuals or by a particular 
Registered Housing Providers to prevent any possible ‘cherry picking’ and to 
ensure an equitable and fair service delivery to all applicants.

This process ensures equitable distribution of available properties between 
categories and does not therefore promote one category as being more 
favourable than another.  This allows the council to meet its statutory duties 
whilst also addressing wider housing need across the city.

The category in which a property is advertised is determined by the landlord.

At the end of the bid cycle a shortlist of bidders is generated for each property 
advertised.  The sort order for the shortlist is:

 applicant category
 Accessible housing need – Accessible Accommodation category only
 number of bedrooms
 size of moving group
 number of need points – excluding the Full Duty Statutory Homeless 

category
 date registered with Salford Home Search or date of full duty statutory 

homeless decision date (as appropriate)

It is the responsibility of the relevant landlord to complete pre-allocation 
checks to determine if the applicant is still eligible and qualifying (at the point 
of bidding) and if so to make a provisional offer of the accommodation.

Applicants will be given a reasonable period of time to accept an offer of 
accommodation that they have successfully expressed an interest in.  They will 
have the opportunity to view the property prior to accepting or rejecting 
whatever is being offered. Additional time may be granted to those applicants 
who are vulnerable or who have difficulty in responding due to their 
circumstances.

Page 91



Applicants are advised that individual Registered Providers may have their own 
policies in relation to seeking references prior to a formal offer of 
accommodation is made and this information should be available on the 
advertisement.

If the highest bidder declines an allocation of a property then the property will 
be allocated to the next available bidder.

4.3 Bids and Offers: How many bids can an applicant make and how many 
offers of suitable accommodation can an applicant refuse?

An applicant or person acting on their behalf can express an interest in or in 
other words bid for up to 3 properties in any one bidding cycle (per week).

It should be noted that applicants within the Statutory Homeless category can 
have bids placed on their behalf by their Housing Advisor.

Once an applicant has been made an offer of accommodation and the 
applicant has accepted the offer, the applicant will be unable to express an 
interest in any further properties advertised during future bid cycles.

Applicants who are registered on the housing register but who do not express 
an interest in a property that has been advertised with Salford Home Search in 
a twelve month period for an appropriately sized property will be removed 
from the housing register for a period of 12 months after which the applicant 
can reapply.  Applicants will have the right to request a review of the decision 
to remove their application.  (See Reviews, section 5.6).

An applicant can be made up to 2 offers of ‘suitable’ accommodation. An 
applicant can refuse only 1 offer of ‘suitable’ accommodation. Once an 
applicant has been made and refused 2 offers of suitable accommodation their 
application will be cancelled and the applicant will be unable to re-apply to the 
housing register for a 12 month period. 

It should be noted that those owed a section 193 full statutory homelessness 
duty under s.193, Part VII of the Housing Act will also be made 2 offers of 
suitable accommodation via this Allocations Policy. However, the 
homelessness duty will be discharged and the temporary accommodation 
provided as part of this duty will be brought to an end upon the unreasonable 

Page 92



refusal of the first offer of suitable accommodation. Their application will be 
moved from the Full Duty Statutory Homeless category to the General Housing 
Needs category and relevant housing needs points awarded accordingly.

There may be privately renting homeless applicants who (after having gone 
through the Prevention and Relief duties) are still pending legal action from 
their landlord to end their tenancy, a situation which can potentially continue 
for the ‘long term’. In these cases the prevention credits will be awarded for a 
further period of 6 months. After 6 months the points will be removed. This 
may effectively remove any further qualification on the housing register, if no 
other housing needs exist. These applicants will be provided with advice and 
information about the private rented sector including the Rental Bond Scheme.

A review of the suitability of any offer under this policy can be requested – 
please see section 5.6.

However, the review of the discharge of the full statutory homelessness duty 
following the unreasonable refusal of one offer of suitable accommodation will 
be dealt with under a section 202 homelessness review (part VII, Housing Act). 
A request for a section 202 homelessness review should be made directly to 
the homelessness service via the applicants Housing Officer.

4.4 Nominations from Registered Providers not Partners in Salford Home 
Search 

Registered providers who are not a partner in Salford Home Search but have 
entered into a nomination agreement with Salford City Council will provide 
SHOP with the details of properties to be allocated.

Details of Registered Providers who have entered into a nomination 
agreement with Salford City Council can be found in Document Appendix B 
which is a live document updated as required.

SHOP will generate a shortlist for the property on the landlords behalf, the rest 
of the process remains the same as for partners in Salford Home Search.

Page 93



4.5 How the Size of Property Required will be Decided 

In the interests of making best possible use of the available social housing 
stock, applicants will be offered accommodation that meets the needs of their 
household and is affordable.

The following rules will be applied when determining the size of property 
required:

 One bedroom will be allowed for a single person household
 One bedroom will be allowed for a couple
 One bedroom will be allowed for any two children of the same sex up to 

the age of 21 years
 One bedroom will be allowed for any two children regardless of sex up 

to the age of 10 years
 One bedroom will be allowed for any other child

Children of an appropriate age and sex within the same households are 
expected to share a bedroom regardless of relationship, for example step 
children and foster children.

Unborn children will not count as requiring a bedroom.  Applicants can register 
with Salford Home Search twelve weeks before the expected due date of the 
baby however the application will be suspended until after the birth of the 
child.

Where applicants have shared care arrangements for children, they will only 
be allocated an additional bedroom if they are the recipient of the child benefit 
for that child unless there are extenuating circumstances, such as a legal 
document awarding joint care arrangements where the parent has the child 
residing with them 50% of the time. Furthermore, the applicant will only be 
awarded a bedroom for the child in these circumstances if they are able to 
demonstrate that that size of property would be affordable to them.

Provided it will not constitute statutory overcrowding and should the applicant 
agree, in certain circumstances a household will be allowed to occupy a 
property smaller than they would be entitled to under this policy.  This would 
normally apply to households needing five bedrooms or more.

Page 94



4.6 Property Types 

Applicants who have an assessed need for an accessible property will only be 
considered for properties advertised in the Accessible Accommodation 
category.  

Only applications where the applicant or their partner is 55 years of age or 
older will be considered for properties which are designated as sheltered 
housing.  Exceptions may apply for those applicants assessed as requiring the 
support services provided in this type of accommodation, but this will be 
dependent upon the local lettings policies held by each Registered Provider for 
those individual properties.

Single applicants or couples with no children will not be considered for houses 
or bungalows with more than one bedroom.  Where applicants request an 
additional bedroom to accommodate medical equipment, or because a 
resident carer is part of the household, applicants should complete a medical 
support application for this need to be considered.

Applicants with one child under the age of 10 years will be considered for 
properties in multi-storey blocks where these properties have been advertised 
as being suitable for these households.  Individual circumstances of 
households, for example families with children with serious learning disabilities 
who may be at risk from climbing and falling, will be taken into account when 
considering the suitability of the property.

4.7 Joint Applicants

Applications on Salford Home Search can only be made in one name. All other 
members of the household will form part of that application but there will be 
one lead applicant.

With respect to joint tenancies this is outside the scope of this policy.

Where household members have a long term commitment to the home for 
example, when adults share accommodation as partners (including same sex 
partners, friends or live-in carers), landlords are able to grant a joint tenancy, 
but this is dependent upon individual Registered Providers and their own 
lettings policies.

Page 95



4.8 Direct Allocations (Discretionary Allocations)

As far as possible the categories will be used to advertise and allocate 
properties.  However this scheme recognises that there may be circumstances 
where the choice based lettings system, Salford Home Search, is unable to 
meet the very specialised needs of certain applicants.  In these circumstances 
an offer of accommodation may be made direct to the applicant without the 
property being advertised within Salford Home Search and therefore without 
the need for the applicant to have expressed an interest in that property.

Circumstances that might be appropriate for a direct allocation include, but are 
not limited to:

 Statutory homeless applicants who are failing to exercise choice through 
the choice based lettings process or who are failing to express an 
interest in appropriate accommodation through the choice based 
lettings process

 Care leavers supported by the city council’s Next Step team.
 Applicants requiring specially adapted properties
 Sheltered accommodation
 Where child or public protection issues require urgent rehousing or 

where the Multi Agency Public Protection Panel or National Witness 
Mobility Scheme has recommended that applicants be excluded from 
certain areas due to them being inappropriate

 Where in the interests of community cohesion there is a need to 
exercise extra sensitivity when letting certain properties in order to 
minimise the potential for anti-social behaviour

Direct allocations will be agreed by the Allocations Review Panel on a case by 
case basis taking into account individual circumstances and will be recorded as 
such.  The Allocations Review Panel membership consists of the Service 
Manager from Salford Housing Options Point, the Empty Homes Manager from 
Salix Homes and the Head of Housing Services from City West Housing Trust.

Where a direct allocation is agreed by the Allocations Review Panel, the 
applicant will be made two reasonable offers of accommodation suitable for 

Page 96



the households’ needs and not in an area known to be unsafe for the 
household.

Where an offer of suitable accommodation is refused the applicant will be 
made one further offer of suitable accommodation which if refused will result 
in cancellation of the application and suspension from being able to reapply to 
the housing register for a period of 12 months. The applicant will have the 
right to request a review of the suitability of the offer, (see Reviews, section 
5.6)

Those who are required to move from their home or where their property is 
subject to compulsory purchase as a result of regeneration activity will be 
offered accommodation under the Policy ‘Direct lets for household’s whose 
homes are affected by regeneration/re-development proposals’. This policy 
sits outside the Allocations Policy in order to ensure that those households 
whose homes are subject to regeneration/re-development proposals and who 
are required to move as a result of that activity can be accommodated in a 
more timely fashion, in appropriate accommodation that meets the 
household’s needs.

4.9 Local Lettings Policies

Salford City Council owns only a very small proportion of Council homes within 
the City which are managed by Pendleton Together Housing. The majority of 
social housing is owned and managed by other Registered Providers listed in 
document Appendix B. 

Local lettings policies are designed to respond to specific local issues.  These 
may include particular concerns on estates and areas or other social issues in 
the community.  

Only a small proportion of the housing stock should be affected by local 
lettings policies.

Good practice guidelines encourage local lettings policies to:

 Protect balanced and mixed communities
 Reduce property void rates and tenancy turnovers
 Improve community cohesion and stability 

Page 97



 tackle low demand areas  
 reduce anti-social behaviour

Salford City Council works in collaboration with the Registered Providers locally 
to try to agree local lettings policies. Local lettings policies must be published 
by the relevant landlord and each policy must include the following:

 the scope of the policy, for example geographical coverage, property 
void levels, tenant profiles where appropriate

 clear reasons and evidence of why a local lettings policy is required
 an assessment of any possible negative impacts of the local lettings 

policy
 how the policy will be monitored
 how the policy will be reported on and reviewed

Local lettings policies should last no longer than six months without being 
reviewed.

In order to best meet the Council’s statutory duties and strategic objectives the 
Council seeks agreement from Registered Provider partners that the following 
groups will be excluded from local lettings policies, where possible:

 statutory homeless households
 care leavers
 residents of supported accommodation

5. ADMINISTRATION OF THE POLICY 

5.1 Applicants who are ineligible or do not qualify 

If the Authority decide that an applicant is ineligible or not qualifying, the 
applicant will be notified of the decision and the grounds for it in writing.  
Applicants have the right to request a review of the decision, (see section 
below).

Applicants are entitled to reapply at any time. However, they will remain 
ineligible or will not qualify unless their circumstances have significantly 
changed. 

Page 98



Applicants cannot make more than one application to join the housing register 
at any one time. However, applicants may make multiple applications to join 
housing registers elsewhere dependent upon the allocations policies within 
those other Authorities.

5.2 Decision Making

All decisions taken in relation to the scheme are to be taken by Housing 
Officers unless otherwise indicated. All applicants will be notified of decisions 
made in writing.

The Housing Options Service administers the implementation of the 
Allocations Policy through the Salford Home Search system:

 Administration Staff are responsible for: general information and advice, 
bidding, registration, processing medical assessments, list cleansing, 
lifting suspensions, random audit checks and verifying information.

 Housing Officers are responsible for: lifting suspensions, verifying 
information, registering applicants, assisted bidding, suspensions and 
cancellations.

 Managers are responsible for: appeals around access to the housing 
register, Councillor/MP enquiries, complaints and assessments relating 
to inclusion on the Accessible Accommodation category in liaison with 
Integrated Care Commission Officers.

 The Senior Manager is responsible for: Appeals, MP/Councillor enquiries 
and complaints 

5.3 Requests for Information

Information relating to the successful award for properties advertised 
previously can be found on the website for Salford Home Search.  The 
information provided shows the category the property was advertised in, the 
category of the successful applicant and the number of needs that the 
successful applicant had.

Applicants can also see the information relating to the expressions of interest 
they have placed by logging in to their own registration with Salford Home 
Search.  For every property that the applicant has expressed an interest in the 

Page 99



total number of applicants expressing an interest, together with the applicant’s 
position in relation to those other applicants is given.

General information about the profile of social housing stock in Salford will be 
published on the Salford Home Search website on a 12 monthly basis.

Applicants wanting further information in relation to any decision about their 
application can request the information using the contact details as shown on 
the website.

The Authority is subject to General Data Protection Regulation and the 
administration of this policy must comply with this regulation. The Authorities 
Choice Based Lettings Scheme Privacy Notice can be found on 
https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393070/choice-based-lettings-privacy-
notice.pdf

You can also find out about exercising your rights with respect to accessing 
your personal information and your rights to be informed on the Councils 
Website at https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/392350/scc-guide-exercising-
your-rights-v1-0-3-may-2018.pdf

You also have the right to complain to the Information Commissioner. This 
right is not dependant on you raising a complaint with us first but we would 
encourage you to contact our Data Protection Officer: 
infogovernance@salford.gov.uk so we can consider your concerns as quickly as 
possible

The Information Commissioner is the UK’s independent regulator responsible 
for upholding and enforcing the rights of individuals under data protection law.

You can email the Information Commissioner’s office: 
accessicoinformation@ico.org.uk or write to:

Information Commissioner's Office, Wycliffe House, Water Lane, Wilmslow, 
Cheshire, SK9 5AF

Full information about your rights is also available on the ICO’s website:

https://ico.org.uk/

Page 100

https://ico.org.uk/


5.4 Changes in Circumstances 

All applicants registered with Salford Home Search are required to notify SHOP 
of any changes in their circumstances and to provide any relevant supporting 
evidence of the change.  It is the responsibility of the applicant to notify any 
changes.

Applicants who fail to notify SHOP of any change and this is subsequently 
found to be the case may have their registration suspended or cancelled 
depending upon the nature of the change in circumstances.

Where a change in an applicant’s circumstances results in a change to the 
category that they are registered in, the applicant will be notified in writing of 
this change.

Where a change in an applicant’s circumstances results in their registration 
being cancelled, the applicant will be notified of this in writing.

Applicants are again advised that it is an offence to provide false information 
(including not informing the Authority of any change in circumstances) as per 
point 3.6 above and that court action may be taken against you in these cases.

5.5 Cancellation of Applications

Applications will be cancelled in the following circumstances:

 The applicant requests that the application is cancelled
 The applicant is housed through the Allocations Policy
 The applicant completes a mutual exchange
 The applicant becomes ineligible for an allocation
 The applicant ceases to be a qualifying person for an allocation
 The applicant is found following an investigation to have made false or 

deliberately misleading statements in connection with their application
 An applicant fails to respond to a request for further information within 

a reasonable time, usually 14 days unless there are extenuating 
circumstances.  These will be considered on a case by case basis.

 An applicant unreasonably refuses 2 offers of suitable accommodation 

Page 101



Applicants will be notified in writing that their application has been cancelled 
and the reason for the cancellation.

Applicants will have the right to request a review of the decision to cancel their 
application. (see Reviews, section 5.6).

5.6 Reviews

Applicants have the right to request a review of certain decisions on the 
following grounds or in the following circumstances:

 Their application has been refused or cancelled on the grounds that they 
are not eligible

 Their application has been refused or cancelled on the grounds that they 
are not a qualifying person

 Their application has been cancelled as they have been found to have 
made false or deliberately misleading statements in connection with 
their application 

 Their application has been cancelled because they failed to respond to a 
request for further information 

 A decision has been made about the facts of a particular application 
which have been taken into account to assess where an applicant should 
be placed on the banding system, the size of the property they should be 
allocated or whether an allocation should be made.

 The applicant has refused 2 direct allocations of accommodation which 
were considered to be reasonable offers.  

In cases where the council have discharged the statutory housing duty after 
a homeless applicant has refused a reasonable offer, any requests for a 
review will be dealt with under the statutory homelessness review 
procedures (section 202)under Part 7 of the 1996 Act.

Requests for reviews must be made within 21 days of being notified of the 
decision.  Details of where to send the request will be included in the written 
decision letter received by the applicant.

Requests for reviews can be submitted by a representative of the applicant on 
their behalf.

Page 102



Reviews will be carried out on behalf of the council by someone more senior 
than the person who made the original decision and who was not involved in 
making the original decision.

The applicant will be informed of the outcome of the review in writing, as soon 
as practicable.

5.7 Complaints 

If an applicant is not happy with the service that they have received in relation 
to the allocation of housing they should first complain to the Housing Options 
Service, 7 Wesley Street, Swinton, M27 6AD or via Email: 
housing.advicecentre@salford.gov.uk

If the applicant is not satisfied with the outcome of their complaint or with 
how their complaint has been handled then they can make a complaint to the 
Authority at https://contactus.salford.gov.uk/?formtype=CCC who will conduct 
an independent investigation into your complaint.

If you are not satisfied with the outcome of the complaint i.e. if your problem 
has not been put right or you have not had a response within a reasonable 
time (within 12 weeks) then you can contact the Local Government 
Ombudsman who can be contacted:

By telephone: on 0300 061 0614 for help making a complaint
Text ‘call back’ to 0762 481 1595
Use a textphone via the Next Generation Text Service (formerly known as Text 
Relay and Typetalk)

Lines are open: 
Monday 8.30am to 12 noon.
Tuesday to Friday:   8.30am to 5pm
Online: If you have a complaint, please use the complaint form at: 
https://www.lgo.org.uk/complaint-form

Page 103

mailto:housing.advicecentre@salford.gov.uk
https://contactus.salford.gov.uk/?formtype=CCC
https://www.lgo.org.uk/forms/showForm.asp?nc=QG1E&fm_fid=81
https://www.lgo.org.uk/complaint-form


6. MONITORING AND REVIEW 

6.1 The effectiveness of the Allocations Policy will be monitored by:

 Publishing the results of allocations made through the choice based 
lettings system on the website of Salford Home Search

 monitoring partner agreements and performance
 reporting on allocations, including performance information from the 

housing register, to appropriate bodies

The Allocations Policy will be reviewed annually or earlier if required by new 
legislation or government guidance.

Any major amendments arising from a review will be subject to consultation 
unless these are statutory requirements.

Page 104



Appendix A: Salford Home Search Partners

Anchor Housing Association

Salix Homes

Salix Living

City West Housing Trust 

Windsor Albion Co-operative

Riverside ECHG

The Guinness Partnership

Your Housing Group

Together Housing Association Limited

Great Places Housing Group

Arcon Housing Group

Onward

Mosscare St Vincents Housing

The Abbeyfield Society

Places for People

New Barracks Tenant Management Co-operative

Irwell Valley Housing Association

Dérive

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



PUBLIC INTEREST TEST – CHECKLIST
Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972

Name of Report: Strategic Investment 
Opportunity – Manchester Airport

Committee: Cabinet
Date: 26 March 2019

Category of exemption applied: Paragraph 3 – Information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority 
holding that information) 

Public Interest Test Questionnaire
This is not a definitive list. However, it does provide a series of questions that you 
should ask yourself when recommending confidentiality.

FACTORS WHICH SUPPORT DISCLOSING INFORMATION
Will disclosure help people to understand and participate in 
public debate about current issues?

No

Will disclosure help people to understand why the Council has taken 
certain decisions? 

No

Will disclosure give the public information about the personal 
probity (or otherwise) of elected members or council staff?

No

Will disclosure encourage greater competition and better value for money 
for council taxpayers? 

No

Will disclosure allow individuals and companies to understand 
decisions made by the Council that have affected their lives? 

No

Is the information about factors that affect public health and public 
safety? (NB you should be careful if considering the release of 
information which might adversely affect public health and safety)  

No

Will disclosure reveal incompetent, illegal or unethical decision-
making or examples of malpractice?

No

Will disclosure reveal that such maladministration has not in fact 
occurred?

No

Page 107

Agenda Item 8



FACTORS WHICH SUPPORT WITHHOLDING INFORMATION
Will disclosure damage the Council’s interests without giving the 
public any useful information?

Yes

Will disclosure damage another organisation or person’s interests, 
without giving the public any useful information? 

Yes

Will disclosure give an unfair, prejudicial or inaccurate view of a 
situation?

No

Will disclosure prevent the effective delivery of services without giving 
the public useful information? 

No

Will disclosure put the health and safety of any group or 
individuals at risk? 

No

Is there a clear and coherent reason why the community in general 
would benefit more from information being withheld? 

 

Yes

Page 108



Justification of decision
(Please provide explicit reasoning)

The report contains confidential financial information

Other documents attached - no

Name and Title:  Joanne Hardman

Date: Chief finance Officer.

Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 111

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

4 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE GREATER MANCHESTER COMBINED AUTHORITY 
(GMCA) HELD ON 25 JANUARY 2019 AT GMPF OFFICES, MANCHESTER 

 
PRESENT: 
 
Greater Manchester Mayor  Andy Burnham (In the Chair) 
Greater Manchester Deputy Mayor Baroness Bev Hughes 
Bolton      Councillor Linda Thomas 
Bury      Councillor Rishi Shori 
Manchester     Councillor Sue Murphy 
Oldham    Councillor Sean Fielding 
Rochdale     Councillor Allen Brett 
Salford     City Mayor Paul Dennett 
Stockport     Councillor Alex Ganotis 
Tameside     Councillor Brenda Warrington 
Trafford     Councillor Andrew Western 
Wigan      Councillor Keith Cunliffe 
 
OTHER MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 
TfGMC     Councillor Mark Aldred 
Bury     Councillor Andrea Simpson 
Tameside    Councillor Leanne Feeley 
Rochdale    Councillor Janet Emsley 
Rochdale    Councillor Sara Rowbottom 
 
OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 
GMCA –Deputy Chief Executive Andrew Lightfoot 
GMCA – Monitoring Officer  Liz Treacy 
GMCA – Treasurer   Richard Paver 
Office of the GM Mayor  Kevin Lee 
 
Bolton     Tony Oakman 
Bury      Geoff Little 
Oldham    Carolyn Wilkins 
Manchester    Joanne Roney 
Rochdale     Steve Rumbelow 
Salford     Jim Taylor 
Stockport     Pam Smith 
Tameside     Steven Pleasant 
Wigan      Alison McKenzie-Folan 
TfGM     Simon Warburton 
GMCA     Julie Connor 

Page 119

Agenda Item 10



2 

 

GMCA      Nicola Ward 
 
GMCA 01/19  APOLOGIES 
 
Apologies were noted and received on behalf of: 
 
Councillor Sharon Briggs (Bury), Councillor Richard Leese (Manchester), Councillor 
Janet Emsley (Rochdale) and Councillor David Molyneux (Wigan). 
 
Apologies for absence were also received from Eamonn Boylan (GMCA) and Donna 
Hall (Wigan). 
 
GMCA 02/19  CHAIR’S ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS 
 
RESOLVED /- 

 
1. That the GMCA acknowledge the immense contribution made by Councillor 

Kieran Quinn to Tameside and Greater Manchester as a whole. 
 
2. That the GMCA note the imminent publication of rough sleeping levels, which 

are anticipated to have reduced thanks to the measures which have been put 
in place across GM including the ‘A bed every night’ provision and that thanks 
be recorded to each Local Authority and partner organisation for their efforts 
within this programme. 

 
3. That the GMCA note the planned visit of Dame Louise Casey to offer 

independent advice on homelessness and rough sleeping, and that she will be 
reporting to the Reform Board in March 2019. 

 
GMCA 03/19  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest made in relation to any item on the agenda. 
 
GMCA 04/19 MINUTES OF THE GMCA MEETING HELD ON 14 DECEMBER 

2018 AND JOINT GMCA & AGMA EXECUTIVE BOARD HELD ON 
11 JANUARY 2019 

 
RESOLVED /- 

 
That the minutes of the GMCA meeting held on 14 December 2018 and Joint GMCA 
and AGMA Executive Board held on 11 January 2019 be approved. 
 
GMCA 05/19 MINUTES OF THE GMCA RESOURCES COMMITTEE HELD ON          

14 DECEMBER 2018 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 

Page 120



3 

 

That the minutes of the GMCA Resources Committee held on 14 December 2018 be 
noted. 

 
GMCA 06/19 MINUTES OF THE GMCA OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEES – DECMEBER 2018 AND JANUARY 2019 
 

RESOLVED /- 
 

1. That the minutes of the Economy, Business Growth and Skills Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee held on 7 December 2018 and 11 January 2019 be noted.  

 
2. That the minutes of the Corporate Issues and Reform Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee held on 11 December 2018 be noted. 
 
3. That the minutes of the Housing, Planning & Environment Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee held on 10 January 2019 be noted. 
 
GMCA 07/19 MINUTES OF THE TRANSPORT FOR GREATER MANCHESTER 

(TfGM) COMMITTEE HELD 10 JANUARY 2019 
 
RESOLVED /- 
 
That the minutes of the TfGM Committee held on 10 January 2019 be noted. 
 
GMCA 08/19 MINUTES OF THE GM LOCAL ENTERPRISE PARTNERSHIP (GM 

LEP) HELD 14 JANUARY 2019 
 
RESOLVED /- 
 
That the minutes of the GM LEP held on 14 January 2019 be noted. 
  
GMCA 09/19   GM YOUTH COMBINED AUTHORITY UPDATE 
 
Councillor Rishi Shori, Portfolio Lead for Young People introduced a report, which 
provided an update on activities of the Youth Combined Authority and also sought 
funding to continue its work for the next two years. 
 
The report was supplemented by a presentation by Emily Sykes and Jacob Hirst 
members of the Tameside Youth Council, which detailed the activities they had 
undertaken during the past 12 months including their involvement in the 
development of the ‘Work Experience Charter’ and the ‘Curriculum for Life’. 

  
RESOLVED /- 
 
1. That the update on recent activities of the GM Youth Combined Authority be 

noted. 
 

Page 121



4 

 

2. That the GMCA approve funding of £100,000 from retained business rates to 
fund two further years of the GM Youth Combined Authority. 

 
3. That the GMCA record it’s thanks to the GM Youth Combined Authority for all 

their work, commitment and achievements to date. 
 
4. That the GMCA and the GM Youth Combined Authority have a future 

conversation about shared priorities and the Greater Manchester Strategy. 
 
5.  That each member of the GMCA be encouraged to meet with representatives 

from the GM Youth Combined Authority to specifically discuss areas within 
their portfolio. 

 
6. That the GM Youth Combined Authority be invited to engage with work to 

develop the Employment Charter and TfGM Opportunity Pass. 
 
GMCA 10/19  2019 BUDGET 
 
Andy Burnham, the GM Mayor, presented a report that set out proposals for the 
Mayoral General Budget and Precept for 2019-20 for consideration by Members of 
the GMCA.  
 
The proposals being made were unique amongst Mayoral Combined Authorities and 
continued to include a significant element for the Fire Service, which had previously 
fallen to the GM Fire and Rescue (GMFR) Authority to determine. In a parallel 
process, there would also be a proposal relating to the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (PCC) precept to the Police and Crime Panel, which was due to meet 
on 31 January 2019.  
 
The Mayor added that the proposed budget reflected the priorities of the people in 
GM, for increased levels of policing and an improved bus network. 
 
RESOLVED/- 

 
1. That the GMCA note the Mayor’s proposal to set an overall Mayoral General 

Precept of £76.95 (Band D) comprising of £59.95 for functions previously 
covered by the Fire and Rescue Authority precept (no change) and £17 (an 
additional £9 for 2019/20 on the current £8) for other Mayoral General 
functions, specifically bus reform. 

 
2. That the GMCA note the proposal for the Mayoral General Precept for 2019/20 

is the second year of a 2-3 year strategy for setting the Mayoral precept 
baseline which will be adjusted in future years as further Mayoral functions are 
covered by the funding raised and that Government has again provided 
flexibility on the level of the Mayoral (General) precept. 

 

Page 122



5 

 

3. That the GMCA agree to allow £5.75 million of Earnback grant to be used to 
support GMCA costs relating to bus-related activity, including bus reform. 

 
4. That the GMCA note the following: 

i. the overall budget proposed for the Fire and Rescue Service, recognising 
that detailed proposals in relation to Programme for Change will be 
considered in the near future; 

ii. the use of the reserves to support the revenue and capital budgets, and 
the assessment by the Treasurer that the reserves as at March 2020 are 
adequate; 

iii. the proposed Fire Service capital programme and proposals for funding; 
iv. the medium term financial position for all functions covered by the 

Mayoral precept. 
 

5. That the GMCA agree the Mayor’s proposals to make grants totaling £8.3m to 
District Councils to support their increased levy costs in relation to Bus Reform 
and the 16-18 Opportunity Pass: 

    

District 2019/20 
  £000 
Bolton  845 
Bury 562 
Manchester  1,618 
Oldham  693 
Rochdale  648 
Salford  745 
Stockport  863 
Tameside 665 
Trafford 698 
Wigan  963 

Total 8,300 

 
6. That the GMCA note the detailed budget proposals for other Mayoral 

functions. 
 
7. That members of the GMCA are invited to submit any written comments to the 

Mayor in line with the legal process and timetable described in this report. 
 
8. That the GMCA note that at its meeting on 15 February there will be a revised 

budget submitted, consistent with the precept proposals, to reflect final tax 
base and collection fund calculations and the final Revenue Support Grant 
settlement. 

 
9. That the GMCA write to Government expressing their concerns that reduced 

central funding has resulted in the need to increase the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (PCC) element of the Mayoral precept. 

 

Page 123



6 

 

10. That the GMCA also write to Lord Porter (Local Government Association) 
regarding the imbalance in the proposed fairer funding calculations and the 
impact this will have on Local Authorities if levels of deprivation are not 
considered. 

 
GMCA 11/19   GREAT PLACE PROGRAMME 
 
Councillor Linda Thomas, Portfolio Lead for Culture, presented a report that 
informed Members of the plans to deliver the Great Place cultural programme, 
following the GMCA’s successful funding bid. 
 
The Cultural Strategy consultation had been extended but was now nearing 
completion and its implementation would be overseen by the Cultural Steering 
Group. 
 
RESOLVED /- 

 
1. That the GMCA acknowledge the receipt of Great Place funding 
 
2. That the GMCA note the project approach outlined in section 2 of the report 

including GMCA co-commissioning activity with project partners and granting 
funding to Rochdale Boroughwide Cultural Trust, Link4Life and the University 
of Manchester to deliver project activity on behalf of GMCA 

 
3. That the GMCA note that the programme will be overseen by  the GM Cultural 

and Heritage Steering Group chaired by the GM Cultural Portfolio Leader and 
GM Cultural Lead Chief Executive who will report back to the CA 

 
4. That the GMCA approve the budget as set out in paragraph 1.8, including 

funding of £190k to the University of Manchester Museum and £300k to 
Rochdale Boroughwide Cultural Trust, Link4Life 

 
5. That the GMCA approve delegation to the Treasurer and Monitoring officer to 

enter into funding agreements / contracts as appropriate. 
 

GMCA 12/19 FUNDING FOR RENOVATION AND RECONSTRUCTION OF 
LESBIAN, GAY, BISEXUAL, TRANSGENDER/TRANSSEXUAL 
PLUS (LGBT+) CENTRE 

 
Councillor Brenda Warrington, Portfolio Lead for Equalities introduced a report that 
sought approval of funding to support the redevelopment of the GM LGBT+ Centre.  
The Centre was established in 1988 and had developed a world wide reputation for 
being the first publically funded centre in the UK which 30 years later, continued to 
provide a high level of support for people across the region.  However, it was now in 
a state of dis-repair and in need of a re-build to ensure the facility remained fit for 
purpose. 

Page 124



7 

 

 
RESOLVED /- 

 
1. That the GMCA agree to provide £450,000 funding from retained business 

rates towards the renovation and reconstruction of the Proud Trust’s LGBT 
Centre. 

 
2. That the GMCA delegate authority to the GMCA Monitoring Officer to 

complete all necessary legal agreements. 
 
GMCA 13/19 CREATING A ‘SMART RESIDENT’ DATA EXCHANGE 

PLATFORM TO SUPPORT REFORM  
 
Councillor Andrew Western, Portfolio Lead for the Digital City-Region, introduced a 
report, which requested support for a unique and fundamentally important 
increased digital capability that would provide support to many aspects of reform 
and service improvement across the city-region. 
 
The initial focus of the programme would be on the Health Visiting Service which 
currently operated a paper-based process, which through digitalisation had 
predicted savings of £27m over the next five years. 
 
RESOLVED /- 

 
1. That the GMCA endorse proposals to support reform and service improvement 

through a new, pan Greater Manchester (GM) Smart Resident data exchange 
platform which will ultimately enable delivery of several reform priorities and 
be a foundation upon which digital public services in GM can be built. 

 
2. That the GMCA support its initial application in the priority area of School 

Readiness to generate a net gain in productivity in Health Visiting 
(commissioned via Public Services) of more than £27M over five years. 
Recognising that further benefits will be realised through better understanding 
of residents needs and commissioning improvements in this area.  

 
3. That the GMCA agree funding of £6.8M for the initial two year build phase, 

subject to tender responses, by approving the release of £2M from the Reform 
Investment Fund and a further £4.8M from Retained Business Rates including a 
contingency of £1.5M. This is being matched by Health & Social Care funding of 
£8.5M. 

 
4. That  the GMCA agree, in principle, to revenue costs of approximately £700k a 

year in years’ three to five to fund ongoing delivery including hosting, security 
and maintenance. This to be secured from a future GM wide fund and be 
reviewed at an appropriate time. 

 

Page 125



8 

 

5. That the GMCA record its thanks to the Digital Team at the GMCA for all their 
work on this agenda. 

 
MCA 14/19 CO-PRODUCTION IN GM AND FUNDING OF CO-PRODUCTION 

PROJECT FROM REFORM INVESTMENT FUND  
 
Andy Burnham GM Mayor, presented a report, which highlighted the range of 
projects focussed on co-production with citizens that were currently operating in 
GM, offering significant learning around what constituted effective co-production.  
 
The report proposed that building on a number of forthcoming events there was an 
opportunity to develop a ‘community practice’ that would enable learning from 
different projects to be shared (including examples from elsewhere) and this would 
help move to a common view and set of principles around what co-production 
looked like in GM. A pro-active approach to embedding ‘good’ co-production in 
Districts would further enable delivery on commitments within the GM Strategy to 
develop ‘communities in control’. The report recognised that GM organisations had a 
role to play as both a facilitator and participants of co-production activity in the city-
region. 
 
RESOLVED /- 
 
1. That the GMCA note the different projects that are already operating in GM 

focussing on co-production. 
 
2. That the GMCA agree the request from the Reform Investment Fund Panel for 

the GMCA to match fund the second phase of the ‘Elephants’ co-production 
project in partnership with Lankelly Chase Foundation for £150k investment 
from the Reform Investment Fund. 

 
3. That the GMCA support the participation in the range of co-production events 

and forthcoming activities that are planned over the next few months in GM as 
a means to increase knowledge and understanding and help GM move towards 
a ‘community of practice’ around co-production. 

 

GMCA 15/19 GM BREXIT MONITOR AND PREPAREDNESS FOR EU EXIT  
 
Andy Burnham, GM Mayor introduced a report that provided the latest update of 
the GM Brexit Monitor, a recap of the economic analysis undertaken on the possible 
impacts of Brexit on GM and an overview of the organisational preparedness work 
underway by GM agencies. 
 
He reported a continuing deteriorating picture for Greater Manchester which still 
had a number of uncertainties, especially in relation to the Shared Prosperity Fund. 
 
RESOLVED /- 

 

Page 126



9 

 

That the GMCA note the updated Brexit monitor and work underway to prepare 
Greater Manchester for EU exit. 
 
GMCA 16/19 NORTHERN RAIL AND TRANSPENNINE EXPRESS RAIL 

PERFORMANCE  
 
Andy Burnham, the GM Mayor presented a report that provided a summary of rail 
performance for Network Rail, Arriva Rail North (trading as Northern) and 
TransPennine Express.  It highlighted a slight improvement in performance since 
December 2018, but also reported that union discussions impacting weekend 
services remained ongoing. 
 
RESOLVED /- 

 
That the report be noted and that the GMCA requests that the Mayor shares 
Members’ views in relation to continued overcrowding on short-formed trains at the 
next meeting of Transport for the North. 
 
GMCA 17/19  GM NATURAL CAPITAL INVESTMENT PLAN 
 
Councillor Alex Ganotis, Portfolio Lead for Green City-Region introduced a report 
that sought feedback on work undertaken by Eftec Consultants, funded through the 
Natural Course project, to define what a GM Natural Capital Investment Plan could 
contain and suggested actions to promote accelerated investment in opportunities 
that protected and enhanced GM’s natural capital. 
 
Subject to agreement, it was proposed to launch the report at the Natural Capital 
Group Annual General Meeting (AGM) on 30 January 2019, with key 
recommendations to be considered for inclusion into the 5 Year Environment Plan, 
prior to the next Green Summit. 
 
RESOLVED /- 

That the GMCA note the consultant’s report on the development of a Greater 
Manchester Natural Capital Investment Plan. 
 
GMCA 18/19 GM CO-OPERATIVE COMISSION 
 
Councillor Allen Brett, Portfolio Lead for Community, Co-operatives and Inclusion, 
presented a report that detailed arrangements and Terms of Reference for the Co-
operative Commission for approval. 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
That the GMCA approve the Terms of Reference for the GM Co-operative 
Commission. 
 
 

Page 127



10 

 

GMCA 19/19  GM SKILLS CAPITAL 2017 – 2020 PROGRAMME UPDATE 
 
Councillor Sean Fielding, Portfolio Lead for Education, Skills, Work and 
Apprenticeships presented a report that provided an update on the latest position 
on the round 2 applications for Skills Capital funding from Bolton College, Learning, 
Training, Employment (LTE) Group, Wigan and Leigh College, Oldham College and the 
round 1 application from Bury College. 
  
RESOLVED /- 

 
That the GMCA note the update on the entire Round 2 Skills Capital Programme. 
 
 
GMCA 20/19 GM SKILLS CAPITAL 2017-2020: LTE 

(MANCHESTER COLLEGE) APPROVALS IN 
PRINCIPLE  

 
Councillor Sean Fielding, Portfolio Lead for Education, Skills, Work and 
Apprenticeships introduced a report, which provided an update on the outcome of 
the appraisal of the LTE Group full application for Skills Capital funding. 
 
RESOLVED /-   

 
1. That the GMCA agree the funding application for the total project cost of 

£139,2000 with a skills capital funding request of £25,000 by LTE Group be 
given conditional approval and progress to due diligence. 

 
2. That the GMCA agree to delegate authority to the GMCA Treasurer and GMCA 

Monitoring Officer to review the due diligence information and, subject to 
their satisfactory review and agreement, to sign off any outstanding 
conditions, issue final approvals and complete any necessary related 
documentation in respect of the grant above. 

 

GMCA 21/19 GM SKILLS CAPITAL 2017-2020: WIGAN AND LEIGH COLLEGE 
 
Councillor Sean Fielding, Portfolio Lead for Education, Skills, Work and 
Apprenticeships presented a report that provided an update on the application for 
Skills Capital funding from Wigan and Leigh College. 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
1. That the GMCA agree that the funding application for a total project cost is 

£1,810,000 with a skills capital funding request of £603,000 by Wigan and 
Leigh College be given conditional approval and progress to due diligence. 

 

Page 128



11 

 

2. That the GMCA agree to delegate authority to the GMCA Treasurer and GMCA 
Monitoring Officer to review the due diligence information and, subject to 
their satisfactory review and agreement, to sign off any outstanding 
conditions, issue final approvals and complete any necessary related 
documentation in respect of the grant above. 

 
GMCA 22/19 AWARD OF CONTRACT FOR GM-WIDE HOUSING FIRST 

PROGRAMME 
 
This had been withdrawn. 
 
GMCA 23/19 GM HOUSING INVESTMENT LOANS FUND – INVESTMENT 

APPROVAL REFCOMMENDATION 
 
This had been withdrawn. 
 
GMCA 24/19 GM INVESTMENT FRAMEWORK APPLICATIONS 
 
A report was introduced by Councillor David Molyneux, Portfolio Lead for 
Investment, which sought GMCA approval for investment into InTech Business 
Solutions Limited, which would be made from recycled funds.  
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
1. That the GMCA agree that the funding application for InTec Business Solutions 

Limited (loan of £1,000,000 and equity investment of £350,000) be given 
conditional approval and progress to due diligence. 

 
2. That the GMCA agree to delegate authority to the GMCA Treasurer and GMCA 

Monitoring Officer to review the due diligence information and, subject to 
their satisfactory review and agreement, to sign off any outstanding 
conditions, issue final approvals and complete any necessary related 
documentation in respect of the grant above. 

 
GMCA 25/19 EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
That, under section 100 (A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and 
public should be excluded from the meeting for the following items on business on 
the grounds that this involved the likely disclosure of exempt information, as set out 
in the relevant paragraphs of Part 1, Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 
and that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed the public 
interest in disclosing the information. 
 
GMCA 26/19 GM SKILLS CAPITAL 2017-2020: LTE (MANCHESTER COLLEGE) 

APPROVALS IN PRINCIPLE 
 
RESOLVED/- 

Page 129



12 

 

 
That the report be noted. 
 
GMCA 27/19 GM SKILLS CAPITAL 2017-2020: WIGAN AND LEIGH COLLEGE 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
GMCA 28/19 GM HOUSING INVESTMENT LOANS FUND – INVESTMENT 

APPROVAL RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
This had been withdrawn. 
 
GMCA 29/19 GM INVESTMENT FRAMEWORK APPLICATIONS 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
GMCA 30/19 CREATING A ‘SMART RESIDENT’ DATA EXCHANGE 

PLATFORM TO SUPPORT REFORM 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 130



 

4A 
MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE GREATER MANCHESTER COMBINED AUTHORITY  

HELD 14 DECEMBER 2018 AT MANCHESTER TOWN HALL 

 

PRESENT: 

 

Greater Manchester Mayor  Andy Burnham (In the Chair) 

Greater Manchester Deputy Mayor Baroness Bev Hughes 

Bolton      Councillor Linda Thomas 

Bury      Councillor Rishi Shori 

Manchester     Councillor Richard Leese 

Oldham    Councillor Sean Fielding 

Rochdale     Councillor Allen Brett 

Salford     City Mayor Paul Dennett 

Stockport     Councillor Alex Ganotis 

Tameside     Councillor Brenda Warrington 

Trafford     Councillor Andrew Western 

Wigan      Councillor David Molyneux 

 

OTHER MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE: 

 

TfGMC     Councillor Mark Aldred 

Rochdale    Councillor Janet Walmsley 

Tameside    Councillor Leanne Feeley 

 

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 

 

GMCA Chief Executive  Eamonn Boylan 

GMCA –Deputy Chief Executive Andrew Lightfoot 

GMCA – Monitoring Officer  Liz Treacy 

GMCA – Treasurer   Richard Paver 

Office of the GM Mayor  Kevin Lee 

 

Bolton     Tony Oakman 

Bury      Geoff Little 

Oldham    Carolyn Wilkins 

Manchester    Sara Todd 

Rochdale     Steve Rumbelow 

Salford     Jim Taylor 

Stockport     Pam Smith 

Tameside     Steven Pleasant 

Wigan      Rebecca Heron 

TfGM     Simon Warburton 

GMCA     Julie Connor 

GMCA     Sylvia Welsh 

GMCA      Nicola Ward 

Page 131



2 

 

 

GMCA 270/18  APOLOGIES 

 

Apologies were noted and received on behalf of: 

 

Cllr Sharon Briggs (Bury), Cllr Jenny Bullen (Wigan), Cllr Catherine Hymes (Trafford), 

Joanne Roney (Manchester City Council) and Donna Hall (Wigan Council).   

 

Apologies were also received on behalf James Wallace (GMFRS) and Ian Hopkins 

(GMP). 

 

GMCA 271/18  CHAIR’S ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS 

 

RESOLVED /- 

 

1. That the GMCA record its thanks all Local Authorities for their work to support 

the launch of ‘A Bed Every Night’ which, since its launch in November 2018 had 

supported 456 rough sleepers, and moved 141 individuals into fixed addresses.  

 

2. That the GMCA recognise this day as a significant day for the unveiling of the 

Emmeline Pankhurst statue on St Peters Square to mark the centenary year of 

the women’s suffragette movement, and that the GMCA record its thanks to 

Cllr Andrew Simcock, the Lord Mayor and Cllr Richard Leese and the team at 

Manchester City Council for organising the unveiling event. 

 

3. That the GMCA also acknowledged the unveiling of the Annie Kenney, Statue, 

the English working-class suffragette who became a leading figure in the 

Women's Social and Political Union.  The unveiling would be taking place in 

Oldham this afternoon. 

 

4. That it be noted that the GMCA has produced the DVD ‘Making of a Militant’ to 

help raise awareness of equality within Secondary Schools.  

 

GMCA 272/18  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 

There were no declarations of interest made in relation to any item on the agenda. 

 

GMCA 273/18 MINUTES OF GMCA MEETING HELD ON 30 NOVEMBER 2018 

 

The minutes of the GMCA meeting held on the 30 November 2018 were submitted 

for consideration. 

 

RESOLVED /- 

 

That the minutes of the GMCA Meeting held on the 30 November 2018 be approved. 

 

 

Page 132



3 

 

GMCA 274/18 GMCA CORPORATE ISSUES & REFORM OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE – MINUTES: 20 NOVEMBER 2018 

 

RESOLVED/- 

 

That the minutes of the GMCA Corporate Issues and Reform Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee held 20 November 2018 be noted, and that the resolutions below be 

approved. 

 

i) CI54/18 GM RESPONSE TO MINISTRY OF JUSTICE FEMALE OFFENDER 

STRATEGY 

That the Mayor and GMCA are recommended to consider undertaking an 

impact assessment to help understand how future funding could be 

allocated. 

 

ii) CI54/18 GM RESPONSE TO MINISTRY OF JUSTICE FEMALE OFFENDER 

STRATEGY  

That the Mayor and GMCA are recommended to consider how a more 

sustainable funding base could be secured. 

 

GMCA 275/18 MINUTES OF THE GMCA RESOURCES COMMITTEE – 30 

NOVEMBER 2018  

 

RESOLVED /- 

 

That the minutes of the GMCA Resources Committee held 30 November be noted. 

 

GMCA 276/18  GREATER MANCHESTER CHILDREN’S PLAN 

 

Councillor Rishi Shori, Portfolio Lead for Young People and Social Cohesion, 

introduced a report which provided members with an update on progress in respect 

of the GM Children’s work and sought approval of the GM Children’s Plan and 

funding proposals. 

 

He reported that more children in GM live in poverty than the UK average, and many 

remain not school ready despite work which had been undertaken in this area.  

Therefore, the need to increase the scale and spread of innovative practice had 

become increasingly evident, using a collaborative approach to ensure a ‘bottom-up’ 

credible Plan. 

 

The GM Mayor thanked all those who have progressed the Plan to this stage, and 

commented that the Plan would help to improve standards, streamline resources, 

and deliver the ambitions of the Greater Manchester Strategy.  He further added 

that this work linked very strongly with GM’s plans for a Care Leaver Guarantee. 

 

Members commented that there were still gaps of disparity in educational outcomes 

for those children who have complex needs, highlighting the insufficient funding and 

Page 133



4 

 

budget pressures across Local Authorities.  Local SEND provision in GM was vital to 

ensure children with complex needs received the education they needed within their 

own Local Authority.  It was noted that there was a national issue in respect of SEND 

funding and provision, and that GM was looking at potential collaborative 

commissioning work to improve our offer and service standards. 

 

The GM Mayor confirmed that commissioning out of area was costly, and the role of 

the GM Health and Social Care Partnership (GMHSCP) and co-commissioning would 

deliver an improvement in service provision and realise savings.   The importance of 

assisting all young people and more specifically those with challenges was reiterated.  

He also confirmed that a report on the progress of the establishment a Care Leavers 

Trust and Care Leavers Guarantee was due to be submitted to a meeting of the 

GMCA in the New Year. 

 

RESOLVED /- 

 

1. That the final draft GM Children’s Plan be approved. 

 

2. That the allocation of £500,000 grant to each GM Local Authority to support 

their local business cases be agreed. 

 

3. That the allocation of a further £150K for programme and evaluation costs be 

approved. 

 

4. That delegated authority to the GMCA Treasurer and GMCA Monitoring Officer 

to agree grant terms and conditions with Districts be approved. 

 

5. That the GMCA record its thanks to Cllr Rishi Shori and GM Local Authority 

colleagues for their work in developing the plan. 

 

6. That a further report on the work underway to establish a Care Leavers Trust 

and the establishment of a Care Leavers Guarantee be submitted to a meeting 

of the GMCA in the New Year. 

 

GMCA 277/18 GREATER MANCHESTER BREXIT ECONOMIC IMPACT 

ANALYSIS  

 

Councillor Richard Leese, Portfolio Lead for Business and Economy, introduced a 

report which provided an update on the latest economic analysis undertaken on the 

possible impacts of Brexit as the UK prepares to leave the EU.  The analysis had been 

undertaken from the latest national and regional analysis published by the 

Government and used to model the impacts for GM.   

 

He reported that since the report had been circulated there had been a number of 

changes to the landscape, with no clear direction from Government, suggesting that 

a ‘no deal’ option may be a potential outcome.  The GMCA does not have a formal 

position on Referenda, however if there was a choice between a ‘no deal’ Brexit and 

Page 134



5 

 

a 2nd Referendum, then a 2nd Referendum was the only option available in his view.  

If Government and Parliament were not capable of making a decision, then the only 

option available was for the people to make the decision.  With all the focus on 

Brexit, Government was not progressing its responsibilities, including the 

introduction of Legislation and Regulation which could make a positive difference to 

lives of residents in GM.  Government should be reflecting on the view they were 

projecting and ought to be taking urgent actions necessary to act in the interests of 

the UK.  In the meantime GM does need to continue to make its preparations based 

on the worst case scenarios and if there was no other alternative then the people, 

either through a General Election or a Referendum, need to have the opportunity to 

make the decision for themselves. 

 

Members reiterated that a ‘no deal’ Brexit was not an option, as ultimately it would 

have a negative effect on the UK economy.  However, any form of Brexit would also 

remove the strength in numbers that the current sovereignty with the EU enables.  

They urged that GM should be clear that they cannot support Government in any 

decision that would impact on the economic wealth of the country, and potentially 

increase the poverty of its residents. 

 

The GM Mayor recognised the clear position of the GMCA on this matter, and added 

that not having a fully functioning Government had increased the workload of the 

GMCA and Local Authorities across the piece in the absence of resources.  The 

current Brexit situation is unsatisfactory on every level, and GM must not hold back 

on making its views known to Government and Parliament. 

  

RESOLVED/- 

 

1. That the updated economic impact analysis be noted. 

 

2. That the GMCA places on record its concern about the current appalling 

situation in relation to Brexit and were disappointed with the Government’s 

handling of this matter. 

 

3. That it be noted all GM organisations are thinking through resilience planning 

and preparedness on a worst case scenario basis in order to support GM 

residents.  

 

GMCA 278/18   GREATER MANCHESTER DISABLED PEOPLES’ PANEL  

  

RESOLVED /- 

 

That it be noted that this item was withdrawn for consideration at a future meeting. 

 

GMCA 279/18  CLEAN AIR PLAN UPDATE  

 

Councillor Alex Ganotis, Portfolio Lead for Green City Region, introduced a report 

which set out the structure of the reports to be consider by the GMCA and individual 

Page 135



6 

 

GM Local Authorities and the nature of the socio-economic impact information 

which would accompany the Outline Business Case. 

 

Councillor Ganotis confirmed that the Outline Business Case would be prepared by 

TfGM on behalf of the GMCA and individual GM Local Authorities early in the New 

Year.   He also clarified that legal responsibility for approving the Outline Business 

Case remained with individual GM Local Authorities. 

 

He reiterated the importance of ensuring that the Plan meets all the GM objectives 

and was not just focused on Air Quality, the Plan needs to realise GM’s socio-

economic ambitions and not negatively impact on GM residents.  Therefore the 

Outline Business Case will include a great deal of emphasis on socio economic impact 

information.  Modelling work was underway on the differing solutions to provide 

confidence in the approach and the preferred way forward for GM.  A further report 

will be submitted to the GMCA in January which demonstrates consistency and 

alignment with current GM policies and strategies. 

  

RESOLVED/- 

 

1. That the report be noted and that a further report be submitted to the GMCA 

in January 2019. 

 

2. That the GMCA record it’s thanks to Cllr Alex Ganotis for the work undertaken 

to date to progress. 

 

GMCA 280/18   MAYORS CYCLING & WALKING CHALLENGE FUND 

 

Andy Burnham, GM Mayor, provided an update on the progress of the Mayor’s 

Cycling and Walking Challenge Fund and sought approval for the third tranche of 

schemes for programme entry for the Mayor’s Cycling and Walking Challenge Fund 

and associated budgets. 

 

He drew members attention to the three prioritized schemes recommended for 

programme entry: Trafford Road (Salford), Bridgewater Canal Towpath (Leigh) and 

Toucan Crossings (Wigan Central).   

 

Members attention was also drawn to recommendation 5 specifically, which sought 

approval to enable scheme development costs to be claimed from the Fund in 

advance of full approval once programme had been secured.  This course of action 

was to facilitate the pipeline of schemes coming forward, which also contributed to 

the Clean Air Plan by encouraging people out of their cars and creating the best 

cycling provision. 

 

Chris Boardman will be invited to a meeting of the GMCA early in the New Year to 

provide a more substantial update on progress to date. 

 

 

Page 136



7 

 

RESOLVED /- 

 

1. That the progress of the first 2 tranches previously granted Programme Entry 

for inclusion in the MCF, as set out in section2 of the report be noted. 

 

2. That the third tranche of cycling and walking schemes, as set out in section 3 of 

the report, be approved for Programme Entry for inclusion in the MCF. 

 

3. That it be noted that the schemes were to be further developed and would be 

subject to subsequent approval by the GMCA in early 2019, as appropriate, as 

set out in section 3 of the report. 

 

4. That the release of £0.6 million, of the previously agreed budget for scheme 

development and design in 2018/19, be approved and that authority be 

delegated to the GMCA Treasurer to make appropriate grants to District 

Councils to facilitate this, as set out in paragraph 3.9 of the report. 

  

5. That it be agreed that scheme promoters (including Local Authorities) be able 

to claim for Mayor’s Challenge Fund (MCF) scheme development costs in 

advance of full approval once programme entry has been secured, provided 

that the conditions set out in paragraph 4.2 of the report. 

 

GMCA 281/18 NORTHERN AND TRANSPENNINE EXPRESS RAIL 

PERFORMANCE 

 

Andy Burnham, GM Mayor introduced a report which provided a summary of rail 

performance for Network Rail, Arriva Rail North (trading as Northern) and 

TransPennine Express.  He added that there had been some early signs of progress.  

He also reported that the Manchester-Bolton-Preston line has finally been 

successfully completed, with trains operating on the line without any problems.  He 

had been assured that Northern would begin to operate new electric trains in early 

2019 . 

 

The December timetable was introduced on 9 December and had showed an 

improvement in reliability for TransPennine Services, however issues remain in 

relation to the reliability of Northern services. 

 

The dispute between Northern and RMT (The National Union of Rail, Maritime and 

Transport Workers) regarding Guards on trains remains unresolved.  Together with 

other Northern Leaders, the GM mayor would be appealing to get their negotiations 

back on track, and had recommended the use of national funding to ensure there is a 

second member of staff. 

 

It had been reported that Manchester Airport had made serious representations to 

Network Rail in relation to the cancellation of Sunday services but had yet to receive 

a response.   This was not good enough.  

 

Page 137



8 

 

He summarised, that if the acceptable standard of service had not been achieved by 

the introduction of the new timetable in May 2019, that further action would be 

undertaken. 

 

RESOLVED /- 

 

1. That the report be noted. 

 

2. That the re-opening of the Manchester, Bolton, Preston line be noted. 

 

3. That the implementation of the new timetable on 9 December be noted. 

 

4. That it be noted that the GM Mayor would continue, via Transport for the North, 

to resolve the dispute regarding guards on trains. 

 

5. That the introduction of the May 2019 timetable, as the deadline for seeing an 

improved rail service from operators be reaffirmed. 

 

GMCA 282/18  CREATIVE INDUSTRIES INVESTMENT READINESS PILOT  

 

Councillor Richard Leese, Portfolio Lead for Business and Economy presented a 

report to the GMCA which sought agreement to act as the accountable body for the 

Creative Industries Investment Readiness – Greater Manchester Pilot which would 

be led by the Growth Company on behalf of the GMCA. 

 

He reported that the scheme would bring £1.3m of investment to creative 

businesses across GM, excluding London, GM had the largest number of people 

employed in the creative industries than any other city region in the UK. 

 

The GM Mayor added that this was good news for GM and thanked the Government 

for providing GM with a great opportunity through this funding to strengthen our 

creative sector and support some of the ambitions of the Industrial Strategy. 

 

RESOLVED /- 

 

1. That the GMCA agree to support the Creative Industries Investment Readiness 

– GM Pilot. 

 

2. That it be agreed that the GMCA would act as the accountable body for the 

£1.3million Creative Industries Investment Readiness – GM Pilot. 

 

3. That it be agreed that the GMCA will receive S31 grant funding for the Creative 

Industries Investment Readiness – GM Pilot from DCMS and in turn will enter 

into a grant agreement with the Growth Company to deliver the Creative 

Industries Investment Readiness – GM Pilot, retaining a small amount to cover 

the cost of undertaking accountable body functions as required by DCMS. 

 

Page 138



9 

 

4. That the GMCA record it’s thanks to Sir Richard Leese for progressing the GM 

Pilot. 

 

GMCA 283/18 CITY CENTRE HOUSING DEVELOPMENT & USE OF PROPERTY 

SURPLUS FUNDS  

 

City Mayor Paul Dennett, Portfolio Lead for Housing, Homelessness and 

Infrastructure introduced a paper which set out the case for continuing to invest the 

GM Housing Investment Loans Fund in city centre developments and outlined a 

proposal for deploying surplus funds generated from the ongoing operation of the 

GMHIF and the Evergreen Funds. 

 

He reported that the Housing Investment Loan Fund was moving forward following a 

recent pause on city centre developments with GM but that it now held £2m of 

surpluses and a potential further £12m over the next three to four years.  The 

proposal was to use the money would be used for innovative work in support of the 

GM Housing Strategy to be launched early tin the New Year.  The Housing Strategy 

will deliver truly affordable housing, bring back empty homes, address housing 

standards, especially re temporary accommodation used to discharge duties to 

address homeless people, and tackling rogue landlords by buying out properties.  

 

The scale of the housing challenge in GM remained significant, with over 85,000 

people on the housing waiting list across GM, and many council homes lost under 

the right to buy scheme.  He further recognised that private rental properties are 

often not affordable, nor effectively managed.  The delivery of housing in the urban 

core will protect some of the spaces within greenbelt areas across GM. 

 

In response to a suggestion that city centre housing was often seen as a financial 

asset, when in fact they offer homes, and were occupied. 

 

Members agreed that the surplus funds offered a real opportunity to make 

significant progress on meeting the housing need in GM through our innovative 

approach created through the opportunity of devolution and was a result of effective 

fund management.  Furthermore, this work could support the ambitions of the Local 

Authority’s to deliver some of the more difficult schemes. 

  

The GM Mayor summarised that this work evidenced that the policy behind the 

Housing Investment Loans Fund was coming into fruition, creating a story of inclusive 

growth through the re-direction of surplus funds to create truly affordable housing.  

This work would also offer the tools to pursue additional aspirations including raising 

the standards of private rented housing. 

 

RESOLVED /- 

 

1. That the principle of investing further GMHILF into City Centre housing 

developments be agreed, in principle, with all proposals subject to normal due 

diligence and approval via the GMCA. 

Page 139



10 

 

 

2. That it be noted that the Evergreen Holding Fund will be requested to provide 

up to £3m of Evergreen surpluses to the GMCA to be spent over the next 3 

years as revenue funding to support the development of pipeline projects. 

 

3. That the use of £350k of GMHILF surpluses as revenue to develop affordable 

housing propositions as set out in this paper be approved. 

 

4. That the ring fencing  of the majority of GMHILF surpluses to support 

affordable housing priorities as identified in the GM Housing Strategy be 

approved. 

 

5. That The GMCA record it’s thanks to City Mayor, Paul Dennett on the work 

undertaken around the potential options for the use of the property surplus 

funds. 

 

GMCA 284/18 GREATER MANCHESTER HOUSING INVESTMENT LOANS FUND 

– 2018/19 HALF YEAR REPORT  

 

City Mayor Paul Dennett, Portfolio Lead for Housing, Homelessness and 

Infrastructure, introduced a report providing members with an update on the 

position of the GM Housing Investment Loans Fund which had made loans to date of 

£464m to 51 schemes and had created an additional £2M surplus fund. 

 

RESOLVED /- 

 

1. That the half-year position of the GM Housing Investment Loans Fund be 

noted. 

 

2. That there has been no requirement for the GM Local Authorities to account 

for any impairments as a result of the performance of the Fund be noted. 

 

GMCA 285/18 GREATER MANCHESTER INVESTMENT FRAMEWORK 

APPLICATIONS  

 

Councillor David Molyneux, Portfolio Lead for Investment introduced a report for 

consideration by the GMCA which sought their approval for an investment into 

Commercial and Northern LTD (the company) from re-cycled funds. 

 

RESOLVED /- 

 

1. That the funding application by Commercial and Northern Ltd (investment of 

£250k) be given conditional approval and progress to due diligence. 

 

2. That authority be delegated to the Combined Authority Treasurer and 

Combined Authority Monitoring Officer to review the due diligence 

information and, subject to their satisfactory review and agreement of the 

Page 140



11 

 

due diligence information and the overall detailed commercial terms of the 

transaction, to sign off any outstanding conditions, issue final approvals and 

complete any necessary related documentation in respect of the investment 

above. 

 

GMCA 286/18  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 

RESOLVED /- 

That, under section 100 (A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and 

public should be excluded from the meeting for the following items on business on 

the grounds that this involves the likely disclosure of exempt information, as set out 

in paragraph 3, Part 1, Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 and that the 

public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 

disclosing the information. 

  

GMCA 285/18  GREATER MANCHESTER INVESTMENT FRAMEWORK 

APPLICATIONS 

 

CLERK’S NOTE: This item was considered in support of the Part A report at minute 

GMCA 286/18 refers. 

  

RESOLVED /- 

 

That the report be noted. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 141



12 

 

 

 

 

Page 142



 

4 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE GREATER MANCHESTER COMBINED AUTHORITY 
(GMCA) HELD ON 25 JANUARY 2019 AT GMPF OFFICES, MANCHESTER 

 
PRESENT: 
 
Greater Manchester Mayor  Andy Burnham (In the Chair) 
Greater Manchester Deputy Mayor Baroness Bev Hughes 
Bolton      Councillor Linda Thomas 
Bury      Councillor Rishi Shori 
Manchester     Councillor Sue Murphy 
Oldham    Councillor Sean Fielding 
Rochdale     Councillor Allen Brett 
Salford     City Mayor Paul Dennett 
Stockport     Councillor Alex Ganotis 
Tameside     Councillor Brenda Warrington 
Trafford     Councillor Andrew Western 
Wigan      Councillor Keith Cunliffe 
 
OTHER MEMBERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 
TfGMC     Councillor Mark Aldred 
Bury     Councillor Andrea Simpson 
Tameside    Councillor Leanne Feeley 
Rochdale    Councillor Janet Emsley 
Rochdale    Councillor Sara Rowbottom 
 
OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE: 
 
GMCA –Deputy Chief Executive Andrew Lightfoot 
GMCA – Monitoring Officer  Liz Treacy 
GMCA – Treasurer   Richard Paver 
Office of the GM Mayor  Kevin Lee 
 
Bolton     Tony Oakman 
Bury      Geoff Little 
Oldham    Carolyn Wilkins 
Manchester    Joanne Roney 
Rochdale     Steve Rumbelow 
Salford     Jim Taylor 
Stockport     Pam Smith 
Tameside     Steven Pleasant 
Wigan      Alison McKenzie-Folan 
TfGM     Simon Warburton 
GMCA     Julie Connor 

Page 143



2 

 

GMCA      Nicola Ward 
 
GMCA 01/19  APOLOGIES 
 
Apologies were noted and received on behalf of: 
 
Councillor Sharon Briggs (Bury), Councillor Richard Leese (Manchester), Councillor 
Janet Emsley (Rochdale) and Councillor David Molyneux (Wigan). 
 
Apologies for absence were also received from Eamonn Boylan (GMCA) and Donna 
Hall (Wigan). 
 
GMCA 02/19  CHAIR’S ANNOUNCEMENTS AND URGENT BUSINESS 
 
RESOLVED /- 

 
1. That the GMCA acknowledge the immense contribution made by Councillor 

Kieran Quinn to Tameside and Greater Manchester as a whole. 
 
2. That the GMCA note the imminent publication of rough sleeping levels, which 

are anticipated to have reduced thanks to the measures which have been put 
in place across GM including the ‘A bed every night’ provision and that thanks 
be recorded to each Local Authority and partner organisation for their efforts 
within this programme. 

 
3. That the GMCA note the planned visit of Dame Louise Casey to offer 

independent advice on homelessness and rough sleeping, and that she will be 
reporting to the Reform Board in March 2019. 

 
GMCA 03/19  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest made in relation to any item on the agenda. 
 
GMCA 04/19 MINUTES OF THE GMCA MEETING HELD ON 14 DECEMBER 

2018 AND JOINT GMCA & AGMA EXECUTIVE BOARD HELD ON 
11 JANUARY 2019 

 
RESOLVED /- 

 
That the minutes of the GMCA meeting held on 14 December 2018 and Joint GMCA 
and AGMA Executive Board held on 11 January 2019 be approved. 
 
GMCA 05/19 MINUTES OF THE GMCA RESOURCES COMMITTEE HELD ON          

14 DECEMBER 2018 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 

Page 144



3 

 

That the minutes of the GMCA Resources Committee held on 14 December 2018 be 
noted. 

 
GMCA 06/19 MINUTES OF THE GMCA OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEES – DECMEBER 2018 AND JANUARY 2019 
 

RESOLVED /- 
 

1. That the minutes of the Economy, Business Growth and Skills Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee held on 7 December 2018 and 11 January 2019 be noted.  

 
2. That the minutes of the Corporate Issues and Reform Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee held on 11 December 2018 be noted. 
 
3. That the minutes of the Housing, Planning & Environment Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee held on 10 January 2019 be noted. 
 
GMCA 07/19 MINUTES OF THE TRANSPORT FOR GREATER MANCHESTER 

(TfGM) COMMITTEE HELD 10 JANUARY 2019 
 
RESOLVED /- 
 
That the minutes of the TfGM Committee held on 10 January 2019 be noted. 
 
GMCA 08/19 MINUTES OF THE GM LOCAL ENTERPRISE PARTNERSHIP (GM 

LEP) HELD 14 JANUARY 2019 
 
RESOLVED /- 
 
That the minutes of the GM LEP held on 14 January 2019 be noted. 
  
GMCA 09/19   GM YOUTH COMBINED AUTHORITY UPDATE 
 
Councillor Rishi Shori, Portfolio Lead for Young People introduced a report, which 
provided an update on activities of the Youth Combined Authority and also sought 
funding to continue its work for the next two years. 
 
The report was supplemented by a presentation by Emily Sykes and Jacob Hirst 
members of the Tameside Youth Council, which detailed the activities they had 
undertaken during the past 12 months including their involvement in the 
development of the ‘Work Experience Charter’ and the ‘Curriculum for Life’. 

  
RESOLVED /- 
 
1. That the update on recent activities of the GM Youth Combined Authority be 

noted. 
 

Page 145



4 

 

2. That the GMCA approve funding of £100,000 from retained business rates to 
fund two further years of the GM Youth Combined Authority. 

 
3. That the GMCA record it’s thanks to the GM Youth Combined Authority for all 

their work, commitment and achievements to date. 
 
4. That the GMCA and the GM Youth Combined Authority have a future 

conversation about shared priorities and the Greater Manchester Strategy. 
 
5.  That each member of the GMCA be encouraged to meet with representatives 

from the GM Youth Combined Authority to specifically discuss areas within 
their portfolio. 

 
6. That the GM Youth Combined Authority be invited to engage with work to 

develop the Employment Charter and TfGM Opportunity Pass. 
 
GMCA 10/19  2019 BUDGET 
 
Andy Burnham, the GM Mayor, presented a report that set out proposals for the 
Mayoral General Budget and Precept for 2019-20 for consideration by Members of 
the GMCA.  
 
The proposals being made were unique amongst Mayoral Combined Authorities and 
continued to include a significant element for the Fire Service, which had previously 
fallen to the GM Fire and Rescue (GMFR) Authority to determine. In a parallel 
process, there would also be a proposal relating to the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (PCC) precept to the Police and Crime Panel, which was due to meet 
on 31 January 2019.  
 
The Mayor added that the proposed budget reflected the priorities of the people in 
GM, for increased levels of policing and an improved bus network. 
 
RESOLVED/- 

 
1. That the GMCA note the Mayor’s proposal to set an overall Mayoral General 

Precept of £76.95 (Band D) comprising of £59.95 for functions previously 
covered by the Fire and Rescue Authority precept (no change) and £17 (an 
additional £9 for 2019/20 on the current £8) for other Mayoral General 
functions, specifically bus reform. 

 
2. That the GMCA note the proposal for the Mayoral General Precept for 2019/20 

is the second year of a 2-3 year strategy for setting the Mayoral precept 
baseline which will be adjusted in future years as further Mayoral functions are 
covered by the funding raised and that Government has again provided 
flexibility on the level of the Mayoral (General) precept. 

 

Page 146



5 

 

3. That the GMCA agree to allow £5.75 million of Earnback grant to be used to 
support GMCA costs relating to bus-related activity, including bus reform. 

 
4. That the GMCA note the following: 

i. the overall budget proposed for the Fire and Rescue Service, recognising 
that detailed proposals in relation to Programme for Change will be 
considered in the near future; 

ii. the use of the reserves to support the revenue and capital budgets, and 
the assessment by the Treasurer that the reserves as at March 2020 are 
adequate; 

iii. the proposed Fire Service capital programme and proposals for funding; 
iv. the medium term financial position for all functions covered by the 

Mayoral precept. 
 

5. That the GMCA agree the Mayor’s proposals to make grants totaling £8.3m to 
District Councils to support their increased levy costs in relation to Bus Reform 
and the 16-18 Opportunity Pass: 

    

District 2019/20 
  £000 
Bolton  845 
Bury 562 
Manchester  1,618 
Oldham  693 
Rochdale  648 
Salford  745 
Stockport  863 
Tameside 665 
Trafford 698 
Wigan  963 

Total 8,300 

 
6. That the GMCA note the detailed budget proposals for other Mayoral 

functions. 
 
7. That members of the GMCA are invited to submit any written comments to the 

Mayor in line with the legal process and timetable described in this report. 
 
8. That the GMCA note that at its meeting on 15 February there will be a revised 

budget submitted, consistent with the precept proposals, to reflect final tax 
base and collection fund calculations and the final Revenue Support Grant 
settlement. 

 
9. That the GMCA write to Government expressing their concerns that reduced 

central funding has resulted in the need to increase the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (PCC) element of the Mayoral precept. 

 

Page 147



6 

 

10. That the GMCA also write to Lord Porter (Local Government Association) 
regarding the imbalance in the proposed fairer funding calculations and the 
impact this will have on Local Authorities if levels of deprivation are not 
considered. 

 
GMCA 11/19   GREAT PLACE PROGRAMME 
 
Councillor Linda Thomas, Portfolio Lead for Culture, presented a report that 
informed Members of the plans to deliver the Great Place cultural programme, 
following the GMCA’s successful funding bid. 
 
The Cultural Strategy consultation had been extended but was now nearing 
completion and its implementation would be overseen by the Cultural Steering 
Group. 
 
RESOLVED /- 

 
1. That the GMCA acknowledge the receipt of Great Place funding 
 
2. That the GMCA note the project approach outlined in section 2 of the report 

including GMCA co-commissioning activity with project partners and granting 
funding to Rochdale Boroughwide Cultural Trust, Link4Life and the University 
of Manchester to deliver project activity on behalf of GMCA 

 
3. That the GMCA note that the programme will be overseen by  the GM Cultural 

and Heritage Steering Group chaired by the GM Cultural Portfolio Leader and 
GM Cultural Lead Chief Executive who will report back to the CA 

 
4. That the GMCA approve the budget as set out in paragraph 1.8, including 

funding of £190k to the University of Manchester Museum and £300k to 
Rochdale Boroughwide Cultural Trust, Link4Life 

 
5. That the GMCA approve delegation to the Treasurer and Monitoring officer to 

enter into funding agreements / contracts as appropriate. 
 

GMCA 12/19 FUNDING FOR RENOVATION AND RECONSTRUCTION OF 
LESBIAN, GAY, BISEXUAL, TRANSGENDER/TRANSSEXUAL 
PLUS (LGBT+) CENTRE 

 
Councillor Brenda Warrington, Portfolio Lead for Equalities introduced a report that 
sought approval of funding to support the redevelopment of the GM LGBT+ Centre.  
The Centre was established in 1988 and had developed a world wide reputation for 
being the first publically funded centre in the UK which 30 years later, continued to 
provide a high level of support for people across the region.  However, it was now in 
a state of dis-repair and in need of a re-build to ensure the facility remained fit for 
purpose. 

Page 148



7 

 

 
RESOLVED /- 

 
1. That the GMCA agree to provide £450,000 funding from retained business 

rates towards the renovation and reconstruction of the Proud Trust’s LGBT 
Centre. 

 
2. That the GMCA delegate authority to the GMCA Monitoring Officer to 

complete all necessary legal agreements. 
 
GMCA 13/19 CREATING A ‘SMART RESIDENT’ DATA EXCHANGE 

PLATFORM TO SUPPORT REFORM  
 
Councillor Andrew Western, Portfolio Lead for the Digital City-Region, introduced a 
report, which requested support for a unique and fundamentally important 
increased digital capability that would provide support to many aspects of reform 
and service improvement across the city-region. 
 
The initial focus of the programme would be on the Health Visiting Service which 
currently operated a paper-based process, which through digitalisation had 
predicted savings of £27m over the next five years. 
 
RESOLVED /- 

 
1. That the GMCA endorse proposals to support reform and service improvement 

through a new, pan Greater Manchester (GM) Smart Resident data exchange 
platform which will ultimately enable delivery of several reform priorities and 
be a foundation upon which digital public services in GM can be built. 

 
2. That the GMCA support its initial application in the priority area of School 

Readiness to generate a net gain in productivity in Health Visiting 
(commissioned via Public Services) of more than £27M over five years. 
Recognising that further benefits will be realised through better understanding 
of residents needs and commissioning improvements in this area.  

 
3. That the GMCA agree funding of £6.8M for the initial two year build phase, 

subject to tender responses, by approving the release of £2M from the Reform 
Investment Fund and a further £4.8M from Retained Business Rates including a 
contingency of £1.5M. This is being matched by Health & Social Care funding of 
£8.5M. 

 
4. That  the GMCA agree, in principle, to revenue costs of approximately £700k a 

year in years’ three to five to fund ongoing delivery including hosting, security 
and maintenance. This to be secured from a future GM wide fund and be 
reviewed at an appropriate time. 

 

Page 149



8 

 

5. That the GMCA record its thanks to the Digital Team at the GMCA for all their 
work on this agenda. 

 
MCA 14/19 CO-PRODUCTION IN GM AND FUNDING OF CO-PRODUCTION 

PROJECT FROM REFORM INVESTMENT FUND  
 
Andy Burnham GM Mayor, presented a report, which highlighted the range of 
projects focussed on co-production with citizens that were currently operating in 
GM, offering significant learning around what constituted effective co-production.  
 
The report proposed that building on a number of forthcoming events there was an 
opportunity to develop a ‘community practice’ that would enable learning from 
different projects to be shared (including examples from elsewhere) and this would 
help move to a common view and set of principles around what co-production 
looked like in GM. A pro-active approach to embedding ‘good’ co-production in 
Districts would further enable delivery on commitments within the GM Strategy to 
develop ‘communities in control’. The report recognised that GM organisations had a 
role to play as both a facilitator and participants of co-production activity in the city-
region. 
 
RESOLVED /- 
 
1. That the GMCA note the different projects that are already operating in GM 

focussing on co-production. 
 
2. That the GMCA agree the request from the Reform Investment Fund Panel for 

the GMCA to match fund the second phase of the ‘Elephants’ co-production 
project in partnership with Lankelly Chase Foundation for £150k investment 
from the Reform Investment Fund. 

 
3. That the GMCA support the participation in the range of co-production events 

and forthcoming activities that are planned over the next few months in GM as 
a means to increase knowledge and understanding and help GM move towards 
a ‘community of practice’ around co-production. 

 

GMCA 15/19 GM BREXIT MONITOR AND PREPAREDNESS FOR EU EXIT  
 
Andy Burnham, GM Mayor introduced a report that provided the latest update of 
the GM Brexit Monitor, a recap of the economic analysis undertaken on the possible 
impacts of Brexit on GM and an overview of the organisational preparedness work 
underway by GM agencies. 
 
He reported a continuing deteriorating picture for Greater Manchester which still 
had a number of uncertainties, especially in relation to the Shared Prosperity Fund. 
 
RESOLVED /- 

 

Page 150



9 

 

That the GMCA note the updated Brexit monitor and work underway to prepare 
Greater Manchester for EU exit. 
 
GMCA 16/19 NORTHERN RAIL AND TRANSPENNINE EXPRESS RAIL 

PERFORMANCE  
 
Andy Burnham, the GM Mayor presented a report that provided a summary of rail 
performance for Network Rail, Arriva Rail North (trading as Northern) and 
TransPennine Express.  It highlighted a slight improvement in performance since 
December 2018, but also reported that union discussions impacting weekend 
services remained ongoing. 
 
RESOLVED /- 

 
That the report be noted and that the GMCA requests that the Mayor shares 
Members’ views in relation to continued overcrowding on short-formed trains at the 
next meeting of Transport for the North. 
 
GMCA 17/19  GM NATURAL CAPITAL INVESTMENT PLAN 
 
Councillor Alex Ganotis, Portfolio Lead for Green City-Region introduced a report 
that sought feedback on work undertaken by Eftec Consultants, funded through the 
Natural Course project, to define what a GM Natural Capital Investment Plan could 
contain and suggested actions to promote accelerated investment in opportunities 
that protected and enhanced GM’s natural capital. 
 
Subject to agreement, it was proposed to launch the report at the Natural Capital 
Group Annual General Meeting (AGM) on 30 January 2019, with key 
recommendations to be considered for inclusion into the 5 Year Environment Plan, 
prior to the next Green Summit. 
 
RESOLVED /- 

That the GMCA note the consultant’s report on the development of a Greater 
Manchester Natural Capital Investment Plan. 
 
GMCA 18/19 GM CO-OPERATIVE COMISSION 
 
Councillor Allen Brett, Portfolio Lead for Community, Co-operatives and Inclusion, 
presented a report that detailed arrangements and Terms of Reference for the Co-
operative Commission for approval. 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
That the GMCA approve the Terms of Reference for the GM Co-operative 
Commission. 
 
 

Page 151



10 

 

GMCA 19/19  GM SKILLS CAPITAL 2017 – 2020 PROGRAMME UPDATE 
 
Councillor Sean Fielding, Portfolio Lead for Education, Skills, Work and 
Apprenticeships presented a report that provided an update on the latest position 
on the round 2 applications for Skills Capital funding from Bolton College, Learning, 
Training, Employment (LTE) Group, Wigan and Leigh College, Oldham College and the 
round 1 application from Bury College. 
  
RESOLVED /- 

 
That the GMCA note the update on the entire Round 2 Skills Capital Programme. 
 
 
GMCA 20/19 GM SKILLS CAPITAL 2017-2020: LTE 

(MANCHESTER COLLEGE) APPROVALS IN 
PRINCIPLE  

 
Councillor Sean Fielding, Portfolio Lead for Education, Skills, Work and 
Apprenticeships introduced a report, which provided an update on the outcome of 
the appraisal of the LTE Group full application for Skills Capital funding. 
 
RESOLVED /-   

 
1. That the GMCA agree the funding application for the total project cost of 

£139,2000 with a skills capital funding request of £25,000 by LTE Group be 
given conditional approval and progress to due diligence. 

 
2. That the GMCA agree to delegate authority to the GMCA Treasurer and GMCA 

Monitoring Officer to review the due diligence information and, subject to 
their satisfactory review and agreement, to sign off any outstanding 
conditions, issue final approvals and complete any necessary related 
documentation in respect of the grant above. 

 

GMCA 21/19 GM SKILLS CAPITAL 2017-2020: WIGAN AND LEIGH COLLEGE 
 
Councillor Sean Fielding, Portfolio Lead for Education, Skills, Work and 
Apprenticeships presented a report that provided an update on the application for 
Skills Capital funding from Wigan and Leigh College. 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
1. That the GMCA agree that the funding application for a total project cost is 

£1,810,000 with a skills capital funding request of £603,000 by Wigan and 
Leigh College be given conditional approval and progress to due diligence. 

 

Page 152



11 

 

2. That the GMCA agree to delegate authority to the GMCA Treasurer and GMCA 
Monitoring Officer to review the due diligence information and, subject to 
their satisfactory review and agreement, to sign off any outstanding 
conditions, issue final approvals and complete any necessary related 
documentation in respect of the grant above. 

 
GMCA 22/19 AWARD OF CONTRACT FOR GM-WIDE HOUSING FIRST 

PROGRAMME 
 
This had been withdrawn. 
 
GMCA 23/19 GM HOUSING INVESTMENT LOANS FUND – INVESTMENT 

APPROVAL REFCOMMENDATION 
 
This had been withdrawn. 
 
GMCA 24/19 GM INVESTMENT FRAMEWORK APPLICATIONS 
 
A report was introduced by Councillor David Molyneux, Portfolio Lead for 
Investment, which sought GMCA approval for investment into InTech Business 
Solutions Limited, which would be made from recycled funds.  
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
1. That the GMCA agree that the funding application for InTec Business Solutions 

Limited (loan of £1,000,000 and equity investment of £350,000) be given 
conditional approval and progress to due diligence. 

 
2. That the GMCA agree to delegate authority to the GMCA Treasurer and GMCA 

Monitoring Officer to review the due diligence information and, subject to 
their satisfactory review and agreement, to sign off any outstanding 
conditions, issue final approvals and complete any necessary related 
documentation in respect of the grant above. 

 
GMCA 25/19 EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
That, under section 100 (A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and 
public should be excluded from the meeting for the following items on business on 
the grounds that this involved the likely disclosure of exempt information, as set out 
in the relevant paragraphs of Part 1, Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 
and that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighed the public 
interest in disclosing the information. 
 
GMCA 26/19 GM SKILLS CAPITAL 2017-2020: LTE (MANCHESTER COLLEGE) 

APPROVALS IN PRINCIPLE 
 
RESOLVED/- 

Page 153



12 

 

 
That the report be noted. 
 
GMCA 27/19 GM SKILLS CAPITAL 2017-2020: WIGAN AND LEIGH COLLEGE 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
GMCA 28/19 GM HOUSING INVESTMENT LOANS FUND – INVESTMENT 

APPROVAL RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
This had been withdrawn. 
 
GMCA 29/19 GM INVESTMENT FRAMEWORK APPLICATIONS 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
GMCA 30/19 CREATING A ‘SMART RESIDENT’ DATA EXCHANGE 

PLATFORM TO SUPPORT REFORM 
 
RESOLVED/- 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 154


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Greater Manchester Clean Air Plan - Outline Business Case
	5 Fostering Allowances
	6 Salford's Housing Allocations Policy Review 2019
	Salford's Allocations Policy 2019

	8 Strategic investment opportunity - Manchester Airport
	PART 2 Strategic investment opportunity – Manchester Airport cab 26-3-19

	10 Minutes of the Greater Manchester Combined Authority - for information only
	Minutes GMCA 14 December 2018
	Minutes GMCA 25 January 2019


